
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Thursday, October 13, 2016 – 3:00 p.m. 
Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom – M2-1 

 
Table of Contents 

 
 
 
(1) Agenda         Pages 2-3 
 
(2) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
  Meeting of September 1, 2016     Pages 4-10 
 
(3) Gifts and Grants       Pages 11-13 
 
(4) Minutes of the September 1, 2016 Student Outcomes Committee Pages 14-80 
 
(5) Minutes of the September 21, 2016 Business Affairs Committee  Pages 81-91 
 
(6) Minutes of the September 29, 2016 Audit Committee   Pages 92-171 
 
 
 

########## 

1



MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
AGENDA 

Thursday, October 13, 2016 – 3:00 p.m. 
Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom –M2-1

(1) Executive Session 

(2) Meeting Called to Order 

(3) Public Comment  

(4) Report of the Student Outcomes Committee 

(5) Report of the Business Affairs Committee 
 
(6) Report of the Audit Committee 

(7) Consent Agenda  

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of September 1, 2016

(b) Gifts and Grants 
(c) Business Administration A.A. Degree/Business A.A. Degree 
(d) Photographic Imaging Curriculum Follow-Up Report 
(e) Dissolution of Policy No. 105: Robert S. King Scholarship for High School Students 
(f) Bid Results for Biology Lab Renovations 
(g) Biology Lab Fume Hoods 
(h) Contract with Olaya Studio 
(i) 2015-2016 Financial Statements 

(8) Report of the Chair 

(9) Foundation Report 

(10) Report of the President 

(11) New Business 

(12) Next Meeting:   Thursday, November 3, 2016 – 3:00 p.m. 
      Northeast Regional Center 
    12901Townsend Road, Room 124 

Philadelphia, PA 19154 

2



Future Committee Meetings: 

Student Outcomes:    Thursday, October 13, 2016
      Northeast Regional Center 
      12901 Townsend Road, Room 124     

        
Business Affairs:    Wednesday, October 19, 2016
      10:00 a.m. – Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

Upcoming Events 

    
 PA Commission for Community Colleges  Tuesday, November 15, 2016 

Southeast Regional Trustees Meeting 5:30 p.m. – 8:30 p.m. 
         Delaware County Community College 
       901 Media Line Rd, Media, PA 19063 
        
 Board of Trustees Retreat   Friday, November 18, 2016 
       8:30 a.m. – 3:00 p.m.      
       Center for Business and Industry Building 
       18th and Callowhill Streets – Room C2-5
   
 Thanksgiving Holiday – College Closed November 24-25, 2016

                                  ################## 

3



 
COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 

Proceedings of the Meeting of the Board of Trustees 
Thursday, September 1, 2016 – 3:00 P.M. 

 
 
Present: Mr. White, presiding; Mr. Armbrister, Mr. Bergheiser, Ms. Biemiller, Mr. Edwards, Ms. 

Hernández-Velez, Mr. Herzog, Ms. Horstmann, Mr. Lassiter, Ms. McPherson, Dr. Rényi, 
Representative Roebuck, Ms. Tsai, Dr. Generals, Ms. Brown-Sow, Ms. DiGregorio, Dr. Gay, 
Mr. Eapen, Dr. Hirsch, Mr. Murphy, Ms. de Fries, Ms. Zellers, and, by invitation, Dr. Hite 

 
(1) Meeting Called to Order 
 
 Mr. White called the meeting to order.  He asked members of the Board and senior staff to 
introduce themselves to Dr. William Hite, Superintendent of the School District of Philadelphia, who had 
been invited to present before the Board of Trustees. 
 
(2) Presentation by Dr. William Hite, Superintendent 
 School District of Philadelphia 
 
 At the request of Mr. White, Dr. Generals stated that in response to discussions held at the 
January 2016 Board Retreat regarding partnerships, he had invited Dr. Hite to make a presentation to the 
Board about the need to continue to integrate and align the College’s efforts with the School District of 
Philadelphia.  Dr. Generals noted that he and Dr. Hite meet on a regular basis to strengthen partnerships 
between the College and the School District.   
 

Dr. Generals stated that in working with Dr.Hite, the College has been able to accomplish the 
following: 

 
Shared data;  
CCP counselor meet with School District counselors; 
CCP English faculty meet with English faculty from the School District; 
An agreement with Benjamin Franklin High School for the Advanced Manufacturing 
training; and 
Conversations with the Kensington Health and Science Academy on health careers. 

 
At the request of Dr. Generals, Dr. Hite stated that he was pleased to have been invited to share 

the School District of Philadelphia efforts to provide high quality education for the children of Philadelphia.  
Dr. Hite reviewed the recent history of the School District, operations, accomplishments, and outcomes 
during the past several years as well as the five-year action plan and anchor goals for the School District.   
Dr. Hite also shared a new welcome back to school video with the Board. 

 
Dr. Generals and members of the Board thanked Dr. Hite for an excellent presentation. 
 

(3) Consent Agenda 
 
 Mr. White requested Board approval of the following Consent Agenda: 
 

4



 (a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
   Meeting of June 30, 2016 
 (b) Gifts and Grants 
 (c) Change Orders for Quinn Construction, Inc. 
 (d) Award Abatement Contract 
 
 Mr. Lassiter moved, with Ms. Hernández Vélez seconding, that the Board approve the Consent 
Agenda.  The motion carried unanimously.   
 
(4) Report of the Nominating Committee for Board Officers 
 
 Mr. Lassiter reported that the Nominating Committee for Board Officers had met and was 
recommending the following slate of Board Officers for 2016-17: 
 
   Jeremiah White   Chair 
   Suzanne Biemiller  Vice-Chair 
   James Roebuck   Vice-Chair 
 
 Mr. Lassiter stated that due to Governor Wolf’s appointment of Ms. Tsai to the Court of Common 
Pleas, she was not permitted to hold a Board officer position, but could continue to serve as a member of 
the Board. 
 
 After discussion, Mr. Lassiter moved, with Mr. Bergheiser seconding, that the above slate of Board 
Officers be approved.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 Mr. White asked members of the Board who would be interested in serving as Secretary of the 
Board.  Ms. Horstmann volunteered to serve. 
 
 Mr. Edwards moved, with Mr. Lassiter seconding, that the Board approve Ms. Horstmann as 
Secretary of the Board. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 Mr. Bergheiser noted that Mr. White had done an excellent job as Chair of the Board during the 
past year. 
 
(5) Public Comment 
 
 There were no requests for Public Comment. 
 
(6) Report of the Chair 
 
 On behalf of the Board of Trustees, Mr. White congratulated Ms. Tsai on her appointment by 
Governor Wolf to the Court of Common Pleas.   
 
 Mr. White reminded members of the Board whose terms expired on June 30, 2016 that they will 
continue to serve on the Board until reappointments are made. 
 
 Mr. White reminded members of the Board of the November 18, 2016 Board Retreat.  He stated 
that the Retreat will be devoted to a review and discussion of a draft of the Strategic Plan.   

5



(7) Foundation Report 
 
 Mr. Murphy called attention to the first page of the gifts and grants report.  He stated that 
normally the report includes information for the current year only.  In this report, there are two columns 
on the first page that refer to 2016.  Mr. Murphy stated that the reason for that is that the Foundation 
received $500,000 this year for activities performed as part of a grant that began last year.  Specifically, 
this is the U.S. Department of Labor funds that came to the College through a subcontract with 
Philadelphia Works to develop micro-credentials. 
 
 Mr. Murphy stated that just over $3.5 million in government funds were acquired in the first two 
months of the year.  He stated that this is not an indication of momentum for the rest of the year.  The 
cycle of government funding, Federal funding in particular, means that its front loaded at the beginning 
of the fiscal year.  Mr. Murphy stated that over $5 million in government funds are expected this year.   
 
 Mr. Murphy reported that the Foundation golf event was very successful, grossing over $100,000.  
He stated that Mr. Rob Wonderling, President and Chief Executive Officer, Greater Philadelphia Chamber 
of Commerce, chaired the event.   
 
 Mr. Murphy reported that the Foundation will hold an Impact Celebration on December 6, 2016.  
The purpose of the event will be to celebrate the achievements of the College.  Mr. Murphy urged 
members of the Board to attend the event. 
 
(8) Report of the President 
 
 Dr. Generals called attention to his memorandum in the Board folder which outlined the list of 
activities during the months of July and August, and summarized the highlights. 
 
 Dr. Generals congratulated Ms. Tsai on her appointment by Governor Wolf to the Court of 
Common Pleas. 
 
(8a) Professional Development Week 
 
 Dr. Generals reported that the opening session for Fall Professional Development Week took 
place on August 29.  The theme for this year was Guided Pathways.  Dr. Generals stated that Mr. Rob 
Johnstone, Founder and President, National Center for Inquiry and Improvement, was the keynote 
speaker.  Dr. Generals stated that Mr. White had delivered greetings on behalf of the Board of Trustees. 
 
(8b) Nursing Program Recognition 
 
 Dr. Generals reported that the College has earned designation as a Center of Excellence in Nursing 
Education from the National League for Nursing for “enhancing learning and professional development.”  
This is the third time that the College has received the designation.  The College was the first community 
college to be designated a Center for Excellence in Nursing Education. 
 
(8c) Strategic Planning 
 
 Dr. Generals updated the Board on the strategic planning process.  He stated that a great deal of 
work has been done.  Both internal and external focus groups have been held.  Data has been collected 

6



and was presented to the College community during Professional Development Week.  Dr. Generals noted 
that the College community was very receptive to the data. 
 

Dr. Generals stated that each division will be working on their respective plans.   He indicated that 
a draft of the Strategic Plan will be reviewed and discussed at the November 18, 2016 Board Retreat.   
 
(9) New Business 
 
 Mr. White stated that a tremendous amount of work has been done this past year.  He thanked 
members of the Board for their work and commitment to the College and our students. 
 
(10) Next Meeting 
 
 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, October 13, 2016 at 3:00 
p.m. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom. 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 4:55 p.m.  
 
 At this point in the meeting, the Board reconvened in Executive Session. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 
Meeting of the Board of Trustees 

Thursday, September 1, 2016 – 3:00 P.M. 
MINUTES OF DECISIONS AND RESOLUTIONS 

 
 
Present: Mr. White, presiding; Mr. Armbrister, Mr. Bergheiser, Ms. Biemiller, Mr. Edwards, Ms. 

Hernández-Velez, Mr. Herzog, Ms. Horstmann, Mr. Lassiter, Ms. McPherson, Dr. Rényi, 
Representative Roebuck, Ms. Tsai, Dr. Generals, Ms. Brown-Sow, Ms. DiGregorio, Dr. Gay, 
Mr. Eapen, Dr. Hirsch, Mr. Murphy, Ms. de Fries, Ms. Zellers, and, by invitation, Dr. Hite 

 
(1) Meeting Called to Order 
 
 Mr. White called the meeting to order.   
 
(2) Presentation by Dr. William Hite, Superintendent 
 School District of Philadelphia 
 
 Dr. Hite made a presentation to the Board about the need to continue to integrate and align the 
College’s efforts with the School District of Philadelphia.   
 
(3) Consent Agenda 
 
 The Board approved the following Consent Agenda: 
 
 (a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
   Meeting of June 30, 2016 
 (b) Gifts and Grants 
 (c) Change Orders for Quinn Construction, Inc. 
 (d) Award Abatement Contract  
 
(4) Report of the Nominating Committee for Board Officers 
 
 The Board approved following slate of Board Officers for 2016-17: 
 
   Jeremiah White   Chair 
   Suzanne Biemiller  Vice-Chair 
   James Roebuck   Vice-Chair 
 

Due to Governor Wolf’s appointment of Ms. Tsai to the Court of Common Pleas, she was not 
permitted to hold a Board officer position, but could continue to serve as a member of the Board. 
 

The Board approved Ms. Horstmann as Secretary of the Board. 
 
(5) Public Comment 
 
 There were no requests for Public Comment. 
 

8



(6) Report of the Chair 
 
 The Board congratulated Ms. Tsai on her appointment by Governor Wolf to the Court of Common 
Pleas.   
 

Members of the Board whose terms expired on June 30, 2016 were reminded that they will 
continue to serve on the Board until reappointments are made. 
 
 Members of the Board were reminded of the November 18, 2016 Board Retreat.   
 
(7) Foundation Report 
 
 Mr. Murphy summarized a list of gifts and grants received by the Foundation.  It was noted that 
over $3.5 million in government funds were acquired in the first two months of the year, and that over $5 
million in government funds are expected this year.   
 
 The Foundation golf event was very successful, grossing over $100,000.  
 
 The Foundation will hold an Impact Celebration on December 6, 2016.  The purpose of the event 
will be to celebrate the achievements of the College. 
 
(8) Report of the President 
 
 Dr. Generals called attention to his memorandum in the Board folder which outlined the list of 
activities during the months of July and August, and summarized the highlights. 
 
(8a) Professional Development Week 
 
 The opening session for Fall Professional Development Week took place on August 29.  The theme 
for this year was Guided Pathways.  Mr. Rob Johnstone, Founder and President, National Center for 
Inquiry and Improvement, was the keynote speaker. 
 
(8b) Nursing Program Recognition 
 
 The College has earned designation as a Center of Excellence in Nursing Education from the 
National League for Nursing for “enhancing learning and professional development.”  This is the third time 
that the College has received the designation.   
 
(8c) Strategic Planning 
 
 Dr. Generals provided the Board with an update on the strategic planning process.  
 
(9) New Business 
 
 Mr. White stated that a tremendous amount of work has been done this past year.  He thanked 
members of the Board for their work and commitment to the College and our students. 
 
 

9



(10) Next Meeting 
 
 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, October 13, 2016 at 3:00 
p.m. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom. 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 4:55 p.m.  
 
 At this point in the meeting, the Board reconvened in Executive Session. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10



11



12



13



STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MINUTES 

Thursday, September 1, 2016 
1:30pm 

Conference Room M2-34

Presiding:  Dr. Rényi 

Present:  Mr. Armbrister, Ms. de Fries, Mr. Edwards, Dr. Gay, Dr. Generals, Ms. 
Hernández Vélez, Dr. Hirsch, Ms. Horstmann, Mr. Lassiter, Ms. McPherson, Dr. Roberts, Rep. 
Roebuck, Jr. 

Guests: Dr. Carter, Ms. Dunston, Mr. Saxton, Mr. Spielberg, Ms. Sweet 

(1) Executive Session 

Personnel issues were discussed. 

(2) Public Session 

(a) Approval of the Minutes of May 5, 2016 

     The minutes were accepted unanimously. 

(b) Academic Program Audit: Business Administration A.A. Degree/Business A.A. 
Degree 

Ms. Dunston, Director of Academic Assessment and Evaluation, provided an 
overview of the recommendations associated with the audit for two programs: 
Business Administration A.A. Degree/Business A.A. Degree. Recommendations 
included the following: to evaluate the integration of the Marketing and Management 
department with the Business Administration department; to evaluate the distinction 
between the two programs; to complete 335 evaluations; to look more closely at 
assessments of student learning; to review articulation agreements; and to improve 
student success outcomes. 

Mr. Armbrister requested an explanation for why there are two closely related 
programs. Dr. Gay clarified that each program has a different specialized 
accreditation: Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (AACSB) for 
the Business Administration program and Accreditation Council for Business Schools 
and Programs (ACBSP) for the Business program. Dr. Carter, Dean of the Business 
and Technology division, discussed how having the one degree will be more clear to 
students and there will be two possible math sequences (the two math sequences 
address AACSB and ACBSP math requirements). Ms. McPherson asked about the 

14



merging of Marketing and Management into the Business Administration department. 
Dr. Carter explained that the merging of the two departments will allow for better 
management of the program, especially with faculty from both fields under one 
department head. The Business and Technology division had an all-day retreat in 
April and another meeting the day previous to the Student Outcomes Committee 
meeting to discuss future directions for the division.  

Action: The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the Board of 
Trustees accept the audit and that a follow-up report be submitted in one year.  

(c) Photographic Imaging Curriculum Follow Up Report  
The program was last at a Student Outcomes Committee meeting in 2014 with a 
number of recommendations. Mr. Spielberg, the department head, provided 
information on progress the program has made since then. The number of graduates 
has increased (to 8 in 2015-16) and more graduates are anticipated. The program is 
almost ready to offer Photography 105 (Introduction to New Technology) to students; 
this is expected to improve the number of students in the major. Dr. Rényi 
commented positively on several ideas being considered, such as Saturday classes, 
working with the Music program, and stacking credentials. Mr. Armbrister asked how 
long recent graduates had been in school; Mr. Spielberg replied that students are 
typically part-time, older, and often take 5-6 semesters. Mr. Lassiter inquired about 
the types of jobs for which students would be qualified; Mr. Spielberg gave as 
examples advertising, commercials, magazines, internet, business head shots, 
portraits, wedding photography, and publishing. Ms. McPherson asked if image 
research was included in the curriculum; Mr. Spielberg said that it is covered in two 
courses. Rep. Roebuck, Jr. asked if students who come to the program have clear 
plans for a career and what brings them to the program in general; Mr. Spielberg 
replied that most do not come with a clear career path, but rather come to the program 
because of artistic interests. 

Action: The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the program 
submit a follow-up report in May/June 2017 to provide more data regarding 
student outcomes. 

(d) Dissolution of Policy No. 105: Robert S. King Scholarship for High School 
Students 

Dr. Hirsch explained that this scholarship became Board policy in 1985 after Robert 
S. King retired. Since the new 50th Anniversary Scholars program began last year, the 
Robert S. King Scholarship is no longer offered (funds had come from the operating 
budget). Robert S. King passed two years ago and his daughter is understanding 
regarding the dissolution. 

Action: The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the Robert S. King 
Scholarship for High School Students be dissolved. 

(e) Workforce Contacts and Outreach Efforts Report  

15



Dr. Rényi explained that the Board of Trustees members have committed to making 
contacts to introduce the Workforce Development leadership. Ms. de Fries provided a 
follow-up report. Out of the list of possible contacts, Ms. de Fries made contact with 
16 companies on the list and 4 to follow up for the next group of companies. Ms. de 
Fries and Dr. Generals toured the facilities of Rhoads Industries. This company may 
be interested in an apprenticeship program for welders; Ms. de Fries took Rhoads on 
a site tour of Benjamin Franklin High School and are also discussing available funds 
for the training via WEDNet, a state funding program. PECO worked with the 
Collegiate Consortium on the creation of a gas pipeline mechanic program; the first 
class started at Delaware County Community College. PECO is interested in doing 
this program in Philadelphia with the College; We are currently working on 
identifying appropriate space. We have reached out to Spectrum Health Services 
regarding funding for their training via WEDNet, and helped identify $16,000 in 
funds to reimburse them for training they have already conducted; by providing this 
assistance, we are now in discussions with them about providing training directly. 
Comcast has specific needs related to customer service for a variety of positions 
within the company, particularly in the call center and the technicians that install the 
equipment. The company is interested in employing veterans and we are working 
with Comcast on putting together a job fair in the Fall for them to hire the College’s 
veteran students. Four companies have been identified by Carol on the wish list 
for outreach: Osagie Imasogie - Iroko Pharmaceuticals, Madeline Bell – CHOP, Eric 
Foss – Aramark, Marcos Lopez - Exude Benefits. Carol will be following up with 
board members with suggested talking points for the outreach. As of July 1, 10,000 
Small Businesses and Career Services report to Workforce Development. Searches 
are underway for the Executive Director, 10KSB, and Director, Career 
Connections positions; Ms. de Fries will send the job descriptions to the Board of 
Trustees. Dr. Rényi made several suggestions: job descriptions for high level jobs be 
sent to the Board of Trustees; Board members invite Dr. Generals and Ms. de Fries to 
social events; and an annual request be made to the Board for names of companies for 
possible connections. Ms. de Fries stated that there has been more high level external 
outreach to the College coming from companies. Dr. Generals mentioned a possible 
connection with IBM to bring a program to the College. 

(f) Dashboard   
Dr. Rényi stated that every time the Committee meets, the Committee should review 
data to see if the College is on track and what possible future steps could be taken. As 
part of the dashboard, there will be five goals, each with high-level indicators. Dr. 
Hirsch said that the dashboard will be continuously updated and that a few elements 
were still under development. Because of timing, data were not yet available, so 
projections were provided when possible. The dashboard contains five-year goals and 
the college knows the percentage of the goal that should be achieved each year. Dr. 
Rényi suggested that the entire dashboard be presented to the Board of Trustees retreat 
in January. Dr. Generals explained that the numbers can change about twice a year. 
The dashboard also contains comparisons to peer institutions; the use of peer 
institutions is part of the national benchmarking process. Ms. Horstmann asked if it 
was decided to aim for peer institution averages or for the top quartile. Dr. Generals 

16



indicated that for the Aspen Prize, institutions might be reviewed in comparison to 
peers and their progress; he will confirm the groups regarding the Aspen Prize. 

Dr. Rényi put forth that as homework for the next meeting, members should review 
the dashboard so it can be at the top of the next meeting’s agenda. The general 
consensus of the Committee was that the dashboard was very effective. 

(3) Next Meeting 
The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for 
October 13, 2016 at 1:30pm in Conference Room M2-34. 

Attachments:  
Minutes of May 5, 2016  
Academic Program Audit: Business Administration A.A. Degree/Business A.A. Degree 
Program Audit Follow-Up Report Photographic Imaging Curriculum  
College Policies and Procedures Memorandum No. 105: Robert S. King Scholarship for 
High School Students 
Dashboard – September 1, 2016 

17



STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

MINUTES 

Thursday, May 5, 2016 
1:30pm

Conference Room M2-34 

Presiding:  Dr. Rényi 

Present:  Mr. Armbrister, Ms. de Fries, Dr. Gay, Dr. Generals, Dr. Hirsch, Ms. Horstmann,  
Mr. Lassiter, Dr. Roberts, Rep. Roebuck, Jr. 

Guests: Ms. Dunston, Ms. Harter, Mr. Libros, Mr. Love, Ms. McDonnell, Ms. Sweet 

(1) Executive Session 

     No items were discussed. 

 (2) Public Session 

(a) Approval of the Minutes of April 7, 2016 

     The minutes were accepted unanimously. 

(b) Academic Program Audit: Applied Science and Engineering Technology A.A.S.   

Ms. Dunston, Director of Academic Assessment and Evaluation, provided an 
overview of the recommendations associated with the Applied Science and 
Engineering Technology (ASET) Audit. One such recommendation is also common 
to the Technical Studies Audit: to evaluate if the programs overlap and either clarify 
the distinction for students or have the programs overlap more effectively. Other 
recommendations specific to ASET related to changing the name of the degree to be 
more descriptive; tracking ASET students more effectively; and putting quality 
assessments in place. 

Mr. Armbrister asked to what the low completion rate can be attributed. Ms. Dunston 
responded that the stackable nature of the degree (it is really two certificates stacked 
to an associate’s degree) may contribute, but that some fixes are already underway, 
including mentoring students. Mr. Lassiter asked if the non-returning students had 
been asked why they had dropped out, which could be enriching data that could 
inform. Mr. Libros, Program Contact for Applied Science and Engineering 
Technology, said that this is not easy to do, although they have been working towards 

18



this with the Biomedical Equipment Technology certificates. Dr. Hirsch noted that 
the tracking system that the College is using would be able to do this. Dr. Generals 
commented that with non-select programs, tracking students is difficult but he looks 
forward to Guided Pathways which should help (especially with the FYE course). 
Rep. Roebuck asked if the ASET program was unique to the College or if it existed 
elsewhere. Mr. Libros was not sure but noted that Camden County has certificates 
which stack to an Engineering Technology degree (which several schools have). Ms. 
Dunston said that it is challenging to compare the ASET program to other programs 
but that they do want to evaluate the role of Workforce. Related to Workforce, Mr. 
Armbrister asked if the program has tried to identify industry partners. Mr. Libros 
replied that they are moving in that direction and said that the Biomedical Equipment 
Technology program has strong partnerships. Mr. Libros commented that the College 
is looking at Maritime Technology and Nanotechnology because companies have 
expressed interest in those areas. 

Action: The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the audit be 
accepted and a follow-up report be submitted in December at which time the 
Committee will make a determination for renewal.   

(c) Academic Program Audit: Technical Studies A.A.S.   

Ms. Dunston remarked that the Technical Studies program underwent an audit and 
revisions at the same time as the ASET program and reiterated that both programs 
have the recommendation that they be clarified or overlap better. She stated that the 
program does need a program management plan. Ms. Dunston explained that the 
program is designed for students coming back into the workforce and that a higher 
level, more customized advising is needed. Because the structure is loose, more 
tracking and a stronger retention plan are therefore needed. Mr. Love, Department 
Head for Technical Studies, stated that the program has a lot of potential and that with 
the program management plan, they will be able to get more students into the 
program and keep them. Ms. Horstmann asked if they have a clear idea how to do 
this. Ms. Sweet, Dean of Liberal Studies commented that the program is broad and as 
such students may get overwhelmed. She stated that the program is in the Social 
Sciences, but that students often choose courses in other programs. She suggested that 
two areas be reviewed: if the program is in the right department, and if the general 
education curriculum should be looked at (to try to better match courses to students’ 
interests). Mr. Armbrister asked if the path is typically for transfer or for a job. Ms. 
Sweet responded that it is a career program and generally not a transfer program and 
mentioned that some students may change to a transfer program if they do decide to 
transfer to another institution. Mr. Armbrister asked that if students enter with a 
technical skill set, what does a student expect the value-added to be. Ms. Dunston 
responded that the result is credentialing, but that it is a challenge to see if the College 
is providing a path that aligns with the students’ interests and that this could be 
looked at more. Dr. Generals commented that the credentialing is why students come 
to this program so that their training is parlayed into college credit (this was recently 
done with steamfitters), and that the program is customizable, pulling together prior 

19



credit and prior learning. Mr. Armbrister remarked that this lends itself well to 
partnerships with industry and asked to what extent does the program have such 
relationships (both as a source for getting students and for students to go back to). 
Ms. Sweet noted steamfitters and carpenters and said they need to sharpen the 
students’ reasons for staying. The Committee discussed various aspects of the 
program’s curriculum: the program is very flexible/customizable; technical credits are 
awarded for prior learning; general education should be contextualized; and mapping 
as part of Guided Pathways will provide some clarification. The Committee also 
discussed areas to address, such as communicating with students, strengthening 
learning goals, setting targets for retention, and needing benchmarking. 

Action: The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the audit be 
accepted and a follow-up report be submitted in December at which time the 
Committee will make a determination for renewal.   

(d) Pathways Project Second Institute Report  
Discussion Questions:  

What were the outcomes?  
What assistance can the Board provide?  

Dr. Hirsch discussed the recent Pathways Institute, which took place in April. The 
focus of the first Institute was leadership, while the focus of the second Institute was 
diving into the work, specifically developing maps. One of the speakers, Rob 
Johnstone, will be the keynote speaker for the College’s Fall Professional 
Development Week. Best practices and how to dive into the work were discussed at 
the Institute. In some regards, the College is ahead, but behind in others (some 
institutions previously had grants related to this). The group heard interesting ideas 
about getting faculty on board. Regarding the College’s current plans, there will be a 
summer institute for department heads. This will be comprised of three sessions. 
During the three sessions, the group will receive information and discuss concerns. 
They will then develop career clusters (such as health careers, STEM, 
arts/communications, manufacturing/technology, etc.) and determine which programs 
fall under each cluster. The next step is then the curriculum mapping, for which the 
College has a template. A purpose of mapping is to minimize potential loss of credits. 
For instance, after a number of courses, students have a choice of academic plans that 
they can then follow without losing credits. The department heads, with the 
curriculum coordinators, will determine what the first two semesters look like and 
what common courses within a cluster would be. Once the faculty return in the Fall, 
the College will get a consensus on the work done in the summer, as well has 
feedback from students. The process will not be linear. Dr. Rényi asked that the 
mapping template be shared with the Committee. 

Dr. Hirsch explained that the other piece the College is working on this summer is the 
developmental education component. The College will then be prepared for the next 
Pathways Institute in October, the focus of which is developmental education. In the 
summer a group of faculty will attend a workshop on contextualized learning. As 

20



well, a steering committee will be formed to guide this part of the work and a summer 
development institute will take place. The College is also refining its 
placement/assessment approaches, including using Accuplacer placement test and 
reviewing possible correlations with GPAs. A third component of Pathways is the 
intake process. The intake process will have to change to keep up with other changes 
resulting from Pathways.  

The College has already developed transition courses and will begin these in Fall 
2016. Revisions to Health Care Studies and Liberal Arts to include a required First 
Year Experience (FYE) course have already been approved. A goal of the FYE 
course is for students to leave the course with an individualized academic plan (done 
by semester), career/transfer plan and financial plan. With a new retention 
management system in place and new full-time advisors, the College will be well 
positioned to better monitor students. The programs also require that certain courses 
be taken within identified milestones. Dr. Rényi commented that the pace of such 
major changes has been phenomenal for an academic institution and that credit should 
be given to the College administration. 

(e) Strategic Plan Development   
Discussion Questions:  

What are the strategies?  
How are stakeholders being engaged?  

Dr. Gay and Dr. Hirsch provided a handout to the Committee. Dr. Rényi asked at what 
stage and how does the Board get fully engaged in the strategic planning process that 
is constructive. Dr. Gay replied that a survey will be sent to Board members and 
Foundation Board members.  

The big push currently is to get input from students and faculty since they leave 
immediately after the semester ends. The College sent a mission survey to students the 
previous week and immediately had 100 responses. Another survey was sent out this 
week and there were already 52 responses. This compares favorably to the last 
strategic planning surveys, which had a total of 92 responses. Faculty, staff, and 
administrators are another group, thought of as the builders and drivers. There have 
been several Forums, the last of which was April 28th. Dr. Generals has met with each 
of the regional center’s communities, for which there was a good turnout. A topic 
raised was that in regard to Workforce, the College should be more dominant in the 
community. The timeline is very tight, so strategic planning items were added to other 
communications going out. Dr. Generals commented that for the Fall, a half-day Board 
retreat should be scheduled.  

(3) Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for June 
2, 2016 at 1:30 pm in Conference Room M2-34. 

21



Attachments:  
Minutes of April 7, 2016  
Academic Program Audit: Applied Science and Engineering Technology A.A.S. 
Academic Program Audit: Technical Studies A.A.S. 
Update on Strategic Planning Memorandum 
Pathways Project Program Map Template 

22



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Community College of Philadelphia 
Academic Program Audit Business 

Administration A.A. Degree Business 
A.A. Degree 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Author: Christine 
McDonnell Krishna 

Dunston Marge 
Niven 

 

 
Contributors: 

Cory Ng 
Richard Saxton 

 

 
Date: February 2016 

23



 

I. Executive Summary 
The Business Administration curriculum leads to an Associate in Arts (A.A.) degree. This 
Program is intended for students planning to transfer to baccalaureate programs accredited 
by the Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (AACSB). Numerous 
articulation agreements support a clear path for matching requirements of four year 
institutions and are commonly utilized. Alternatively, the Business program is designed to 
prepare students for transfer to four-year universities or colleges that are not AACSB 
accredited, to provide students with the foundation of business knowledge necessary to 
gain entry-level employment, or to upgrade their present level of employment.  The current 
articulation agreements for the Business Program, however, are not utilized. 

 
It will be important when reading this audit to understand the course, subject and 
departmental structure in which these programs exist. Business and Business Administration 
students enroll in many of the same courses, including those taught by accounting, business 
administration, economics, and marketing and management faculty. The two programs’ 
have different general education requirements (Business Administration students must take 
calculus based math, extra statistics, and a lab science). Accounting, economics, and finance 
are housed within the Business Administration Department while Marketing and 
Management courses are housed in the Marketing and Management Department. Due to 
the significant overlap in program requirements, the Business and Business Administration 
programs will be audited together. Due to the reliance on Marketing and Management 
courses in these programs, information on Marketing and Management will be included in 
this audit. 

 
Enrollment in the Business Administration Program has consistently increased over the past 
five years, and has averaged 618 students per year over this time period. Enrollment in the 
Business Program has consistently decreased over the past five years, and has averaged 
1043 students per year. 

 
The Business Administration Program records stronger outcomes in most areas compared to 
the Division and College in terms of academic standing, retention, long-term success, course 
completion, and GPA. Conversely, the Business Program records weaker outcomes than the 
Division and the College in terms of academic standing, retention, students departing the 
program unsuccessfully, and course completion. 

 
Approximately 45% of students who depart the Business Administration Program transfer 
and 30% of those who depart the Business Program transfer; 35% of those who depart the 
College transfer. Between 2010 and 2014, the number of Business Administration graduates 
increased each year. A total of 370 associate degrees were awarded in Business 
Administration in the past five years. However, over the same time period, the number of 
Business graduates has decreased.  A total of 559 Business degrees have been awarded. 

 
The Business Administration and Marketing and Management Departments have submitted 
assessment results for all Program Level Student Learning Outcomes for the Business 
Administration and Business Programs. Considering the overlapping curriculum between 
these two programs, one would expect overlapping outcomes. However, the two Programs 
have very different curriculum maps and Program Learning Outcomes. The Programs should 
evaluate where these differences are necessary, accurate, and produce informative 

24



 

assessment information. Act 335 course evaluations are outstanding for fourteen courses. 
Seven courses under Business Administration have started their Act 335 on the old form and 
need to complete the updated form. As of the writing of this audit, seven courses in the 
Marketing and Management Department have not completed the Act 335 documents that 
were due in January. 

 
Both program’s operating costs have been increasing and similar to the average cost for the 
Division and the College over the last five years. 

 
Recommendations for the Programs include: 

Evaluate integration between the two departments, 
Evaluate the distinction between the two programs. Assess the need for merging 
the two programs, further distinguishing the two programs, or closing one of the 
two programs, 
Complete all Act 335 documents, 
Evaluate the quality and variety of assessment materials, ensure alignment between 
PLOs and SLOs, ensure faculty collaboration of assessment planning and review 
across the departments, examine the extent to which the Programs incorporate 
common business education trends and necessary skills into assessment, and let 
these trends and skills inform assessment. 
Evaluate the articulation agreements, and 
Improve outcomes for Business students. 

 
II. Program Description 

A.   Catalog Description 
Business Administration A.A. 

The Business Administration program is specifically designed to prepare students to transfer 
to those business schools that are accredited by the Association to Advance Collegiate 
Schools of Business (AACSB). In keeping with the AACSB's educational philosophy, this 
program requires a strong foundation in higher level mathematics and quantitative 
reasoning that underlies business administration. 
(Note: It is recommended that students desiring a more inclusive foundation in the business 
disciplines with less emphasis on higher level mathematics select the Business program, 
which is also a transfer program.) 

 
Business A.A. 

The Business program is designed to prepare students for transfer to four-year universities 
or colleges, to provide students with the foundation of business knowledge necessary to 
gain entry-level employment, or to upgrade their present level of employment. The Business 
program is recommended for students who prefer to take more courses within the business 
disciplines with less emphasis on higher level mathematics. 

 
(Note: If students are planning to transfer to business schools accredited by the Association 
to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (AACSB), it is recommended that students select 
the Business Administration program, which is specifically designed for transferring to 
AACSB schools.) 

25



 

B.   History and Revisions to the Curricula 
Prior to 1997, the College catalog contained separate Business Transfer program listings 
that were titled by the institutions to which students intended to transfer. This format 
was used so that students would know exactly which coursework to complete in order 
to facilitate a smooth transfer.  In 2008, these programs were consolidated into two 
programs – Business and Business Administration. The Business Administration Program 
prepares students for transfer to business programs accredited by the Association to 
Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (AACSB).   A higher level of math proficiency is 
required for transfer to the AACSB accredited baccalaureate programs.  Additional 
changes were implemented in 2012 to align the program with requirements of the 
Pennsylvania Transfer Articulation Oversight Committee’s (TAOC). The TAOC 
requirements make for a seamless transfer to the Pennsylvania State System of Higher 
Education (PASSHE) institutions. 

 
Business and Business Administration students take courses from accounting, business 
administration, economics, marketing, management, and general education faculty. 
Accounting, Economics, and Business Administration are located in the Business 
Administration Department along with Automotive Technology, Culinary Arts, and 
Hospitality Management. The Business Administration Department Head is an 
Automotive Technology faculty member.  The Marketing and Management Department 
houses marketing, management, and real estate courses. One outcome of the 2011 
Marketing and Management Audits was to close the Marketing and Management 
Programs. This decision was reached because many of the recommendations from the 
2002 Marketing and 1997 Management Program audits were not carried out. 
Regardless of whether or not the Marketing and Management Department has a 
program, many of the issues raised in the last audits remain unresolved and relevant 
today. These issues include lack of faculty engagement, especially in relation to 
enrollment and retention issues, curriculum revision, working with an Advisory Board, 
and record-keeping. Five of the twelve required courses in Business Administration and 
six of the twelve courses in Business are housed within Marketing and Management. 
Presently, no Marketing and Management full-time faculty member has taken 
responsibility to serve as department head, therefore the Dean of Business and 
Technology is currently serving as the Department Head. Without a program, the 
Marketing and Management department will not undergo a separate audit. Marketing 
and Management information will be included in this audit because approximately half 
of the Business and Business Administration curriculum falls in the Marketing and 
Management department. 

26



 

C.
   

Cu
rr

ic
ul

um
 S

eq
ue

nc
e 

(B
us

in
es

s A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n)

 
  

Co
ur

se
 N

um
be

r a
nd

 N
am

e 
Pr

e 
an

d 
Co

-r
eq

ui
sit

es
 

Cr
ed

its
 

G
en

 E
d 

Re
q.

 
Fi

rs
t S

em
es

te
r  

M
N

GT
 1

21
 - 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

to
 B

us
in

es
s  

 
 

3  
 

AC
CT

 1
01

 - 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l A

cc
ou

nt
in

g  
 

 
4  

 
M

AT
H 

16
2 

– 
Pr

e-
ca

lc
ul

us
 II

 
M

AT
H 

16
1 

gr
ad

e 
of

 "C
" o

r b
et

te
r o

r M
AT

H 
16

2 
pl

ac
em

en
t  

3 
or

 4
 

M
at

he
m

at
ics

 
O

R 
M

AT
H 

17
1 

- C
al

cu
lu

s I
 

M
AT

H 
16

2 
gr

ad
e 

of
 "C

" o
r b

et
te

r o
r M

AT
H 

17
1 

pl
ac

em
en

t  
 

 
EN

GL
 1

01
 - 

En
gl

ish
 C

om
po

sit
io

n 
I  

 
 

3  
EN

GL
 1

01
 

EC
O

N
 1

81
 - 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
 o

f E
co

no
m

ic
s  

 
 

3  
 

Se
co

nd
 S

em
es

te
r  

EN
GL

 1
02

 - 
Th

e 
Re

se
ar

ch
 P

ap
er

 
EN

GL
 1

01
 w

ith
 a

 g
ra

de
 o

f "
C"

 o
r b

et
te

r  
3  

In
fo

 L
it 

(E
N

GL
10

1)
 

M
at

h 
17

1 
- C

al
cu

lu
s I

 
M

at
h 

16
2 

gr
ad

e 
of

 "C
" o

r b
et

te
r o

r M
at

h 
17

1 
pl

ac
em

en
t  

 
 

O
r M

at
h 

17
2 

- C
al

cu
lu

s I
I  

M
at

h 
16

6 
gr

ad
e 

of
 "C

" o
r b

et
te

r o
r M

at
h 

17
1 

gr
ad

e 
of

 "C
" o

r b
et

te
r  

4  
 

AC
CT

 1
02

 - 
M

an
ag

er
ia

l A
cc

ou
nt

in
g  

AC
CT

 1
01

 w
ith

 g
ra

de
 o

f "
C"

 o
r b

et
te

r  
3  

 
EC

O
N

 1
82

 - 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 o
f E

co
no

m
ic

s  
 

 
3  

 
So

ci
al

 S
cie

nc
e  

 
 

3  
So

ci
al

 S
cie

nc
es

 
Th

ird
 S

em
es

te
r  

EC
O

N
 1

12
 - 

St
at

ist
ic

s I
 

M
AT

H 
11

8,
 o

r h
ig

he
r t

ha
n 

M
AT

H 
11

8 
on

 p
la

ce
m

en
t t

es
t  

4  
 

M
N

GT
 1

41
 - 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
 o

f M
an

ag
em

en
t  

Pr
e-

 o
r C

o-
re

qu
isi

te
: M

N
GT

 1
21

 
3  

 
Hi

st
or

y 
El

ec
tiv

e  
 

 
3  

 
CI

S 
10

3 
- A

pp
lie

d 
Co

m
pu

te
r T

ec
hn

ol
og

y  
 

 
3  

Te
ch

 C
om

p  
La

bo
ra

to
ry

 S
ci

en
ce

 
 

 
4  

N
at

ur
al

 S
ci

en
ce

 
Fo

ur
th

 S
em

es
te

r  
M

N
GT

 2
62

 - 
Bu

sin
es

s L
aw

 
 

 
3  

 
M

KT
G 

13
1 

- P
rin

ci
pl

es
 o

f M
ar

ke
tin

g  
Pr

e-
 o

r C
o-

re
qu

isi
te

: M
N

GT
 1

21
 

3  
 

Bu
sin

es
s E

le
ct

iv
e 

(s
el

ec
t o

ne
)  

 
 

3  
 

EC
O

N
 1

14
 - 

St
at

ist
ic

s I
I  

 
EC

O
N

 1
12

 
 

 
FI

N
 1

51
 - 

Ri
sk

 M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 In

su
ra

nc
e  

M
N

GT
 1

42
 - 

M
an

ag
em

en
t I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

Sy
st

em
s  

M
N

GT
 1

21
 

 
 

Hu
m

an
iti

es
 

 
 

3  
Hu

m
an

iti
es

 
M

in
im

um
 C

re
di

ts
 N

ee
de

d 
to

 G
ra

du
at

e:
 

 
 

61
 

 

27



   
Cu

rr
ic

ul
um

 S
eq

ue
nc

e 
Co

nt
in

ue
d 

(B
us

in
es

s)
 

 Fi
rs

t S
em

es
te

r 
Pr

e 
an

d 
Co

-R
eq

ui
si

te
s 

Cr
ed

its
 

G
en

 E
d 

M
N

GT
 1

21
 - 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

to
 B

us
in

es
s  

 
3  

 
CI

S 
10

3 
- A

pp
lie

d 
Co

m
pu

te
r T

ec
hn

ol
og

y  
 

3  
Te

ch
 C

om
p  

EN
GL

 1
01

 - 
En

gl
ish

 C
om

po
sit

io
n  

 
3  

EN
GL

 1
01

 
M

at
h 

El
ec

tiv
e  

 
3 

or
 4

 
M

at
he

m
at

ics
 

FI
N

 1
51

 - 
Ri

sk
 M

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 In
su

ra
nc

e  
 

3  
 

Se
co

nd
 S

em
es

te
r  

 
 

 
AC

CT
 1

01
 - 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l A
cc

ou
nt

in
g  

 
4  

 
M

N
GT

 1
11

 - 
Bu

sin
es

s M
at

h  
 

3  
 

M
N

GT
 1

41
 - 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
 o

f M
an

ag
em

en
t  

Pr
e-

 o
r C

o-
re

qu
isi

te
: M

N
GT

 1
21

 
3  

 
EN

GL
 1

02
 - 

Th
e 

Re
se

ar
ch

 P
ap

er
 

EN
GL

 1
01

 w
ith

 a
 g

ra
de

 o
f "

C"
 o

r b
et

te
r  

3  
EN

GL
 1

02
, I

nf
o 

Li
t  

Sc
ie

nc
e 

El
ec

tiv
e  

 
3 

or
 4

 
N

at
ur

al
 S

ci
en

ce
 

Th
ird

 S
em

es
te

r  
 

 
 

AC
CT

 1
02

 - 
M

an
ag

er
ia

l A
cc

ou
nt

in
g  

AC
CT

 1
01

 w
ith

 a
 g

ra
de

 o
f "

C"
 o

r b
et

te
r  

3  
 

EC
O

N
 1

81
 - 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
 o

f E
co

no
m

ic
s (

M
ac

ro
ec

on
om

ic
s)

 
 

3  
 

EC
O

N
 1

12
 - 

St
at

ist
ic

s I
 

FN
M

T 
11

8 
or

 M
AT

H 
11

8,
 o

r h
ig

he
r p

la
ce

m
en

t  
4  

 
M

KT
G 

13
1 

- P
rin

ci
pl

es
 o

f M
ar

ke
tin

g  
Pr

e-
 o

r C
o-

re
qu

isi
te

: M
N

GT
 1

21
 

3  
 

So
ci

al
 S

cie
nc

e 
El

ec
tiv

e  
 

3  
So

ci
al

 S
cie

nc
es

 
Fo

ur
th

 S
em

es
te

r  
 

 
 

EC
O

N
 1

82
 - 

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
 o

f E
co

no
m

ic
s (

M
ic

ro
ec

on
om

ic
s)

 
 

3  
 

M
N

GT
 1

42
 - 

M
an

ag
em

en
t I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

Sy
st

em
s  

M
N

GT
 1

21
 

3  
 

M
N

GT
 2

62
 - 

Bu
sin

es
s L

aw
 

 
3  

 
Di

re
ct

ed
 E

le
ct

iv
e 

(s
el

ec
t o

ne
 fr

om
 b

el
ow

)  
 

3  
 

Hu
m

an
iti

es
 E

le
ct

iv
e  

 
3  

Hu
m

an
iti

es
 

M
in

im
um

 C
re

di
ts

 N
ee

de
d 

to
 G

ra
du

at
e:

 
 

62
 

 

28



 

Directed Electives: Business 
Accounting – All courses excluding ACCT 101 and ACCT 102 which are already required 
for the degree 
Computer Information Systems – All courses except CIS 103 which is already required 
for the degree 
Computer Science – All courses 
Culinary Arts and Hospitality Management – CAHM 110 - Introduction to the Hospitality 
Industry 
Economics – ECON 114 - Statistics II 
English – ENGL 115-Public Speaking, ENGL 116 - Interpersonal Communication, ENGL 
117- Group and Team Communication, and ENGL 118 - Intercultural Communication 
Entrepreneurship – ENTR 110 - Fundamentals of Entrepreneurship 
Finance – FIN 190 - Personal and Consumer Finance 
Office Administration – OA 106 Introduction to Word, Excel and PowerPoint, OA 110 
Professional Keyboarding I, OA 161 Business Communications I 
Real Estate – RE 101 - Real Estate Fundamentals 

 
D.   Curriculum Map 

Analysis of the two curricular maps, and the individual course student learning outcomes, 
revealed some inconsistencies. Recommended course sequence is different, leading to 
some question as to the level of student competency attained in the course, for each 
population. Business Administration lists ACCT 101 Financial Accounting outcomes as 
being, “Introduced;” while the same required course in Business indicates outcomes are, 
“Reinforced.”  Program outcomes are phrased differently, but course student learning 
outcomes are not differentiated by major taking the course. This example points to the 
need for increased collaboration among the faculty in the different departments to ensure 
that the student learning is consistent and in alignment with program need and 
expectation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



    
Cu

rr
ic

ul
um

 M
ap

: B
us

in
es

s A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

Th
e 

Bu
sin

es
s A

dm
in

ist
ra

tio
n 

pr
og

ra
m

 is
 sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 d
es

ig
ne

d 
to

 p
re

pa
re

 st
ud

en
ts

 to
 tr

an
sf

er
 to

 th
os

e 
bu

sin
es

s s
ch

oo
ls 

th
at

 a
re

 
ac

cr
ed

ite
d 

by
 th

e 
As

so
ci

at
io

n 
to

 A
dv

an
ce

 C
ol

le
gi

at
e 

Sc
ho

ol
s o

f B
us

in
es

s (
AA

CS
B)

. I
n 

ke
ep

in
g 

w
ith

 th
e 

AA
CS

B’
s e

du
ca

tio
na

l 
ph

ilo
so

ph
y,

 th
is 

pr
og

ra
m

 re
qu

ire
s a

 st
ro

ng
 fo

un
da

tio
n 

in
 th

e 
hi

gh
er

 le
ve

l m
at

he
m

at
ic

s a
nd

 q
ua

nt
ita

tiv
e 

re
as

on
in

g 
th

at
 u

nd
er

lie
s 

bu
sin

es
s a

dm
in

ist
ra

tio
n.

 
 

Ke
y:

 
I=

 In
tr

od
uc

ed
, R

=R
ei

nf
or

ce
d,

 M
=M

as
te

ry
, A

=A
ss

es
se

d 
   

C
ou

rs
es

 Pr
ep

ar
e,

 a
na

ly
ze

, i
nt

er
pr

et
 

an
d 

di
sc

us
s 

an
 e

nt
ity

’s
 b

as
ic

 
f in

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 v

er
ba

lly
 

a n
d 

in
 w

rit
in

g 

Di
sc

us
s t

he
 le

ga
l,  

ec
on

om
ic

 a
nd

 
so

ci
al

 im
pa

ct
 o

f 
bu

sin
es

s d
ec

isi
on

s 

Q
ua

nt
ita

tiv
el

y e
va

lu
at

e  
th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f b

us
in

es
s 

de
ci

sio
ns

, a
ct

iv
iti

es
 a

nd
 

ev
en

ts
 

De
m

on
st

ra
te

 a
n 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
in

g  
of

 a
nd

 d
isc

us
s t

he
 ro

le
 b

us
in

es
s 

ha
s h

ist
or

ic
al

ly
 ta

ke
n 

in
 d

iff
er

en
t 

s o
ci

et
al

 a
nd

 e
co

no
m

ic
 sy

st
em

s 

M
N

GT
 1

21
 –

 In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

to
 B

us
in

es
s  

I  
I  

I  
I  

AC
CT

 1
01

 –
 F

in
an

ci
al

 A
cc

ou
nt

in
g  

I  
I  

I  
 

EC
O

N
 1

81
 –

 P
rin

ci
pl

es
 o

f E
co

no
m

ic
s 

(M
ac

ro
ec

on
om

ic
s)

 
 

I 
R 

R 

AC
CT

 1
02

 –
 M

an
ag

er
ia

l A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

M
 

 
R 

 
EC

O
N

 1
82

 –
 P

rin
ci

pl
es

 o
f E

co
no

m
ic

s  
(M

ic
ro

ec
on

om
ic

s)
 

 
R  

R  
R  

EC
O

N
 1

12
 –

 S
ta

tis
tic

s I
 

 
 

 
 

M
N

GT
 1

41
 –

 P
rin

ci
pl

es
 o

f M
an

ag
em

en
t  

 
R  

 
 

M
N

GT
 2

62
 –

 B
us

in
es

s L
aw

 
 

R  
 

 
M

KT
G 

13
1 

– 
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 o
f M

ar
ke

tin
g  

 
R  

 
 

Bu
sin

es
s e

le
ct

iv
e 

– 
se

le
ct

 o
ne

 fr
om

:  
E C

O
N

 1
14

- S
ta

tis
tic

s I
I 

Fi
n 

15
1 

– 
Ri

sk
 M

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 In
su

ra
nc

e 
M

N
GT

 1
42

 –
 M

an
ag

em
en

t I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
Sy

st
em

s 

 
FI

N
 1

51
 R

 
EC

O
N

 1
14

  
M

 
FI

N
 1

51
 

M
 

 

30



   
C

ur
ric

ul
um

 M
ap

 C
on

tin
ue

d:
 B

us
in

es
s

     
CO

UR
SE

S

PR
OG

RA
!M

ST
UD

EN
TL

EA
RN

IN
G

OU
TC

OM
ES

 

Pr
ep

ar
e,

an
al

yz
e,

in
te

rp
re

t
an

d
di

sc
us

sa
n

en
tit

y'
s 

ba
sic

fm
an

ci
al

st
at

em
en

ts
ve

rb
al

ly
an

d
in

w
rit

in
g.

Ev
al

ua
te

ba
si

c
m

an
ag

er
ia

la
nd

m
ar

ke
tin

g
pr

ob
le

m
s 

an
d

de
ve

lo
p

so
lu

tio
ns

to
th

em
.

 

U
til

iz
ec

om
m

on
 

bu
si

ne
ss

 
te

ch
no

lo
gy

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y.

D
ev

el
op

an
d

w
rit

ea
n

el
em

en
ta

ry
m

ar
ke

tin
g 

pl
an

th
at

co
ns

id
er

st
he

 
ec

on
om

ic
an

d
so

ci
al

im
pa

ct
s.

 

A
pp

ly
qu

an
tit

at
iv

e 
m

et
ho

ds
to

so
lv

e
co

m
m

on
bu

sin
es

s 
pr

ob
le

m
s.

MN
GT

12
1

-I
nt

ro
du

cti
on

to
Bu

sin
es

s
I

I
I

 
I

FIN
15

1-
Ri

sk
M

an
ag

em
en

t
an

dI
ns

ur
an

ce
 

I
I

 
I

AC
CT

10
1

-F
in

an
cia
l

Ac
co

un
tin

a
II

R
 

R
 

R

MN
GT

11
1

-B
usi

ne
ss

M
ath

 
 

I
 

I
MN

GT
14

1
-P

rin
cip

les
of

M
an

ag
em

en
t

 
R

R
II

R
R

AC
CT

10
2

-M
an

ag
er

ial
Ac

co
un

tin
g

M
 

 
 

R
IM

EC
ON

18
1-

Pr
inc

ipe
ls

of
Ec

on
om

ics
(M

ac
ro

ec
on

om
ics

)
 

 
II

R
 

R

EC
ON

11
2-

St
ati

sti
cs
I

 
R

 
 

R
MK

TG
13

1-
Pr

inc
ipe

ls
of

M
ark

eti
na

 
R

 
 

R

EC
ON

18
2-

Pr
inc

ipe
ls

of
Ec

on
om

ics
(M

icr
oe

co
no

mi
cs

)

 
 

R
 

R
 

M

MN
GT

14
2-

M
an

ag
em

er
t

In
for

m
ati

on
Sy

ste
m

s
 

M
M

R
M

MN
GT

26
2

-B
us
in

es
sL

aw
 

M
 

R
 

Bu
sin

es
sE

le
cti

ve
 

 
 

R
 

31



 

E.   Future Directions of the Field/ Program 
Both the AA Business and AA Business Administration degrees are designed as transfer 
programs. As such, it is important to understand how four-year business programs are 
responding to changing business environments and employer expectations. 

 
The business environment in all industries has become more complex, and as a result 
employers expect business graduates to have a set of skills that enable students to meet the 
societal challenges of business today. In particular, employers want graduates who have 
broad skillsets with the ability to solve problems, real world experience, and in-depth 
knowledge in a specific business area. Two resulting trends in business education are 1) 
purposefully integrating business and liberal arts studies to better contextualize how 
business interacts with other societal, cultural, and political stakeholders and 2) engaging 
students in experiential learning to support the conversion of classroom knowledge into 
real-world understanding and experience.i 

 
The chart below indicates skills which employers desire when hiring business college graduates. 

 
Rank Skills Employers Desire in Business Students 
1 Leadership 
2 Business Writing 
3 Tie: Business Speaking & Organizational 

Behavior 
4 Business Ethics 
5 Social Responsibility 
6 Change Management 
7 Decision Making 
8 Career Planning 
9 Tie: Problem Solving & Project Management 
10 Teamwork 

Source: BizEdii
 

 
The curricula of primary institutions to which AA Business and AA Business 
Administration students transfer will be examined to determine the extent to which the 
above (or other) skills are embedded in the first two years of instruction. Updates 
needed in the AA Business/Business Administration programs will be made to ensure 
the transferability of courses and, more generally, to provide the foundational 
preparation our students need for successful transfer into more in-depth, major-specific 
business programs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

i “Emerging Trends in Undergraduate Business Education.” Hanover Research, 2013, p. 3. 
ii Ghannadian, F. “What Employers Want, What We Teach.” BizEd, March/April 2013, p. 42. 

32



 

III. Faculty Teaching Courses in the Program 
Faculty Position Hire Date Courses Taught Modified Assignment 

Business Administration 
Richard T. Saxton Department Head, 

Business Administration 
 Automotive 

Technology Faculty 
Does not teach courses 
in the Programs. 

Alan Davis Associate Professor 1984 ACCT 101, ACCT 102, Step-down retirement 
Mansour Farhat Assistant Professor 2015 ACCT 101, 102, 

103,202 
 

Dennis Gentekos Assistant Professor 1976 ACCT 101, ECON 112, 
114, 181 

 

James B. Johnson Assistant Professor 2002 ACCT 101  
Joseph Murray Assistant Professor 1976 ECON 112, 181  
Cory Ng Assistant Professor & 

Program Director 
2006 ACCT 101, 102, 103, 

215 
Resigned December 
2015 

Charles H. Tremblay Associate Professor 1973 ECON 114, 181, 182  
Wayne Williams Assistant Professor   On administrative 

assignment 
Marketing & Management 
Dean Pam Carter Interim Department 

Head 
 Division Dean Does not teach courses 

in the programs. 
Mark H. Bambach Assistant Professor 1986 MNGT 111, 121, 141, 

142, MKTG 131 
 

Nancy Carr Professor 1974 MNGT 121, 141, 262  
Marvin J. Cohen Assistant Professor  RE 101, MNGT 262, 

MNGT 141 
 

James J. Healey Assistant Professor, 1979 MNGT 121, 141, 
MKT 131 

 

Maurice Sampson Assistant Professor 1979 MNGT 121, ENTR 
110, 120 

Pre-retirement 

 
*On average, the Programs run approximately 118 sections each spring and 130 sections each fall, 
sections not taught by full-time faculty are taught by adjuncts and visiting lecturers. 

33



 

 370 588 682 687 764 
307 588 682 687 754 

618 
603.6 

106% 
59% 

Business Headcount 
FTE Headcount 

1317 1057 976 938 929 
773 691 675 654 603 

1043.4 
679.2 

-41.7% 
-28% 

Business & Headcount 
Technology Division FTE Headcount 

3167 3252 3160 3286 3323 
2358 2373 2342 2387 2381 

3238 
2368.2 

5% 
1% 

College 
Headcount 
FTE Headcount 

19047 19502 19572 18951 19065 
13361 13697 13682 13106 13163 

19263 
13402 

0% 
-1% 

IV. Program Characteristics 
A.   Student Profile 

Over the past five years, enrollment in the Business Administration Program has more than 
doubled and has averaged 618 students annually over the last five years. During this same time 
period, enrollment in the Business Program has steadily decreased (decrease in headcount of 
approximately 42%). During this time period, headcount in the Division has increased by 
approximately 5% while enrollment in the College remained flat. 

 
Table 1: Headcounts 

 

 5 Year 5 Year 
Fall 2010 Fall 2011 Fall 2012 Fall 2013 Fall 2014 Average Change 

Business 
Administration 

Headcount 
FTE Headcount 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Business Administration program records differing demographics compared to the Division 
and College in terms of race/ethnicity, age, full-time status, and level of college readiness. The 
Program enrolls a lower percentage of African American students (43%) than the Division (47%) 
and the College (49%); however, the program enrolls a higher percentage of Asian, Latino/a, and 
multiracial students compared to the Division and the College. The program enrolls a younger 
population; 80% of the students are under the age of 30, while 68% and 69% of students in the 
Division and the College are under the age of 30. The Program also enrolls a higher proportion 
of full-time students (46%) compared to the Division (37%) and the College (30%). The Program 
enrolls a lower proportion of students at college level (22%) compared to the Division (23%) and 
the College (27%). The Program enrolls fewer students (26%) in all developmental courses 
compared to the Division and the College (30%). Approximately 50% of the students in the 
Program place developmentally in reading, writing, or math. 

 
The Business Program records differing demographics compared to the Division and College in 
terms of age and level of college readiness. The Program enrolls a higher proportion of students 
16- 21 years old (38%) compared to the Division and the College (both 32%). While 
approximately 27% of students in the Division and College place at college level, 18% of students 
in the Business Program place at college level; the remaining 82% require some form of 
remediation. 

34



 

Table 2: Demographics 
Demographics: Running 5 Year Average 

 Business Business 
Administration Division College 

Female 
Male 

Unknown 

48.7%% 48.28% 45.58% 63.5% 
51.1% 51.54% 54.13% 36.2% 
0.2% 0.19% 0.30% 0.3% 

  

Native American 
Asian 

African American 
Latino/a 

Multiracial 
Pacific Islander 

Unknown 
Caucasian 

0.1% 0.4% 0% 0.4% 
12.3% 8.6% 11% 7.3% 
43.2% 50.5% 47% 48.8% 
10.8% 9.3% 10% 10.5% 
2.6% 1.9% 2% 2.3% 
0.1% 0.2% 0% 0.2% 
9.0% 7.1% 7% 6.8% 

21.8% 21.9% 21% 23.8% 
  

16 – 21 
22 – 29 
30 – 39 

40 + 
Unknown 

40.4% 38.12% 32.02% 32.1% 
39.5% 37.38% 37.16% 37.6% 
13.4% 13.11% 17.04% 17.1% 
6.4% 10.74% 12.90% 12.7% 
0.3% 0.62% 0.83% 0.5% 

  

Full Time 
Part Time 

46.43% 35.11% 37.28% 30.2% 
53.57% 64.89% 62.75% 69.9% 

  

All Developmental 
Some Developmental 

College Level 

26.1% 32.89% 29.08% 29.8% 
52.3% 48.96% 43.34% 42.8% 
21.6% 18.18% 27.57% 27.4% 

 
The Business Administration Program records stronger outcomes in most areas 
compared to the Division and College. The Program records a similar proportion of 
students (85%) in good academic standing compared to the Division (84%) and the 
College (85%).  Fall to spring retention in the Program is approximately 70%, while 
retention within the Division is 65% and 66% within the College.  A lower proportion of 
students in the Program change majors compared to the Division and the College. 
Approximately 41% of students return to this program from one fall to the next 
compared to 36% of students returning from one fall to the next in the Division and the 
College. The Program records a higher graduation rate (16%) compared to the Division 
(13%) and the College (10%). The Program records a similar proportion of students 
leaving the program unsuccessfully compared to the Division and a higher proportion 
compared to the College (less favorable). 

35



 

 Business Business Business & 
Administration Technology College 

Good Standing 
Probation 
Dropped 

85.0% 80.47% 84.2% 85.3% 
13.2% 17.36% 13.9% 13.2% 
1.8% 2.16% 1.9% 1.5% 

  

Returned/Same 
Returned/Different 
Graduated 
Did Not Return 

69.58% 62.68% 64.94% 65.8% 
4.14% 6.34% 6.16% 5.2% 
3.50% 2.84% 2.96% 2.2% 

22.80% 28.12% 25.96% 26.8% 
  

Returned/Same 
Returned/Different 
Graduated 
Did Not Return 

41.16% 34.26% 36.50% 36.5% 
6.72% 8.88% 8.50% 8.5% 
9.82% 8.80% 8.56% 8.6% 

42.28% 48.06% 46.46% 46.5% 
  

Graduated 
Long Term Success 
Short Term Success 
Unsuccessful 

16.0% 12.23% 12.94% 10.1% 
28.8% 34.84% 34.40% 36.4% 
15.7% 11.76% 13.09% 17.1% 
39.5% 41.14% 39.54% 36.4% 

  

Course Completion 
GPA 

86.6% 84.12% 86.3% 88.2% 

2.586 2.41 2.52 2.64 

The Business Program records weaker outcomes than the Division and the College in 
terms of academic standing, retention, students departing the program unsuccessfully, 
and course completion. Approximately 80% of Business students are in good academic 
standing, compared to 84% and 85% in the Division and the College, respectfully. From 
fall to spring, approximately 63% of students in the Business Program return, while 65% 
and 66% in the Division and the College are retained. Approximately 34% of students in 
the Business Program return from one fall to the next, while 36.5% of students Division- 
wide and College-wide return. The Program’s graduation rate is similar to that of the 
Division at approximately 12%.  A marginally higher percent of students (41%) depart 
the Program unsuccessfully compared to the Division (39.5%) and College (36.4%). 
Course completion falls below that of students in the Division (86.3%) and College 
(88.2%) 

 
Table 3: Outcomes Data: 5 Year Averages 

 
 
 
 
 

Standing 
 
 
 
 
 

Fall-Spring 
Retention 

 
 
 
 
 

Fall-Fall 
Retention 

 
 
 
 
 

Success at 
Departure 

 
 
 
 

Course 
Outcomes 

[1] “Graduated” are students who earned certificates or associates degrees at the College. “Long term success” is 
defined as departure with a GPA of 2.0 or greater and 12 or more cumulative credit hours earned. “Short term 
success” is defined as departure with a GPA of 2.0 or greater and 11 or fewer cumulative credit hours earned. The 
“unsuccessful” departure group includes all departing students with a GPA below 2.0 and students who never 
complete a college-level course. 

36



 

The largest group of students to depart the College from the Business Administration 
and Business Programs are those that have earned less than twelve credits. 
Approximately 41% of those who leave the Program and College from the Business 
Administration Program have earned less than twelve credits, while 61% of those who 
leave the Program and College from the Business Program have earned less than twelve 
credits. Approximately 59% of those that leave the College do so with less than 12 
credits. Both Programs record high transfer rates upon graduation.  Approximately 74% 
of those that graduate from the Business Administration Program and 59% of those that 
graduate from the Business Program transfer. 

 
Business Administration Program Transfer Agreements 
The Business Administration Program has 29 articulation agreements; 12 of the 29 
articulation agreements were unutilized in the five year time frame (California 
University of Pennsylvania, Carlow University, Clarion University, Immaculata University, 
Indiana Tech, Lincoln University, Rosemont College, St. Francis University, Slippery Rock 
University, Universidad Del Sagrado Corazon, and Western Governors University).  Of 
the 608 Business Administration students that transferred during this time frame, 361 
utilized the Programs articulation agreements. 
The top five transfer recipients of Business Administration students (who enrolled in the 
Program between 2008 and 2013) include: 

Temple University (233) 
Drexel University (42) 
Delaware County Community College (27) 
Pierce College (26) 
Pennsylvania State University (20) 

 
Table 4: Transfer by Departure Status (Entry fall 2008- Spring 2013) 
Business Administration 

 
Departure Status 

 
Transferred Did Not Transfer 

 
Count of Departing 

Students 
 Count Percent Count Percent 

Graduate 
Earned 45 or more credits 

Earned 24 to 44 credits 
Earned 12 to 23 credits 

Earned less than 12 credits 

217 74.06% 
93 43.87% 
74 35.24% 
76 36.02% 

148 23.09% 

76 25.94% 
119 56.13% 
136 64.76% 
135 63.98% 
493 76.91% 

293 (19%)
212 (14%)
210 (13%)
211 (13%)
641 (41%)

Grand Total 608 38.80% 959 61.20% 1,567
 

Business Program Transfers 
The Business Program has eight articulation agreements; however, three of the 
articulation agreements were unutilized (Excelsior College, Indiana Tech, and Western 
Governors University) in the five year time frame (students entering the college 
between fall of 2008 and spring of 2013). Of the 298 Business students that transferred 
during this time period, 11 students utilized the program’s articulation agreements.  The 
College has no articulation agreements with the top ten recipient institutions for the 
same time period. 

37



 

 
The top five transfer recipients of Business students (who enrolled in the Program 
between 2008 and 2013) include: 

Temple University (108) 
University of Phoenix (32) 
Delaware County Community College (31) 
Pierce College (29) 
Montgomery County Community College (23) 

 
It is important to note that since the Business Program does not require lab science or 
calculus based math, when students from this Program transfer into any of the Business 
Programs at Temple, they must re-take their science and math courses to fulfill Temple’s 
program requirements (lab science and calculus based math requirements). If these 
students that transferred to Temple had enrolled in the Business Administration 
Program, they would have more efficiently selected their courses. 

 
Business 

 
Departure Status 

 
Transferred Did Not Transfer 

 
Count of Departing 

Students 
 Count Percent Count Percent 

Graduate 
Earned 45 or more credits 

Earned 24 to 44 credits 
Earned 12 to 23 credits 

Earned less than 12 credits 

86 59.31% 
50 40.98% 
91 39.74% 
91 31.06% 

298 24.03% 

59 40.69% 
72 59.02% 

138 60.26% 
202 68.94% 
942 75.97% 

145 (7%)
122 (6%)

229 (11%)
293 (14%)
1240 (61%)

Grand Total 616 30.36% 1413 69.64% 2,029
 

Three hundred seventy associate’s degrees in Business Administration, conversely 559 
associate’s degrees in Business have been awarded between 2010 and 2014. The 
number of Business Administration degrees awarded has increased each year over the 
past five years, while the number of Business Degrees has been decreasing over the 
same time period. 

 
Table 5: Degrees Awarded 

 
 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total 

Business Administration 
Business 
Business & Technology Division 
College 

12 57 90 99 112 
206 111 89 67 86 
357 318 323 328 373 
1908 1949 2101 2040 2246 

370 
559 

1699 
10,244 

38



 

The College and Division record almost equal amounts of freshmen as sophomores. 
However, within the Business and Business Administration Programs, these numbers are 
less proportionate.  This could be due to a program requiring a large number of credits, 
students transferring into or out of the program, or a high proportion of students that 
require developmental coursework. 

 
Figure 3: Distribution of Students in Program 

 

Distribution of Students in Program 
 

100% 
 

80% 
 

60% 
 

40% 
 

20% 
 

0% 

 
 
 
46% 39% 43% 43% 
 
 
 

42% 46% 43% 45% 
 

 
13% 16% 14% 12% 

Business 
Administration 

Business Division College 

 
Developmental Freshman Sophomore 

 
 

Section Enrollments 
All core courses in the Business Administration and Business Programs run efficiently.  There are 
no courses specifically designated Business/Business Administration, students enroll in 
Accounting, Economics, Finance, Marketing, and Management courses, therefore those course 
offering efficiencies were evaluated. The Business Administration Department houses the 
Accounting, Economics, and Finance courses; however, these courses are not restricted to 
Business/ Business Administration students and are open to all students who meet the 
appropriate prerequisite, the Marketing and Management Department houses courses in 
Marketing, Management, and Real Estate which are required of (or directed electives), but not 
limited to the students in the Business and Business Administration Programs. 

39



    
 Sp

rin
g 

20
10

 
Fa

ll  
20

10
 

Sp
rin

g  
20

11
 

Fa
ll  

20
11

 
Sp

rin
g  

20
12

 
Fa

ll  
20

12
 

Sp
rin

g  
20

13
 

Fa
ll  

20
13

 
Sp

rin
g  

20
14

 
Fa

ll  
20

14
 

Fa
ll  

Av
er

ag
e 

Sp
rin

g  
Av

er
ag

e 
Se

ct
io

ns
 

Ac
co

un
tin

g 
Av

g 
En

ro
llm

en
t 

Pe
rc

en
t F

ill
ed

 

49
 

28
.1

2 
88

%
 

42
 

29
.0

0 
89

%
 

51
 

26
.3

3 
89

%
 

41
 

30
.3

4 
84

%
 

51
 

26
.8

0 
88

%
 

37
 

28
.2

7 
88

%
 

44
 

29
.0

2 
89

%
 

36
 

29
.5

3 
90

%
 

40
 

28
.2

8 
90

%
 

36
 

29
.9

4 
91

%
 

38
.5

0 
29

.6
0 

89
%

 

45
.5

8 
28

.0
3 

89
%

 
Se

ct
io

ns
 

Ec
on

om
ic

s 
Av

g 
En

ro
llm

en
t 

Pe
rc

en
t F

ill
ed

 

38
 

32
.0

5 
88

%
 

37
 

32
.9

2 
89

%
 

39
 

30
.5

9 
89

%
 

37
 

31
.8

1 
88

%
 

38
 

29
.3

2 
88

%
 

34
 

28
.9

7 
88

%
 

30
 

30
.1

0 
89

%
 

32
 

31
.7

5 
90

%
 

35
 

30
.9

4 
90

%
 

26
 

31
.2

7 
91

%
 

33
.8

3 
31

.3
5 

89
%

 

35
.6

4 
30

.7
3 

89
%

 
Se

ct
io

ns
 

Fi
na

nc
e 

Av
g 

En
ro

llm
en

t 
Pe

rc
en

t F
ill

ed
 

3 
28

.3
3 

88
%

 

4 
33

.5
0 

89
%

 

3 
34

.3
3 

89
%

 

4 
30

.5
0 

85
%

 

4 
28

.7
5 

88
%

 

3 
34

.6
7 

88
%

 

5 
25

.8
0 

89
%

 

5 
25

.2
0 

90
%

 

4 
34

.5
0 

90
%

 

5 
25

.2
0 

91
%

 

4.
17

 
30

.3
4 

89
%

 

3.
86

 
30

.3
4 

89
%

 
Se

ct
io

ns
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

Av
g 

En
ro

llm
en

t 
Pe

rc
en

t F
ill

ed
 

47
 

30
.1

9 
88

%
 

41
 

29
.0

5 
89

%
 

40
 

30
.3

0 
89

%
 

40
 

28
.9

8 
82

%
 

38
 

29
.2

6 
88

%
 

34
 

32
.0

3 
88

%
 

31
 

32
.9

7 
89

%
 

31
 

32
.9

4 
90

%
 

34
 

31
.0

9 
90

%
 

33
 

31
.2

4 
91

%
 

36
.3

3 
30

.8
5 

88
%

 

37
.7

2 
30

.7
8 

89
%

 
Se

ct
io

ns
 

M
ar

ke
tin

g 
Av

g 
En

ro
llm

en
t 

Pe
rc

en
t F

ill
ed

 

10
 

26
.8

0 
88

%
 

6 
28

.5
0 

89
%

 

9 
28

.7
8 

89
%

 

6 
25

.3
3 

70
%

 

9 
27

.0
0 

88
%

 

5 
28

.8
0 

88
%

 

5 
30

.6
0 

89
%

 

4 
35

.7
5 

90
%

 

6 
28

.3
3 

90
%

 

5 
33

.6
0 

91
%

 

5.
33

 
29

.9
7 

86
%

 

7.
39

 
28

.5
8 

88
%

 
                      

40



 

V. Learning Outcomes and Assessment 
A.   Student Learning Outcomes 
Upon completion of the Business Administration Program, graduates will be able to: 
1. Prepare, analyze, interpret and discuss an entity’s basic financial statements verbally 

and in writing 
2. Discuss the legal, economic and social impact of business decisions 
3. Quantitatively evaluate the impact of business decisions, activities and events 
4. Demonstrate an understanding of and discuss the role business has historically taken in 

different societal and economic systems 
 

Upon completion of the Business Program, students will be able to: 
1. Prepare, analyze, interpret and discuss an entity's basic financial statements verbally 

and in writing. 
2. Evaluate basic managerial and marketing problems and develop solutions to them. 
3. Utilize common business technology effectively. 
4. Develop and write an elementary marketing plan that considers the economic and social 

impacts. 
5. Apply quantitative methods to solve common business problems. 

 

 
The Business Administration and Marketing Departments have assessed four Business 
Administration Program Level Student Learning Outcomes since 2011.   A number of 
changes have been made or are in progress, including adoption of new textbooks, 
standardizing syllabi, adopting new software, adopting standardized problems, and 
integrating the Uniform Commercial Code as it appears in statutes. Management faculty will 
continue to meet a minimum of once per semester, experiment with various delivery 
methods, experiment with pre-tests and post-tests, provide students with informational 
handouts, develop a departmental exam to assess all SLOs, make instruction adjustments, 
and incorporate more online materials into the classroom. 

 
The Business Administration and Marketing Departments have assessed five Business 
Program Level Student Learning Outcomes since 2011. A number of changes have been 
made or are in progress in the Accounting courses, including developing standardized 
syllabi, adopting a new edition of the textbook, adopting new software, and adopting 
standardized problems. The Management faculty are incorporating current business 
management events and issues into lectures, encouraging students to utilize online 
resources including simulations, promoting greater students involvement in case analysis 
and presentations, and meeting to discuss course revisions, evaluate exams, and quizzes. 
The Marketing faculty is spending more time on marketing case work. Together, the 
Marketing and Management Faculty will coordinate their efforts to address issues related to 
poor performance from 2011. 

 
The Business Administration and Business Programs have overlapping curricula; however 
the Programs have different Program Learning Outcomes. The only differences that exist 
between the two programs are in the required math and science courses. The Business 
Administration program requires Pre-Calculus, Calculus 1, or Calculus 2 (students must 
choose two) and Business Statistics II, while the Business Program requires Business Math 
and a Math elective. Additionally, the Business Administration Program requires a lab 
science while Business requires a science elective (not necessarily lab). 

41



 

 
The Programs should focus on the following areas of assessment: 
o Given that the differences in curricula exist mainly in the general education courses and 

not in the major courses, the Program Learning Outcomes and the curriculum maps for 
these programs should more closely align. 

o The curriculum map does not identify where the outcomes are assessed. The map 
merely identifies where the information is introduced, reinforced, and in two cases 
mastered. 

o Assessment of the Business Administration and Business Programs are of varying quality 
depending on the department. 

o The Department Head lacks the authority to affect the design, delivery, support for, or 
assessment of student learning in approximately half the program courses (Marketing 
and Management) in the degrees. 

42



 

A
ss

es
sm

en
tO

ve
rv

ie
w

Pr
og

ra
m

:
B

us
in

es
s

C
ur

re
nt

Y
ea

r:
20

15
-2

01
6

N
O

T
E

:
W

he
re

ve
rp

os
si

bl
e,

 u
se

da
ta

fr
om

 2
01

4 
fo

rw
ar

d
in

th
is

 d
oc

um
en

t. 
O

nl
y 

go
 fu

rt
he

r b
ac

k
if

th
er

e
is

 n
o 

da
ta

 fr
om

 2
01

4-
20

15
. B

e
su

re
 to

go
 fo

rw
ar

d 
to

 2
01

5-
20

16
w

ith
yo

ur
 p

la
ns

 fo
r a

ss
es

si
ng

 th
is

 P
LO

.
Pr

og
ra

m
L

ea
rn

in
g 

O
ut

co
m

e
(P

L
O

):
1.

Pr
ep

ar
e,

an
al

yz
e,

 in
te

rp
re

t a
nd

 d
is

cu
ss

 a
n

en
tit

y's
 b

as
ic

fin
an

ci
al

 st
at

em
en

ts
 v

er
ba

lly
an

d
in

 w
rit

in
g.

Se
m

es
te

r(
s)

da
ta

w
as

/
w

ill
be

co
lle

ct
ed

D
ir

ec
t /

In
di

re
ct

(c
he

ck
bo

x—
m

us
t 

in
cl

ud
e 

m
ul

tip
le

di
re

ct
m

ea
su

re
s)

So
ur

ce
of

E
vi

de
nc

e
/

T
yp

e
of

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

(c
ou

rs
e-

le
ve

l
ev

id
en

ce
sh

ou
ld

 
cl

ea
rl

y 
al

ig
n

w
ith

PL
O

 la
ng

ua
ge
—

us
e 

ke
y

w
or

ds
)

Po
pu

la
tio

n
(w

ho
 w

ill
be

as
se

ss
ed

)

B
en

ch
m

ar
k

R
es

ul
ts

(n
um

be
r o

fs
tu

de
nt

s
ac

tu
al

ly
as

se
ss

ed
an

d
w

ha
t p

er
ce

nt
ag

e
m

et
th

e 
be

nc
hm

ar
k)

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

(s
ho

ul
d

al
ig

n 
w

ith
/b

rie
fly

su
m

m
ar

iz
e

Te
ac

hi
ng

 &
 L

ea
rn

in
g

D
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n)

Sp
rin

g
20

15
D

ire
ct

In
di

re
ct

C
om

m
on

 p
ro

bl
em

s
as

si
gn

ed
 in

 
M

yA
cc

ou
nt

in
gL

ab
P 1

.5
4 

m
ap

s t
o 

SL
O

1;
P5

.3
4A

 m
ap

s t
o

S L
O

 2
; P

6.
33

A
, P

9-
31

A
, P

9-
32

A
, P

11
-

26
A

, P
11

-2
7A

, P
12

-
32

A
, P

12
-3

4A
an

d
P1

3-
38

A
 m

ap
 to

 S
LO

3

A
C

C
T 

10
1 

-
Fi

na
nc

ia
l

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

75
%

SL
O

 #
1:

 8
4.

9%
SL

O
 #

2:
 8

7.
4%

 
SL

O
 #

3:
 8

9.
2%

St
ud

en
t p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

 o
r

ex
ce

ed
s b

en
ch

m
ar

k 
on

al
lS

LO
s.

R
ep

ea
t a

ss
es

sm
en

ti
n

Sp
rin

g
20

16
.

W
e

ar
e

w
or

ki
ng

on
 im

pr
ov

in
g

SL
O

#1
at

th
e

m
om

en
t a

nd
 a

re
ad

dr
es

si
ng

th
is

 o
ut

co
m

e 
in

 th
e

ne
xt

as
se

ss
m

en
t

cy
cl

e.
 C

ha
ng

es
 in

co
ur

se
co

nt
en

t f
or

A
C

C
10

1
an

d 
A

C
C

10
2-

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

fa
cu

lty
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

a
st

an
da

rd
iz

ed
sy

lla
bu

s f
or

A
C

C
T 

10
1 

an
d 

A
C

C
T

10
2

an
d 

di
st

rib
ut

ed
 to

 a
ll 

ac
co

un
tin

g
fa

cu
lty

 A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

fa
cu

lty
ad

op
te

d 
a

ne
w

43



    
 

 
 

 
 

ed
iti

on
 o

f t
he

 te
xt

bo
ok

 fo
rA

C
C

10
1

an
d 

A
C

C
10

2
fo

rt
he

en
tir

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g

de
pa

rtm
en

t e
ff

ec
tiv

e
fo

r
th

e
Fa

ll
20

15
 se

m
es

te
r

 A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

fa
cu

lty
ad

op
te

d 
a

ne
w

ed
iti

on
 o

f M
yA

cc
ou

nt
in

gL
ab

,a
w

eb
-

ba
se

d 
tu

to
ria

la
nd

as
se

ss
m

en
t

so
ftw

ar
e

de
ve

lo
pe

d
by

Pe
ar

so
n,

ef
fe

ct
iv

e
fo

rt
he

Fa
ll

20
15

 se
m

es
te

r.
Th

is
 so

ftw
ar

e 
al

lo
w

s i
ns

tru
ct

or
s t

o 
cr

ea
te

ho
m

ew
or

k
as

si
gn

m
en

ts
di

re
ct

ly
tie

d 
to

co
nc

ep
ts

co
ve

re
d 

in
 

th
e 

te
xt

bo
ok

.  
Th

e
ho

m
ew

or
k

ex
er

ci
se

s i
nc

lu
de

gu
id

ed
so

lu
tio

ns
to

he
lp

 st
ud

en
ts

 u
nd

er
st

an
d

an
d 

m
as

te
r 

co
n c

ep
ts

.  
 T

hi
s s

ys
te

m
 is

 k
no

w
n 

to
ha

ve
le

ss
co

nt
en

te
rr

or
st

ha
n 

th
e 

on
lin

e
ho

m
ew

or
k

sy
st

em
 p

re
vi

ou
sl

y
us

ed
by

th
e

de
pa

rtm
en

t.
 A

do
pt

ed
 st

an
da

rd
iz

ed
 p

ro
bl

em
s f

or
 

A
C

C
T 

10
1 

&
10

2
fo

rt
he

en
tir

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g

fa
cu

lty
as

 o
f t

he
Fa

ll
20

15
 se

m
es

te
r.

Sp
rin

g
20

15
D

ire
ct

In
di

re
ct

C
om

m
on

 p
ro

bl
em

s
as

si
gn

ed
 in

 
M

yA
cc

ou
nt

in
gL

ab
P 1

7-
30

A
an

d
P1

8-
33

A
m

ap
 to

 S
LO

s 1
 

an
d 

2;
 P

20
-3

7A
 m

ap
to

SL
O

s 3
, 4

 a
nd

 5
; 

P2
3-

28
A

 m
ap

s t
o

A
C

C
T 

10
2 

-
M

an
ag

er
ia

l
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g

75
%

SL
O

 #
1:

 9
2.

3%
SL

O
 #

2:
 9

2.
3%

 
SL

O
 #

3:
 9

1.
4%

 
SL

O
 #

4:
 9

1.
4%

 
SL

O
 #

5:
 9

1.
4%

 
SL

O
 #

6:
 9

0.
3%

 
SL

O
 #

7:
 9

0.
3%

 
SL

O
 #

8:
 8

7.
7%

St
ud

en
t p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

 o
r

ex
ce

ed
sb

en
ch

m
ar

k 
on

al
lS

LO
s.

R
ep

ea
t a

ss
es

sm
en

ti
n

Sp
rin

g
20

16
.

C
h a

ng
es

 in
co

ur
se

co
nt

en
t f

or
A

C
C

10
1

an
d 

A
C

C
10

2-
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
fa

cu
lty

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
a

st
an

da
rd

iz
ed

sy
lla

bu
s f

or
A

C
C

T 
10

1 
an

d 
A

C
C

T
10

2
an

d 
di

st
rib

ut
ed

 to
 a

ll 
ac

co
un

tin
g

44



 

A
ss

es
sm

en
tO

ve
rv

ie
w

Pr
og

ra
m

:
B

us
in

es
s

C
ur

re
nt

Y
ea

r:
20

15
-2

01
6

 
 

SL
O

s 6
 a

nd
 7

; P
26

-
 

 
SL

O
 #

9:
 8

1.
0%

fa
cu

lty
 

 
30

A
 m

ap
s t

o 
SL

O
 8

;
P1

4-
32

A
 m

ap
s 

to
 

SL
O

 9
; 

P1
5-

31
A

m
ap

s t
o 

SL
O

 1
0

 
 

SL
O

 #
10

:8
4.

0%
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

g
fa

cu
lty

ad
op

te
d 

a
ne

w
ed

iti
on

 o
f t

he
te

xt
bo

ok
 fo

rA
C

C
10

1
an

d 
A

C
C

10
2 

fo
rt

he
en

tir
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g
de

pa
rtm

en
t e

ff
ec

tiv
e

fo
r

th
e

Fa
ll

20
15

 se
m

es
te

r
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

g
fa

cu
lty

ad
op

te
d 

a
ne

w
ed

iti
on

 o
f M

yA
cc

ou
nt

in
gL

ab
,a

w
eb

-
ba

se
d 

tu
to

ria
la

nd
as

se
ss

m
en

t
so

ftw
ar

e
de

ve
lo

pe
d

by
Pe

ar
so

n,
ef

fe
ct

iv
e

fo
rt

he
Fa

ll
20

15
 se

m
es

te
r.

Th
is

 so
ftw

ar
e 

al
lo

w
s i

ns
tru

ct
or

s t
o 

cr
ea

te
ho

m
ew

or
k

as
si

gn
m

en
ts

di
re

ct
ly

tie
d 

to
co

nc
ep

ts
co

ve
re

d 
in

 
th

e 
te

xt
bo

ok
.  

Th
e

ho
m

ew
or

k
ex

er
ci

se
s i

nc
lu

de
gu

id
ed

so
lu

tio
ns

to
he

lp
 st

ud
en

ts
 u

nd
er

st
an

d
an

d 
m

as
te

r 
co

n c
ep

ts
.  

 T
hi

s s
ys

te
m

 is
 k

no
w

n 
to

 
ha

ve
le

ss
co

nt
en

te
rr

or
st

ha
n 

th
e

on
lin

e
ho

m
ew

or
k

sy
st

em
 p

re
vi

ou
sl

y
us

ed
by

th
e

de
pa

rtm
en

t.
 A

do
pt

ed
 st

an
da

rd
iz

ed
 p

ro
bl

em
s f

or
 

A
C

C
T 

10
1 

&
10

2
fo

rt
he

en
tir

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g

fa
cu

lty
as

 o
f t

he
Fa

ll
20

15
 se

m
es

te
r.

W
e

pl
an

 to
 a

ss
es

s t
hi

s o
ut

co
m

e 
ne

xt
in

 : 
Sp

rin
g

20
16

45



   
N

O
T

E
:  

W
he

re
ve

r p
os

si
bl

e,
 u

se
da

ta
fr

om
 2

01
4 

fo
rw

ar
d 

in
 th

is
 d

oc
um

en
t. 

O
nl

y 
go

 fu
rt

he
r b

ac
k

if
th

er
e

is
 n

o 
da

ta
 fr

om
 2

01
4-

20
15

. B
e

su
re

 to
go

 fo
rw

ar
d 

to
 2

01
5-

20
16

w
ith

yo
ur

 p
la

ns
 fo

r a
ss

es
si

ng
 th

is
 P

LO
.

Pr
og

ra
m

L
ea

rn
in

g 
O

ut
co

m
e

(P
L

O
):

2.
   

Ev
al

ua
te

ba
si

c
m

an
ag

er
ia

l a
nd

 m
ar

ke
tin

g
pr

ob
le

m
s a

nd
 d

ev
el

op
 so

lu
tio

ns
to

 th
em

.

Se
m

es
te

r(
s)

da
ta

w
as

/
w

ill
be

co
lle

ct
ed

D
ir

ec
t /

In
di

re
ct

(c
he

ck
bo

x—
m

us
t 

in
cl

ud
e 

m
ul

tip
le

di
re

ct
m

ea
su

re
s)

So
ur

ce
of

E
vi

de
nc

e
/

T
yp

e
of

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

(c
ou

rs
e-

le
ve

l
ev

id
en

ce
sh

ou
ld

 
cl

ea
rl

y
al

ig
n

w
ith

PL
O

 la
ng

ua
ge
—

us
e 

ke
y

w
or

ds
)

Po
pu

la
tio

n
(w

ho
 w

ill
be

as
se

ss
ed

)

B
en

ch
m

ar
k

R
es

ul
ts

(n
um

be
r o

fs
tu

de
nt

s
ac

tu
al

ly
as

se
ss

ed
an

d
w

ha
t p

er
ce

nt
ag

e
m

et
th

e 
be

nc
hm

ar
k)

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

(s
ho

ul
d

al
ig

n 
w

ith
/b

rie
fly

su
m

m
ar

iz
e

Te
ac

hi
ng

 &
 L

ea
rn

in
g

D
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n)

   Sp
rin

g
20

15

D
ire

ct

In
di

re
ct

C
om

m
on

 p
ro

bl
em

s
as

si
gn

ed
 in

 
M

yA
cc

ou
nt

in
gL

ab
P1

7-
30

A
an

d
P1

8-
33

A
 m

ap
 to

 S
LO

s 1
 

an
d 

2;
 P

20
-3

7A
 m

ap
to

SL
O

s 3
, 4

 a
nd

 5
; 

P2
3-

28
A

 m
ap

s t
o 

S L
O

s 6
 a

nd
 7

; P
26

-
30

A
 m

ap
s t

o 
SL

O
 8

; 
P1

4-
32

A
 m

ap
s t

o 
S L

O
 9

; P
15

-3
1A

m
ap

s t
o 

SL
O

 1
0

A
C

C
T

10
2

M
an

ag
er

ia
l

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

(6
 se

ct
io

ns
)

75
%

SL
O

 #
1:

 9
2.

3%
SL

O
 #

2:
 9

2.
3%

 
SL

O
 #

3:
 9

1.
4%

 
SL

O
 #

4:
 9

1.
4%

 
SL

O
 #

5:
 9

1.
4%

 
SL

O
 #

6:
 9

0.
3%

 
SL

O
 #

7:
 9

0.
3%

 
SL

O
 #

8:
 8

7.
7%

 
SL

O
 #

9:
 8

1.
0%

 
SL

O
 #

10
: 8

4.
0%

St
ud

en
t p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

 o
r

ex
ce

ed
s b

en
ch

m
ar

k 
on

al
lS

LO
s.

R
ep

ea
t a

ss
es

sm
en

ti
n

Sp
rin

g
20

16
.

 C
ha

ng
es

 in
co

ur
se

co
nt

en
t f

or
A

C
C

10
1

an
d 

A
C

C
10

2-
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
fa

cu
lty

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
a

st
an

da
rd

iz
ed

sy
lla

bu
s f

or
A

C
C

T 
10

1 
an

d 
A

C
C

T
10

2
an

d 
di

st
rib

ut
ed

 to
 a

ll 
ac

co
un

tin
g

fa
cu

lty
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

g
fa

cu
lty

ad
op

te
d 

a
ne

w
ed

iti
on

 o
f t

he
te

xt
bo

ok
 fo

rA
C

C
10

1
an

d 
A

C
C

10
2

fo
rt

he
en

tir
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g
de

pa
rtm

en
t e

ff
ec

tiv
e

fo
r

th
e

Fa
ll

20
15

 se
m

es
te

r
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

g
fa

cu
lty

ad
op

te
d 

a
ne

w
ed

iti
on

 o
f M

yA
cc

ou
nt

in
gL

ab
,a

w
eb

-
ba

se
d 

tu
to

ria
la

nd
as

se
ss

m
en

t

46



    
 

 
 

 
 

so
ftw

ar
e

de
ve

lo
pe

d
by

Pe
ar

so
n,

ef
fe

ct
iv

e
fo

rt
he

Fa
ll

20
15

 se
m

es
te

r.
Th

is
 so

ftw
ar

e 
al

lo
w

s i
ns

tru
ct

or
s t

o 
cr

ea
te

ho
m

ew
or

k
as

si
gn

m
en

ts
di

re
ct

ly
tie

d 
to

co
nc

ep
ts

co
ve

re
d 

in
 

th
e 

te
xt

bo
ok

.  
Th

e
ho

m
ew

or
k

ex
er

ci
se

s i
nc

lu
de

gu
id

ed
so

lu
tio

ns
to

he
lp

 st
ud

en
ts

 u
nd

er
st

an
d

an
d 

m
as

te
r 

co
n c

ep
ts

.  
 T

hi
s s

ys
te

m
 is

 k
no

w
n 

to
 

ha
ve

le
ss

co
nt

en
te

rr
or

st
ha

n 
th

e 
on

lin
e

ho
m

ew
or

k
sy

st
em

 p
re

vi
ou

sl
y

us
ed

by
th

e
de

pa
rtm

en
t.

Sp
rin

g
20

12
D

ire
ct

In
di

re
ct

1.
   

3 
m

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

 
qu

es
tio

n
2.

   
3 

m
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
 

qu
es

tio
n

3.
   

3 
m

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

 
qu

es
tio

n
4.

   
3 

m
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
 

qu
es

tio
n

5.
   

3 
m

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

 
qu

es
tio

n
6.

   
3 

m
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
 

qu
es

tio
n

M
N

G
T 

14
1 

-
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

 o
f

M
an

ag
em

en
t

75
%

1.
   

54
2.

   
53

3.
   

48
4.

   
42

5.
   

51
6.

   
65

[D
id

 n
ot

 m
ee

t b
en

ch
m

ar
k]

C
ou

rs
e

pr
es

en
ta

tio
n 

w
ill

 e
xp

an
d 

th
e 

di
sc

us
si

on
 o

fc
ur

re
nt

 b
us

in
es

s
m

an
ag

em
en

te
ve

nt
s a

nd
 is

su
es

an
d

re
qu

ire
st

ud
en

t i
nv

ol
ve

m
en

ti
n

an
al

yz
in

g
an

d
ap

pl
yi

ng
th

e
st

ud
en

t's
m

an
ag

er
ia

ld
ec

is
io

ns
.

Te
xt

bo
ok

ch
oi

ce
w

ill
co

ns
id

er
ne

w
ed

iti
on

s
an

d 
te

xt
st

o 
pr

ov
id

e 
st

ud
en

ts
 w

ith
 th

e 
te

xt
th

at
is

 b
es

t o
rg

an
iz

ed
 to

 h
av

e 
st

ud
en

ts
co

m
fo

rta
bl

e
in

un
de

rs
ta

nd
in

g
th

e 
or

ga
ni

za
tio

n'
s

in
te

rn
al

 a
nd

 e
xt

er
na

l e
nv

iro
nm

en
ts

an
d

ap
pl

yi
ng

th
at

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

to
 

m
ak

e
th

e 
be

st
 d

ec
is

io
ns

.
St

ud
en

ts
w

ill
be

en
co

ur
ag

ed
to

 u
til

iz
e

on
lin

e 
re

so
ur

ce
s, 

si
m

ul
at

io
ns

, p
ro

m
ot

e 
gr

ea
te

r s
tu

de
nt

in
vo

lv
em

en
ti

n
ca

se
 

an
al

ys
is

an
d 

pr
es

en
ta

tio
n.

Fa
cu

lty
w

ill
co

nf
er

en
ce

ea
ch

se
m

es
te

r t
o 

di
sc

us
s i

m
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

co
ur

se

47



    
 

 
 

 
 

re
vi

si
on

s,
ev

al
ua

te
ex

am
s a

nd
qu

iz
ze

s t
o 

be
ce

rta
in

th
ey

ar
e 

ac
cu

ra
te

ly
re

fle
ct

in
g

th
e

st
ud

en
t's

le
ve

l o
f m

an
ag

em
en

t k
no

w
le

dg
e

an
d

ab
i li

ty
to

 a
pp

ly
th

at
 k

no
w

le
dg

e
to

th
e 

re
al

 w
or

ld
;o

ng
oi

ng
m

od
ifi

ca
tio

ns
 o

f 
th

e
co

ur
se

w
ill

be
m

ad
e

ba
se

d 
on

 
th

os
e 

di
sc

us
si

on
s.

1.
Pu

tm
or

e
em

ph
as

is
 o

n 
de

fin
iti

on
s

an
d

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

2.
  U

se
m

or
e

R
ea

ct
io

n
Pa

pe
rs

3.
  C

on
tin

ue
us

e 
of

 q
ue

st
io

nn
ai

re
s

4.
U

se
m

or
e

m
in

i-c
as

es
5.

  H
av

e
co

nt
ac

te
d

U
.S

.G
ov

er
nm

en
t

P r
in

tin
g

O
ff

ic
e

fo
rb

ul
k

de
liv

er
y

of
pu

bl
ic

at
io

n 
w

ith
 d

is
c

of
Bu

ild
in

g
an

In
cl

us
iv

e
W

or
kf

or
ce

6.
C

on
tin

ue
te

xt
bo

ok
Fu

nd
am

en
ta

ls
of

M
an

ag
em

en
tb

y
R

ic
ky

G
rif

fin

Fa
ll

20
14

D
ire

ct
In

di
re

ct
1.

   
C

as
e

M
et

ho
d.

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

Es
sa

ys
.S

tu
de

nt
di

sc
us

si
on

 fo
ru

m
s

ju
dg

e
ch

ap
te

r 
re

ad
in

g
re

ac
tio

n
an

d
co

m
pr

eh
e n

si
on

. 
R

ub
ric

fo
rc

rit
ic

al
th

in
ki

ng
2.

2.
  

 E
ss

ay
s.

Pr
ob

le
m

so
lv

in
g

ex
er

ci
se

s
ba

se
d 

on

M
K

TG
13

1
-

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
 o

f
M

a r
ke

tin
g

75
%

1.
   

95
2.

   
99

3.
   

95
4.

   
95

5.
94

6.
   

98

St
ud

en
t p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

 o
r

ex
ce

ed
s b

en
ch

m
ar

ks
 o

n 
al

lS
LO

s.
F a

cu
lty

w
ill

co
nt

in
ue

to
 m

on
ito

r
an

d 
sh

ar
e

re
su

lts
 a

t d
ep

ar
tm

en
t

m
ee

tin
gs

.
M

or
e

tim
e 

w
ill

be
sp

en
t o

n 
m

ar
ke

tin
g

ca
se

 w
or

k.

48



    
 

w
eb

si
te

s.
C

as
es

3.
   

R
es

ea
rc

h
pr

oj
ec

t.
R

ub
ric

fo
r

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

lit
er

ac
y.

4.
   

C
as

e
M

et
ho

d.
A

ss
ig

nm
en

t
es

sa
ys

.S
tu

de
nt

di
sc

us
si

on
 fo

ru
m

s
ju

dg
e

ch
ap

te
r 

re
ad

in
g

re
ac

tio
n

an
d

co
m

pr
eh

e n
si

on
. 

R
ub

ric
fo

r
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
lit

er
ac

y.
5.

   
Es

sa
y

Ex
am

s.
Pr

es
en

ta
tio

ns
.

O
bj

ec
tiv

e
Te

st
s.

St
ud

en
t

di
sc

us
si

on
fo

ru
m

s
ju

dg
e

ch
ap

te
r 

re
ad

in
g

re
ac

tio
n

an
d

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

on
. 

R
ub

ric
fo

r
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

i o
n.

6.
   

C
as

e
M

et
ho

d.
A

ss
ig

nm
en

t
Es

sa
ys

.R
es

ea
rc

h
pr

oj
ec

ts
.

O
bj

ec
tiv

e
Te

st
s.

 
 

 
 

49



    
 

R
ub

ric
fo

r
qu

an
tit

at
iv

e
re

as
on

in
g

 
 

 
 

W
e

pl
an

 to
 a

ss
es

s t
hi

s o
ut

co
m

e 
ne

xt
in

 : 
Sp

rin
g

20
16

50



   
A

ss
es

sm
en

tO
ve

rv
ie

w
P
ro

gr
am

:
B

us
in

es
s

C
ur

re
nt

Y
ea

r:
20

15
-2

01
6

Pr
og

ra
m

L
ea

rn
in

.g
O

ut
co

m
e

(P
L

O
):

3.
  

U
til

iz
e 

co
m

m
on

bu
si

ne
ss

 t
ec

hn
ol

og
y

ef
fe

ct
iv

el
y.

Se
m

es
te

r(
s)

da
ta

w
as

! 
w

ill
be

 
co

Ue
ct

ed

D
ir

ec
tI

In
di

re
ct

So
ur

ce
of

E
vi

de
nc

eI
T

yp
e

of
A

ss
ig

nm
en

t
Po

pu
la

tio
n

B
en

ch
m

ar
k

R
es

ul
ts

A
ct

io
n

Pl
an

  
Sp

rin
g2

01
5

181
D

ire
ct

18
lln

di
re

ct
C

om
m

on
pr

ob
le

m
s

as
sig

ne
d

in
M

yA
cc

ou
nt

in
gl

ab
.

Pl
.5

4
m

ap
st

o
SL

O
1
;

P5
.3

4A
m

ap
s

to
SL

O
2;

P6
.3

3A
,P

9-
31

A,
P9

-3
2A

,
Pl

l-
26

A,
Pl

l-
27

A,
P1

2·
32

A
,P

12
-3

4A
an

d
P1

3·
38

A
m

ap
to

SL
O

3

AC
C

T1
01

·
Fi

na
nc

ia
l

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

(f
ou

rs
ec

tio
ns

)

75
%

SL
O

#1
:8

4.
9%

SL
O

#2
:8

7.
4%

 
SL

O
#3

:8
9.

2%

St
ud

en
tp

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

or
ex

ce
ed

s
be

nc
hm

ar
k 

on
al

lS
lO

s.
R

ep
ea

t
as

se
ss

m
en

ti
nS

pr
in

g
20

16
.

W
e

ar
e

w
or

ki
ng

on
im

pr
ov

in
gS

LO
#
ll

at
th

e
m

om
en

ta
nd

ar
e

ad
dr

es
sin

g
th

is
ou

tc
om

e
in

th
e

ne
xt

as
se

ss
m

en
tc

yc
le.

A
cc

ou
nt

in
gf

ac
ul

ty
de

ve
lo

pe
d

a
sta

nd
ar

di
ze

d
sy

lla
bu

sf
or

AC
CT

10
1

an
d

AC
CT

10
2

an
d

di
st

rib
ut

ed
to

al
l

ac
co

un
tin

g
fa

cu
lty

 A
cc

ou
nt

in
gf

ac
ul

ty
ad

op
te

d
a

ne
w

ed
iti

on
of

th
e

te
xt

bo
ok

fo
rA

CC
10

1
an

d
A

CC
10

2
fo

rt
he

en
tir

e
ac

co
un

tin
g

de
pa

rt
m

en
te

ff
ec

tiv
e

fo
rt

he
Fa

ll
20

15
 

se
m

es
te

r
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

gf
ac

ul
ty

ad
op

te
d

a
ne

w
ed

iti
on

of
M

yA
cc

ou
nt

in
gl

ab
,a

w
eb

-
ba

se
d

tu
to

ria
la

nd
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
of

tw
ar

e
de

ve
lo

pe
d

by
Pe

ar
so

n,
ef

fe
ct

iv
ef

or
th

e
Fa

ll
20

15
se

m
es

te
r.

Th
is

so
ftw

ar
e

al
lo

ws
in

st
ru

ct
or

s
to

cr
ea

te
ho

m
ew

or
k 

as
sig

nm
en

ts
di

re
ct

ly
tie

d
to

co
nc

ep
ts

co
ve

re
d

in
th

e
te

xt
bo

ok
.T

he
ho

m
ew

or
k 

ex
er

cis
es

in
cl

ud
e

gu
id

ed
so

lu
tio

ns
he

lp
st

ud
en

ts
un

de
rs

ta
nd

an
d

m
as

te
rc

on
ce

pt
s.

Th
is

sy
st

em
is

kn
ow

n

51



    
 

 
 

 
 

to
ha

ve
le

ss
co

nt
en

te
rr

or
s
th

an
th

e
on

lni
e

ho
m

ew
or

k
sy

st
em

pr
ev

io
us
ly

us
ed

by
th

e
de

pa
rt

m
en

t.
 Ad

op
te

d
st

an
da

rd
iz

ed
pr

ob
le

m
sf

or
AC

CT
10

1&
10

2
fo

rt
he

en
tir

e
ac

co
un

tn
g

fa
cu

lty
as

of
th

e
Fa

ll
20

15
 

se
m

es
te

r.
Fa

ll
20

11
18

1D
ire

ct
D
ln

d
re

ct
Se

ve
n

so
ur

ce
s
th

at
w

er
e 

ea
ch

co
m

pr
ise

d
of

th
re

e
m

ul
tp
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
ti

on

M
N

G
T1

21
-

Pr
nic
ip

le
s

of
M

an
ag

em
en

t

75
%

I.
78

2.
  

87
3.

  
74

4.
59

5.
  

63
6.

  
86

7.
90

M
ar

ke
tn

g
an

d
M

an
ag

em
en

t
St

ud
e
nt

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

m
ee

ts
or

ex
ce

ed
s

be
nc

hm
ar

k
on

al
lo

ft
he

S
O

s
ex

ce
p
t

S
O

s
ll

3,
11

4a
nd

115
.h

e
M

ar
ke

tn
g

an
d

M
an

ag
em

en
tD

ep
ar

tm
en

tf
ul

la
nd

pa
rt

 
tm

e
f.a

cu
lty

m
em

be
rs

ar
e

co
or

di
na

tn
g

th
ei

re
ff

or
ts

to
ad

dr
es

si
ss

ue
sr

el
at

ed
to

th
es

e
lo

w
-p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
S

O
sb

y
m

ak
in

g
in

st
ru

cti
on

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

an
d

in
co

rp
or

at
ng

m
or

e
on

lni
e

m
at

er
ial

si
n

th
e

cl
as

sr
oo

m
s.

Fa
ll

20
13

 
Ei

gh
ts

ou
rc

es
of

ev
id

en
ce

th
at

w
er

e
co

m
pr

ise
d

of
ei

th
er

m
ul

tp
le

ch
oi

ce
 

qu
es

tio
ns

,e
xa

m
s,

as
si

gn
ed

ho
m

ew
or

k,
or

ch
ap

te
rq

ui
zz

es
.

EC
ON

18
1-

Pr
nic
ip
le

s
of

Ec
on

om
ic

s
{M

ac
ro

ec
on

om
i

cs
)

75
%

1
.

46
2.

37
3.

43
4.

34
5.

64
6.

61
7.

47
8.

50

EC
O

N
fa

cu
lty

w
ill

de
ve
lo

p
a

de
pa

rt
m

en
ta
l

co
ur

se
sy

lla
bu

s
w

ith
mi

ni
m

um
co

ur
se

co
ve

ra
ge
.

Ec
on

fa
cu

lty
 

w
ill

de
ve

lo
p

a
co

m
pr

eh
en

siv
e

fn
al

ex
am

to
m

ea
su

re
al

lc
ou

rs
eS

LO
's
.

Ec
on

fa
cu

lty
w

ill
e

xp
er

mi
en

tw
ith

va
rio

us
in

st
ru

cti
on

al
m

et
ho

ds
to

en
ha

nc
e

st
ud

en
tl

ea
rn
in

g:
e.

g.
th

e
us

e
of

Co
nn

e
ct
,p

re
te

st
,a

nd
in

fo
rm

ati
on

al
ha

nd
o

ut
s.

 Fa
ll

20
14

 
Si

x
so

ur
ce

so
fe

vi
de

nc
e 

th
at

w
er

e
ea

ch
co

m
pr

ise
d

of
th

re
e

m
ul

tp
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
ti

on
s.

M
N

G
T

14
2

-
M

an
ag

em
en

t
I
nf

or
m

ati
on

Sy
st

em
s

75
%

1
.

84
2.

88
3.

86
4.

87
5.

92
6.

89

St
ud

en
tp

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

or
ex

ce
ed

s
be

nc
h

m
ar

k
on

al
lS

O
s.

Fa
cu

lty
w

ill
co

nt
nu

e
to

m
on

ito
ra

nd
sh

ar
e

re
su

lts
at

de
pa

rt
m

en
tm

ee
tn

gs
.M

or
e
tm

e
w

ill
be

sp
en

to
n

th
e

m
aj

or
to

ol
si

n
in

fo
rm

ati
on

sy
st

em
st

o
fu

rt
he

ri
nc

re
as

e
SL

O
11
1

an
d
II

3.
W

e
pl

an
to

as
se

ss
th
is

ou
tc

om
e

ne
xt
in

:S
pr

ni
g

20
16

52



   
A

ss
es

sm
en

t
O

ve
rv

ie
w

Pr
og

ra
m
:

B
us

in
es

s
C

ur
re

nt
Y

ea
r:

20
15

-2
01

6

N
O

T
E
:

'W
he

re
ve

r
po

ss
ib

le,
us

e
da

ta
fro

m
20

14
fo

rw
ar

d
in

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t.
O

nl
y

go
.fi

n'
th

er
ba

ck
ift

he
re

is
no

da
ta

fro
m

20
14

-2
01

5.
Be

sw
e

to
go

fo
rw

ar
d

to
20

15
-2

01
6

w
ith

yo
w

pl
an

s
for

as
se

ss
in

g
th

is
P

LO
.

Pr
og

ra
m

Le
ar

ni
ng

O
ut

co
m

e
(P

L
O

):
4.

  
D

ev
elo

p
an

d
w

rit
e

an
el

em
en

ta
ry

m
ar

ke
tin

g
th

at
co

ns
id

er
s

th
e

ec
on

om
ic

an
d

so
ci

al
im

pa
ct

s.
Se

m
es

te
r(

s)
da

ta
 w

as
!

w
ill

be
co

Ue
ct

ed

D
ire

ct
I

In
di

re
ct

(c
he

ck
 

bo
x-

m
us

t
in

cl
ud

e
m

ul
tip

le
 

di
re

ct
 

m
ea

su
re

s )

So
ur

ce
of

E
vi

de
nc

eI
Ty

pe
of

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

(c
ou

rs
e-

le
ve

l
ev

id
en

ce
sh

ou
ld

 
cl

ea
rl

y
al

ig
n

w
it

h 
PL

O
la

ng
ua

ge
-u

se
ke

y
w

or
ds

)

Po
pu

la
tio

n
(w

ho
wi

ll
be

as
se

ss
ed

)

B
en

ch
m

ar
k

R
es

ul
ts

(n
um

be
ro

fs
tu

de
nt

s 
ac

tu
al

ly
as

se
ss

ed
an

d
w

h.l
tp

er
ce

nt
ag

e
m

et
 

th
e

be
nc

hm
ar

k)

A
ct

io
n

Pl
an

(s
ho

ul
d

al
ig

n
wi

th
/b

rie
fly

su
m

m
ar

iz
e

Te
ac

hi
ng

&
Le

ar
ni

ng
D

oc
um

en
ta

tio
n)

Fa
ll

20
14

18
1D

ire
ct

D
ln

di
re

ct
1.

  
Ca

se
M

et
ho

d.
A

ss
ig

nm
en

t
Es

sa
ys

.S
tu

de
nt

di
sc

us
si

on
fo

ru
m

s
ju

dg
e

ch
ap

te
r 

re
ad

in
g

re
ac

tio
n

an
d 

co
m

pr
eh

en
sio

n.
R

ub
ric

fo
rc

rit
ic

al
 

th
in

ki
ng

.
2.

  
Es

sa
ys

.P
ro

bl
em

so
lv

in
g

ex
er

ci
se

s 
ba

se
d

on
w

eb
si

te
s.

C
as

es
.

3.
  

R
ese

ar
ch

pr
oj

ec
t.

R
ub

ric
fo

r 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
lit

er
ac

y.
4.

  
C

as
e

M
et

ho
d.

M
K

TG
13

1
-

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
of

M
ar

ke
tin

g

75
%

1.
 

95
2.

99
3.

95
4.

 
95

5.
94

6.
98

St
ud

en
tp

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

or
ex

ce
ed

s
be

nc
hm

ar
ks

on
al

lS
lO

s.
Fa

cu
lty

w
ill

co
nt

in
ue

to
m

on
ito

ra
nd

sh
ar

e
re

su
lts

at
de

pa
rtm

en
tm

ee
tin

gs
.M

or
et

im
ew

ill
be

sp
en

to
n

m
ar

ke
tin

gc
as

ew
or

k.

53



    
 

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

es
sa

ys
.S

tu
de

nt
 

di
sc

us
si

on
fo

ru
m

s
ju

dg
e

ch
ap

te
r 

re
ad

in
g

re
ac

tio
n

an
d 

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

on
.

R
ub

ric
fo

r
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
lit

er
ac

y.
5.

  
Es

sa
y

Ex
am

s.
Pr

es
en

ta
tio

ns
. 

O
bj

ec
tiv

e
Te

sts
.

St
ud

en
t

di
sc

us
si

on
fo

ru
m

s
ju

dg
e

ch
ap

te
r 

re
ad

in
g

re
ac

tio
n

an
d 

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

on
.

R
ub

ric
fo

r
ef

fe
ct

iv
e

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n.

6.
  

Ca
se

M
et

ho
d.

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

Es
sa

ys
.

R
es

ea
rc

h 
pr

oj
ec

ts
. 

O
bj

ec
tiv

e
Te

st
s.

R
ub

ric
fo

r
qu

an
tit

at
iv

e
re

as
on

in
g.

 
 

 
 

W
e

pl
an

to
as

se
ss

th
is

ou
tc

om
e

ne
xt

in
:S

pr
in

g
20

16

54



   
A

ss
es

sm
en

t
O

ve
rv

ie
w

Pr
og

ra
m
:

B
us

in
es

s
C

ur
re

nt
Y

ea
r:

20
15

-2
01

6

Pr
og

ra
m

Le
ar

ni
ng

O
ut

co
m

e 
(P

L
O

):
5.

A
pp

ly
qu

an
tit

at
iv

e
m

et
ho

ds
to

so
lv

e
co

m
m

on
bu

si
ne

ss
pr

ob
le

m
s.

Se
m

es
te

r(
s)

da
ta

 w
as

!
w

ill
be

co
Ue

ct
ed

D
ire

ct
I

In
di

re
ct

(c
he

ck
 

bo
x-

m
us

t 
in

cl
ud

e 
m

ul
tip

le
 

di
re

ct
m

ea
su

re
s)

So
ur

ce
of

E
vi

de
nc

eI
Ty

pe
of

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

(c
ou

rs
e-l

ev
el

 e
vi

de
nc

e
sh

ou
ld

cl
ea

rly
al

ig
n

\v
ith

PL
O

la
ng

ua
ge

-u
se

ke
y

w
or

ds
)

Po
pu

la
ti

on
(w

ho
\v

ill
be

as
se

ss
ed

)

B
en

ch
m

ar
k

R
es

ul
ts

(n
um

be
ro

fs
tu

de
nt

s 
ac

tu
al

ly
as

se
ss

ed
an

d
wh

at
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

m
et

th
e

be
nc

hm
ar

k)

A
ct

io
n

Pl
an

(s
ho

ul
d

al
ig

n
w

ith
/b

rie
fly

su
m

m
ar

iz
e

Te
ac

hi
ng

&
Le

ar
ni

ng
D

oc
um

en
ta

tio
n)

Sp
rin

g
20

15
D

D
ire

ct
D

ln
di

re
ct

C
om

m
on

pr
ob

le
m

s
as

si
gn

ed
in

M
yA

cc
ou

nt
in

gL
ab

.
P

l7
-3

0A
an

d
P1

8-
33

A
m

ap
to

SL
O

s
1

an
d

2;
P2

0-
37

A
m

ap
to

SL
O

s
3,

4
an

d
5;

P2
3-

28
A

m
ap

s
to

SL
O

s
6

an
d 

7;
P2

6-
30

A
m

ap
s

to
SL

O
8;

P1
4-

32
A

m
ap

s
to

SL
O

9;
P1

5-
31

A
m

ap
s

to
SL

O
10

A
C

CT
10

2
M

an
ag

er
i

al A
cc

ou
nt

i 
ng (6 se

ct
io

ns
)

75
%

SL
O

#l
92

.3
%

SL
0

#2
92

.3
%

 
SL

0
#3

91
.4

%
 

SL
0

#4
91

.4
%

 
SL

0
#5

91
.4

%
 

SL
0

#6
90

.3
%

 
SL

0
#7

90
.3

%
 

SL
0

#8
87

.7
%

SL
0

#9
81

.0
%

SL
O

#1
0

84
.0

%

St
ud

en
t

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

m
ee

ts
or

ex
ce

ed
sb

en
ch

m
ar

k
on

al
lS

LO
s. 

W
e

ar
e

w
or

ki
ng

on
im

pr
ov

in
g

SL
O

#9
at

th
e

m
om

en
ta

nd
ar

e
ad

dr
es

si
ng

th
is

ou
tc

om
e

in
th

e
ne

xt
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
cy

cl
e.

R
ep

ea
ta

ss
es

sm
en

t
in

Sp
rin

g
20

16
.

 A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

fa
cu

lty
de

ve
lo

pe
d

a
st

an
da

rd
iz

ed
sy

lla
bu

s
fo

r
A

C
CT

10
1

an
d

A
C

CT
10

2
an

d
di

st
rib

ut
ed

to
al

l 
ac

co
un

tin
g

fa
cu

lty
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

g
fa

cu
lty

ad
op

te
d

a
ne

w
ed

iti
on

of
th

e
te

xt
bo

ok
fo

r
A

C
C

10
1

an
d

A
C

C
10

2
fo

rt
he

en
tir

e
ac

co
un

tin
g

de
pa

rtm
en

te
ff

ec
tiv

ef
or

th
e

Fa
ll

20
15

se
m

es
te

r
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

g
fa

cu
lty

ad
op

te
d

a
ne

w
ed

iti
on

of
M

yA
cc

ou
nt

in
gL

ab
,a

w
eb

-
ba

se
d

tu
to

ria
la

nd
as

se
ss

m
en

t

55



  
 

 
 

 
 

so
ft

w
ar

ed
ev

el
op

ed
by

Pe
ar

so
n,

ef
fe

ct
iv

ef
or

th
eF

al
l2

01
5

se
m

es
te

r.
Th

is
so

ft
w

ar
e

al
lo

ws
in

st
ru

ct
or

s
to

cr
ea

te
ho

m
ew

or
k

as
si

gn
m

en
ts

di
re

ct
ly

tie
d

to
co

nc
ep

ts
co

ve
re

d
in

 
th

e
te

xt
bo

ok
.

Th
e

ho
m

ew
or

k 
ex

er
ci

se
s

in
cl

ud
e

gu
id

ed
so

lu
tio

ns
he

lp
st

ud
en

ts
un

de
rs

ta
nd

an
d

m
as

te
r 

co
nc

ep
ts

.
Th

is
sy

st
em

 i
s

kn
ow

n
to

ha
ve

les
s 

co
nt

en
te

rro
rs

th
an

th
e 

on
lin

e
ho

m
ew

or
k

sy
st

em
pr

ev
io

us
ly

us
ed

by
th

e
de

pa
rt

m
en

t.
 A

do
pt

ed
st

an
da

rd
iz

ed
pr

ob
le

m
s

fo
r

A
C

C
T

10
1

&
10

2
fo

rt
he

en
ti

re
 

ac
co

un
tin

g
fa

cu
lty

as
of

th
e

Fa
ll

20
15

se
m

es
te

r.

Fa
ll

20
14

18
1D

ire
ct

D
in

di
re

ct
1.

St
ud

en
ts

ar
e

in
tro

du
ce

d
in

le
ct

ur
e

an
d

ex
er

ci
se

s
to

th
e

ro
le

an
im

po
rt

an
ce

of
st

at
is

tic
al

 
an

al
ys

is
, 

in
bu

si
ne

ss
de

ci
si

on
m

ak
in

g
2.

A
va

rie
ty

of
te

st
qu

es
tio

ns
ar

e
us

ed
th

at
 

re
.qu

ire
us

in
g 

 su
m

m
ar

y 
m

et
ho

d
of

st
at

is
tic

al
 

an
al

ys
is

fo
r

bo
th

 
qu

al
ita

tiv
e

an
d 

qu
an

tit
at

iv
e

da
ta

.
3.

St
ud

en
ts

ar
e

te
st

ed
on

si
m

pl
e

pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
an

d 
pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

di
st

rib
ut

io
n

us
in

g 
a

va
rie

ty
of

te
st

 
qu

es
tio

ns
4.

St
ud

en
ts

ar
e

te
st

ed
on

EC
O

N
11

2
-

St
at

is
tic

s
I

75
%

1.
84

2.
78

3.
67

4.
69

5.
  

65
6.

  
10

0

EC
O

N
 f

ac
ul

ty
\v

ill
de

ve
lo

p
a

m
an

da
to

ry
de

pa
rt

m
en

ta
ls

yl
la

bu
s

\v
ith

m
in

im
um

 c
ou

rs
e

co
ve

ra
ge

.T
he

fa
cu

lty
\v

ill
us

e
a

re
qu

ire
d 

de
pa

rt
m

en
ta

le
xa

m
to

ac
ce

ss
al

l
co

ur
se

SL
O
's

.F
ac

ul
ty

\v
ill

ex
pe

rim
en

t
\v

ith
va

rio
us

de
liv

er
y 

m
et

ho
ds

,e
.g

.
us

in
g 

C
on

ne
ct

to
en

ha
nc

e
st

ud
en

tl
e.a

rn
in

g,
pr

et
es

ts
,

an
d

in
fo

rm
at

io
na

lh
an

do
ut

s.

                                               
n

56



       
 

va
rio

us
di

sc
re

te
an

d
co

nt
in

uo
us

di
st

rib
ut

io
n

a
se

ri
es

of
pr

ob
le

m
s

an
d 

m
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

ns
.

5.
  

St
ud

en
ts

so
lv

e
pr

ob
le

m
s

in
a

te
st

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t

on
es

tim
at

io
n

an
d 

hy
po

th
es

is
tes

tin
g

as
w

el
la

s
m

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
ns

.
6.

  
C

ou
rs

es
ar

e
ta

ug
ht

in
a

co
m

pu
te

riz
ed

cl
as

sr
oo

m
an

d
st

ud
en

ts
le

ar
n

to
us

e
ex

ce
l

to
ge

ne
ra

te
 

de
sc

ri
pt

iv
e

st
at

is
tic

an
d 

hy
po

th
es

is
te

st
in

g.
W

e
pl

an
to

as
se

ss
th

is
ou

tc
om

e
ne

xt
in

:S
pr

in
g

20
16

57



   
A

ss
es

sm
en

tO
ve

rv
ie

w
Pr

og
ra

m
:

B
us

in
es

s
A

dm
in

is
tr

at
io

n
C

ur
re

nt
Y

ea
r:

20
15

-2
01

6

N
O

TE
:

W
he

re
ve

r
po

ss
ib

le
,u

se
da

ta
fro

m
20

14
fo

rw
ar

d
in

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t.
O

nl
y

go
fu

rth
er

ba
ck

ift
he

re
is

no
da

ta
fro

m
20

14
-2

01
5.

Be
su

re
to

go
fo

rw
ar

d
to

20
15

-2
01

6w
ith

yo
ur

pl
an

sf
or

as
se

ss
in

g
th

is
PL

O
.

Pr
og

ra
m

L
ea

rn
in

g
O

ut
co

m
e

(P
LO

):
1.

Pr
ep

ar
e,

an
al

yz
e,

in
te

rp
re

ta
nd

di
sc

us
sa

n
en

tit
y'

sb
as

ic
fi

na
nc

ia
ls

ta
te

m
en

ts
ve

rb
al

ly
an

d
in

w
ri

tin
g.

Se
m

es
te

r(
s)

da
ta

w
as

/
w

ill
be

co
lle

ct
ed

D
ir

ec
t
I

In
di

re
ct

 
(c

he
ck

 
bo

x-
m

us
t 

in
cl

ud
e 

m
ul

tip
le

 
di

re
ct

m
ea

su
re

s)

So
ur

ce
of

E
vi

de
nc

e/
Ty

pe
of

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

(c
ou

rs
e-

le
ve

l
ev

id
en

ce
sh

ou
ld

 
cl

ea
rly

al
ign

w
ith

PL
O

la
ng

ua
ge

-u
se

ke
y

w
or

ds
)

Po
pu

la
tio

n
(w

ho
 w

ill
be

 
as

se
ss

ed
)

B
en

ch
m

ar
k

R
es

ul
ts

(n
um

be
ro

f
st

ud
en

ts
 a

ct
ua

lly
as

se
ss

ed
  a

nd
w

ha
t

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
m

et
th

e
be

nc
hm

ar
k)

A
ct

io
n

P
la

n
(s

ho
ul

d
al

ig
n

w
it

h/
br

ie
fl

y
su

m
m

ar
iz

e 
T

ea
ch

in
g

&
L

ea
rn

in
g 

D
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n)

Sp
ri

ng
20

15
D

ire
ct

D
in

di
re

ct
C

om
m

on
pr

ob
le

m
s 

as
si

gn
ed

in
 

M
yA

cc
ou

nt
in

gL
a\:

f 
P1

.5
4

m
ap

s
to

SL
O

1;
P5

.3
4A

m
ap

st
o

SL
O

2;
P6

.3
3A

,P
9-

31
A

,P
9-

32
A

,P
11

-
26

A
,P

11
-2

7A
,P

12
-

32
A

,P
12

-3
4A

an
d

P1
3-

38
A

m
ap

to
SL

O
3

A
C

C
T

10
1

-
Fi

na
nc

ia
l 

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

75
%

S
L

0
#1

:8
4.

9%
SL

O
#2

:8
7.

4%
 

SL
O

#3
:8

9.
2%

St
ud

en
tp

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

or
 

ex
ce

ed
sb

en
ch

m
ar

ko
n

al
lS

LO
s.

W
e 

ar
e

w
or

ki
ng

on
im

pr
ov

in
gS

LO
#1

at
 

th
e

m
om

en
ta

nd
ar

e
ad

dr
es

si
ng

th
is

 
ou

tc
om

ei
n

th
e

ne
xt

as
se

ss
m

en
t

cy
cl

e.
R

ep
ea

ta
ss

es
sm

en
ti

n
Sp

ri
ng

20
16

.A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

fa
cu

lty
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

a
st

an
da

rd
iz

ed
sy

lla
bu

sf
or

A
C

C
T

10
1

an
d

A
C

C
T

10
2

an
d

di
st

ri
bu

te
d

to
al

la
cc

ou
nt

in
g

fa
cu

lty
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

gf
ac

ul
ty

ad
op

te
d

a
ne

w
 

ed
iti

on
of

th
e

te
xt

bo
ok

fo
rA

C
C

10
1

an
d

A
C

C
10

2
fo

r
th

ee
nt

ire
ac

co
un

tin
g

de
pa

rt
m

en
te

ff
ec

tiv
ef

or
 

th
eF

al
l2

01
5

se
m

es
te

r
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

gf
ac

ul
ty

ad
op

te
d

a
ne

w

58



    
 

 
 

 
 

ed
iti

on
of

M
yA

cc
ou

nt
in

gL
ab

,a
w

eb
-

ba
se

d
tu

to
ria

la
nd

as
se

ss
m

en
t 

so
ftw

ar
ed

ev
el

op
ed

by
Pe

ar
so

n,
ef

fe
ct

iv
ef

or
th

eF
al

l2
01

5
se

m
es

te
r.

Th
is

so
ftw

ar
ea

llo
w

si
ns

tru
ct

or
s

to
 

cr
ea

te
ho

m
ew

or
k

as
si

gn
m

en
ts

 
di

re
ct

ly
tie

d
to

co
nc

ep
ts

co
ve

re
d

in
th

e
te

xt
bo

ok
. 

Th
e

ho
m

ew
or

k 
ex

er
ci

se
s

in
cl

ud
e

gu
id

ed
so

lu
tio

ns
 

he
lp

st
ud

en
ts

un
de

rs
ta

nd
an

d
m

as
te

r 
co

nc
ep

ts
.

Th
is

sy
st

em
is

kn
ow

n
to

 
ha

ve
le

ss
co

nt
en

te
rr

or
st

ha
n

th
e 

on
lin

e
ho

m
ew

or
k

sy
st

em
pr

ev
io

us
ly

us
ed

by
th

e
de

pa
rtm

en
t

 A
do

pt
ed

st
an

da
rd

iz
ed

pr
ob

lem
s

fo
r 

A
C

C
T

10
1

&
10

2f
or

th
ee

nt
ir

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g

fa
cu

lty
as

of
th

e
Fa

ll
20

15
se

m
es

te
r.

Sp
rin

g2
01

5
D

ire
ct

D
in

di
re

ct
C

om
m

on
pr

ob
le

m
s 

as
si

gn
ed

in
M

yA
cc

ou
nt

in
gL

ab
 

P1
7-

30
A

an
dP

18
-

33
A

m
ap

to
SL

O
s

1
an

d2
;P

20
-3

7A
m

ap
 

to
SL

O
s

3,
4

an
d

5;
P2

3-
28

A
m

ap
st

o 
SL

O
s

6 
an

d
7;

P2
6-

30
A

m
ap

st
o

SL
O

8;
P1

4-
32

A
m

ap
s 

to
 

S
L

09
;P

15
-3

1A
m

ap
st

o
SL

O
10

A
C

C
T

10
2

-
M

an
ag

er
ia

l
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g

75
%

SL
O

#1
:9

2.
3%

 
SL

O
#2

:9
2.

3%
 

SL
O

#3
:9

1.
4%

SL
O

#4
:9

1.
4%

SL
O

#5
:

91
.4

%
SL

O
#6

:
90

.3
%

 
SL

O
#7

:
90

.3
%

 
SL

O
 

#8
:8

7.
7%

 
SL

O
 

#9
:8

1.
0%

 
SL

O
#1

0:
84

.0
%

St
ud

en
tp

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

or
 

ex
ce

ed
sb

en
ch

m
ar

ko
n

al
lS

LO
s.

W
e

ar
e

w
or

ki
ng

on
im

pr
ov

in
g

SL
O

 #
9

at
 

th
e

m
om

en
ta

nd
ar

ea
dd

re
ss

in
g

th
is

ou
tc

om
e

in
th

e 
ne

xt
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
cy

cl
e.

R
ep

ea
ta

ss
es

sm
en

ti
n

Sp
rin

g
20

16
.

A
cc

ou
nt

in
gf

ac
ul

ty
de

ve
lo

pe
d

a
st

an
da

rd
iz

ed
sy

lla
bu

s
fo

rA
C

C
T

10
1

an
d

A
C

C
T

10
2

an
d

di
st

rib
ut

ed
to

al
l 

ac
co

un
tin

g
fa

cu
lty

 A
cc

ou
nt

in
gf

ac
ul

ty
ad

op
te

d
an

ew
ed

iti
on

of
th

e
te

xt
bo

ok
fo

r
A

C
C

10
1

an
d

A
C

C
10

2
fo

rt
he

en
tir

e
ac

co
un

tin
g

de
pa

rtm
en

te
ff

ec
tiv

e
fo

r 
th

e
Fa

ll
20

15
se

m
es

te
r

59



    
 

 
 

 
 

 A
cc

ou
nt

in
gf

ac
ul

ty
ad

op
te

d
a

ne
w

ed
iti

on
of

M
yA

cc
ou

nt
in

gL
ab

,a
w

eb
-

ba
se

d
tu

to
ri

al
an

d
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
so

ftw
ar

ed
ev

el
op

ed
by

Pe
ar

so
n,

ef
fe

ct
iv

ef
or

th
e

Fa
ll2

01
5

se
m

es
te

r.
Th

is
so

ftw
ar

ea
llo

w
s

in
st

ru
ct

or
s

to
cr

ea
te

ho
m

ew
or

ka
ss

ig
nm

en
ts

 
di

re
ct

ly
tie

d
to

co
nc

ep
ts

co
ve

re
d

in
 

th
e

te
xt

bo
ok

. 
Th

e
ho

m
ew

or
k 

ex
er

ci
se

s
in

cl
ud

eg
ui

de
d

so
lu

tio
ns

 
he

lp
st

ud
en

ts
un

de
rs

ta
nd

an
d

m
as

te
r 

co
nc

ep
ts

.
Th

is
sy

st
em

is
kn

ow
n

to
 

ha
ve

le
ss

co
nt

en
te

rr
or

s
th

an
th

e 
on

lin
eh

om
ew

or
ks

ys
te

m
pr

ev
io

us
ly

us
ed

by
th

e
de

pa
rt

m
en

t
 A

do
pt

ed
st

an
da

rd
iz

ed
pr

ob
le

m
s

fo
r 

A
C

C
T

10
1

&
10

2f
or

th
ee

nt
ir

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g

fa
cu

lty
as

of
th

e
Fa

ll
20

15
se

m
es

te
r.

W
e

pl
an

to
as

se
ss

th
is

ou
tc

om
en

ex
ti

n
:S

pr
in

g
20

16

60



 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
Pr

og
ra

m
:

B
us

in
es

s
A

(b
ni

ni
str

at
io

n
C

m
n

nt
Y

ea
r:

20
15

-2
01

6

N
O

T
E
:

'W
he

re
ve

r
po

ss
ib

le
,

us
e 

da
ta

fr
om

20
14

fo
rw

ar
d

in
th

is 
do

cu
m

en
t.

O
nl

y
go

fU
rt

he
r

ba
ck

if
th

er
e

is
no

da
ta

fr
om

20
14

-2
01

5.
Be

su
re

to
 

go
fo

rw
ar

d
to

20
15

-2
01

6
w

ith
yo

ur
 p

la
ns

fo
r

as
se

ss
in

g
th

is
P

L
O

.

Pr
og

ra
m

L
ea

rn
in

g
O

ut
co

m
e

(P
L

O
):

2.
  

D
isc

us
s

th
el

eg
al

,e
co

no
m

ic
an

d
so

ci
al

im
pa

ct
of

bu
sin

es
s

de
ci

si
on

s

S
em

es
te

r(
s)

da
ta

w
as

/ 
w

ill
be

co
Ue

ct
ed

D
ir

ec
tI

In
di

re
ct

(c
he

ck
 

bo
x- m
us

t
in

cl
ud

e 
m

ul
tip

le
di

re
ct

m
ea

su
re

s)

So
ur

ce
of

E
vi

de
nc

eI
T

yp
e

of
A

ss
ig

nm
en

t
(c

ou
rs

e-
le

ve
l

ev
id

en
ce

sh
ou

ld
 

cl
ea

rl
y

al
ig

n 
\v

ith
PL

O
la

ng
ua

ge
-

us
e

ke
y

w
or

ds
)

P
op

ul
at

io
n

(w
ho

w
ill

be
as

se
ss

ed
)

B
en

ch
m

ar
k

R
es

ul
ts

(n
um

be
r

of
st

ud
en

ts
ac

tu
al

ly
as

se
ss

ed
an

d
w

ha
t

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
m

et
th

e
be

nc
hm

ar
k)

A
ct

io
n

Pl
an

(s
ho

ul
d

al
ig

n
w

ith
/b

rie
fly

su
m

m
ar

iz
e

T
ea

ch
in

g
&

Le
ar

ni
ng

D
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n)

Fa
D

20
14

 
M

N
G

T
fa

cu
lty

to
pr

ov
id

e
in

pu
t

he
re

M
N

G
T

26
2

(B
us

in
es

s
L

aw
)

St
ud

en
ts

ar
e 

ex
pe

ct
ed

to
pe

rf
or

m
 a

ta
m1

ru
m

um
 

qu
al

ity
le

ve
l 

of
7

0%
.

 St
ud

en
ts

m
us

t
be

ab
le

to
ap

pl
y

th
ei

r 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

i
ng

of
bu

si
ne

ss
la

w
to

re
al

 
bu

si
ne

ss
si

tu
at

io
ns

.

A
ct

ua
lq

ua
lit

y
le

ve
l

of
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
fo

r
th

e
lo

w
es

ts
co

ri
ng

cl
as

s
w

as
85

.2
%

.
 St

ud
en

tp
er

fo
rm

an
ce

is
ab

ov
e

ex
pe

ct
ed

 
st

ud
en

t
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
le

ve
l;

al
l

bu
si

ne
ss

co
ur

se
s

sh
ou

ld
 

pr
od

uc
e

th
is

le
ve

lo
f

qu
al

ity
an

d
ab

ili
ty

to
ap

pl
y

m
at

er
ia

l.

As
a

re
su

lt
of

th
e

in
iti

al
SL

O
as

se
ss

m
en

ts
an

d
ev

al
ua

tio
n,

w
e

ha
ve

in
te

gr
at

ed
th

e
U

ni
fo

rm
C

om
m

er
cia

l
Co

de
se

ct
io

ns
as

th
ey

ap
pe

ar
in

th
e

st
at

ut
es

an
d

re
q

ui
re

an
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g

of
an

no
ta

tio
ns

to
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

cs
ta

tu
te

se
ct

io
ns
.T

ha
tt

es
te

d
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g

is
a

ch
all

en
ge

to
ap

pr
ox

im
at

ely
20

%
of

t h
e

st
ud

en
ts

ta
ki

ng
th

is
co

ur
se
.

W
e

ar
e

co
nt

in
ui

ng
to

de
ve

lo
pa

nd
te

st
te

ac
hi

ng
te

ch
ni

q
ue

st
ha

tw
ill

pr
ov

id
e

fo
ra

1
00

%
co

m
fo

rt
le

ve
la

m
on

g
st

ud
en

ts
.

Re
al

bu
sin

es
s,

go
ve

rn
m

en
t

an
d

co
ns

um
er

ap
pl

ica
tio

ns
re

la
te

d
to

st
ud

en
te

xp
er

ie
nc

e
ha

ve
pr

es
en

ted
th

e
hi

gh
es

tl
ev

el
of

su
cc

es
s

 
Fa

cu
lty

w
ill

co
nt

in
ue

to
w

or
k 

to
wa

rd
th

e
us

e
of

a
co

m
m

on
sy

lla
bu

sb
y

al
lf

ul
l-t

im
e

an
d

pa
rt

-

                                                
n

61



    
 

 
 

 
 

tim
e

fa
cu

lty
.

Al
lf

ac
ul

ty
w

ill
im

pl
em

en
t

th
e

co
m

m
on

sy
lla

bu
sf

or
th

e
sp

ri
ng

20
16

se
m

es
te

r
w

ith
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tt

ha
t

on
lin

e/
di

st
an

ce
le

ar
ni

ng
co

ur
se

sa
nd

in
di

vi
du

al
in

st
ru

ct
or

s
w

ill
ha

ve
th

e
op

tio
n

to
va

ry
up

to
20

%
of

th
e

sy
lla

bu
sc

on
te

nt
pr

ov
id

ed
th

at
al

l
bu

si
ne

ss
la

w
fa

cu
lty

co
ve

r
10

0%
of

th
e

lis
te

d
co

ur
se

co
nt

en
t

to
pi

cs
.

 Fa
cu

lty
ha

ve
im

pl
em

en
te

d
a

co
m

m
on

te
xt

bo
ok

to
ha

ve
co

nt
in

ui
ng

ag
re

em
en

ta
nd

ar
tic

ul
at

io
n

of
tr

an
sf

er
ab

ili
ty

of
th

e
bu

si
ne

ss
la

w
co

ur
se

to
te

m
pl

e
un

iv
er

si
ty

.
Fa

cu
lty

ha
ve

ag
re

ed
to

us
e

th
e

Ho
dg

e
te

xt
th

ro
ug

h
sp

ri
ng

20
16

se
m

es
te

ra
nd

th
en

co
ns

id
er

a
m

or
e

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
an

d
be

tte
r

re
fe

re
nc

e
te

xt
re

ga
rd

le
ss

of
th

e
po

ss
ib

le
ne

ga
tiv

e
ef

fe
ct

on
te

m
pl

e
tr

an
sf

er
ab

ili
ty

.
 Fa

cu
lty

w
ill

co
nt

in
ue

to
di

sc
us

s
an

d
im

pl
em

en
t

a
ne

ed
ed

hi
gh

le
ve

lo
f

se
ns

iti
vi

ty
to

th
e

ve
ry

di
ve

rs
e

m
ak

e-
up

of
ev

er
y

bu
si

ne
ss

la
w

cl
as

s,
be

in
g

a w
ar

e
th

at
th

er
e

ar
e

al
w

ay
s

st
ud

en
ts

re
q

ui
ri

ng
co

ve
ra

ge
of

up
pe

r
le

ve
l

to
pi

cs
su

ch
as

se
cu

re
d

tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

fo
ra

ll
st

ud
en

ts
ta

ki
ng

th
e

C
PA

ex
am

w
hi

ch
UC

C
to

pi
c

is
of

 
no

in
te

re
st

 t
o

th
e

m
aj

or
ity

of
ea

ch
cl

as
s.

62



    
 

 
 

 
 

Fa
cu

lty
w

ill
co

nt
in

ue
to

m
ee

t
a

m
in

im
um

of
on

ce
pe

r
se

m
es

te
r

to
be

ce
rt

ai
n

th
at

bo
th

fu
ll

tim
e

an
d

pa
rt

-ti
m

e
fa

cu
lty

te
ac

hi
ng

bu
si

ne
ss

 
la

w
w

ill
co

nt
in

ue
to

fo
cu

s
on

co
m

m
un

ic
at

in
g

to
st

ud
en

ts
th

ro
ug

h
th

e
us

e
an

d
cu

rr
en

te
ve

nt
he

ad
lin

es
 

an
d

hi
st

or
ic

ev
en

ts
th

at
al

lb
us

in
es

s 
de

ci
si

on
s

ca
n

ha
ve

ve
ry

po
sit

iv
e

or
n e

ga
tiv

e
ef

fe
ct

s
on

th
e

pr
of

it,
lo

ss
 

lia
bi

lit
y

an
d

co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

to
so

ci
et

y 
by

th
e

bu
si

ne
ss

.
 

C
ur

re
nt

ev
en

t
ex

am
pl

es
of

ea
ch

ar
ea

of
la

w
be

in
g

di
sc

us
se

d
w

ill
be

in
te

gr
at

ed
in

to
m

os
t

le
ct

ur
es

an
d

di
sc

us
sio

ns
.

Fa
ll

20
13

 
1.

 
M

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
n

ex
am

s 
an

d
as

si
gn

ed
 

ho
m

ew
or

k
an

d 
ch

ap
te

r
qu

iz
ze

s.
2.

  
M

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
n

ex
am

s 
an

d
as

si
gn

ed
 

ho
m

ew
or

k
an

d 
ch

ap
te

r
qu

iz
ze

s.
3.

  
M

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
n

ex
am

s 
an

d
as

si
gn

ed
 

ho
m

ew
or

k
an

d 
ch

ap
te

r
qu

iz
ze

s.
4.

M
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

n
ex

am
s 

an
d

as
si

gn
ed

 
ho

m
ew

or
k

an
d 

ch
ap

te
r

qu
iz

ze
s.

EC
O

N
18

1
-

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
of

 
Ec

on
om

ic
s 

(M
ac

ro
ec

on
om

ic
s)

75
%

1.
 

46
2.

  
37

3.
  

43
4.

34
5.

  
64

6.
61

7.
  

47
8.

  
50

Ec
on

om
ics

fa
cu

lty
ha

sd
ev

el
op

ed
an

d
wi

ll
im

pl
em

en
ta

m
an

da
to

ry
 

de
pa

rtm
en

ta
ls

yll
ab

us
w

ith
m

in
im

um
co

ur
se

co
ve

ra
ge

.F
or

th
e

fa
ll

20
15

 
se

m
es

te
r,

th
e

fa
cu

lty
wi

lli
m

pl
em

en
ta

re
qu

ire
d

de
pa

rtm
en

ta
lf

in
al

ex
am

to
as

se
ss

all
co

ur
se

SL
O'

s.
Fa

cu
lty

wi
lla

lso
 

ex
pe

rim
en

tw
ith

va
rio

us
de

liv
er

y 
m

et
ho

ds
 su

ch
as

th
e

us
eo

fC
on

ne
ct

{M
cG

ra
w

-H
ill'

sc
ou

rs
em

an
ag

em
en

t
sy

ste
m

),
pr

et
es

ts
,a

nd
in

fo
rm

at
io

na
l

ha
nd

ou
ts

to
th

es
tu

de
nt

sl
as

te
nt

ry
in

th
e

do
cu

m
en

t

0

63



       
 

5.
  

M
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

n
ex

am
s 

an
d

as
sig

ne
d 

ho
m

ew
or

k
an

d
ch

ap
te

r
qu

iz
ze

s.
6.

  
M

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

 
qu

es
tio

n
ex

am
s 

an
d

as
sig

ne
d 

ho
m

ew
or

k
an

d
ch

ap
te

r
qu

iz
ze

s.
7.

M
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
 

qu
es

tio
n

ex
am

s 
an

d
as

sig
ne

d 
ho

m
ew

or
k

an
d

ch
ap

te
r

qu
iz

ze
s.

M
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
 

qu
es

tio
n

ex
am

s
an

d
as

si
gn

ed
ho

m
ew

or
k 

an
d

ch
ap

te
r

qu
iz

ze
s.

 

 
 

 
 

\V
e

pl
an

to
as

se
ss

th
is

ou
tc

om
e

ne
xt

in
:S

pr
in

g
20

16

64



   
A

ss
es

sm
en

tO
ve

rv
ie

w
Pr

og
ra

m
:

B
us

in
es

s
A

dm
in

is
tra

tio
n

C
ur

re
nt

Y
ea

r:
20

15
-2

01
6

N
O

T
E
:

'W
he

re
ve

r
po

ss
ib

le
,u

se
da

ta
fro

m
20

14
fo

rw
ar

d
in

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t.
O

nl
y

go
.fU

rth
er

ba
ck

ift
he

re
is

no
da

ta
fro

m
20

14
-2

01
5.

Be
su

re
to

go
fo

rw
ar

d
to

20
15

-2
01

6
w

ith
yo

ur
pl

an
s

fo
r

as
se

ss
in

g
th

is
P

LO
.

Pr
og

ra
m

Le
ar

ni
ng

O
ut

co
m

e
(P

L
O

):
3.

Q
ua

nt
ita

tiv
el

y
ev

al
ua

te
th

ei
m

pa
ct

of
bu

si
ne

ss
de

ci
sio

ns
,a

cti
vi

tie
s

an
d

ev
en

ts
.

Se
m

es
te

r(
s)

da
ta

w
as

!
w

ill
be

co
Ue

ct
ed

D
ir

ec
tI

In
di

re
ct

(c
he

ck
 

bo
x-

m
us

t 
in

cl
ud

e.
m

ul
tip

le
 

di
re

ct
m

ea
su

re
s)

So
ur

ce
of

E
vi

de
nc

eI
Ty

pe
of

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

(c
ou

rs
e-l

ev
el

 e
vi

de
nc

e
sh

ou
ld

cl
ea

rly
 a

lig
n

\v
ith

PL
O

la
ng

ua
ge

-
us

e
ke

y
w

or
ds

)

Po
pu

la
tio

n
(w

ho
\v

ill
be

as
se

ss
ed

)

B
en

ch
m

ar
k

R
es

ul
ts

(n
um

be
ro

fs
tu

de
nt

s 
ac

tu
al

ly
as

se
ss

ed
an

d
wh

at
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

m
et

th
e

be
nc

hm
ar

k)

A
ct

io
n

Pl
an

(s
ho

ul
d

al
ig

n
\v

ith
!b

rie
fly

su
m

m
ar

iz
e

Te
ac

hi
ng

&
Le

ar
ni

ng
D

oc
um

en
ta

tio
n)

Sp
rin

g
20

15
D

D
ire

ct
D

ln
di

re
ct

C
om

m
on

pr
ob

le
m

sa
ss

ig
ne

d
in

M
yA

cc
ou

nt
in

gL
ab

A
C

C
T

10
2

M
an

ag
er

ia
l

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g

(6
se

ct
io

ns
)

75
%

SL
O

#l
92

.3
%

SL
0

#2
92

.3
%

 
SL

0
#3

91
.4

%
SL

0
#4

91
.4

%
SL

0
#5

91
.4

%
SL

0
#6

90
.3

%
 

SL
0

#7
90

.3
%

 
SL

0
#8

87
.7

%
SL

O
#9

:8
1.

0%
SL

O
#1

0
84

.0
%

St
ud

en
tp

er
fo

rm
an

ce
m

ee
ts

or
ex

ce
ed

s
be

nc
hm

ar
k

on
al

lS
LO

s.
 

R
ep

ea
ta

ss
es

sm
en

t 
in

Sp
rin

g
20

16
.

Fa
ll

20
14

18
1D

ire
ct

D
in

di
re

ct
1.

St
ud

en
ts

ar
ei

nt
ro

du
ce

d
in

lec
tu

re
an

d
ex

er
ci

se
s

to
th

e 
ro

le
an

im
po

rta
nc

e
of

st
at

is
tic

al
an

al
ys

is,
in

bu
si

ne
ss

de
ci

si
on

m
ak

in
g

2.
A

va
rie

ty
of

tes
tq

ue
st

io
ns

ar
e 

us
ed

th
a.t

re
qu

ire
us

in
g 

su
m

m
ar

y
m

et
ho

d
of

st
at

is
tic

al
an

al
ys

is
fo

rb
ot

h 
qu

al
ita

tiv
e

an
d

qu
an

tit
at

iv
e

EC
O

N
11

2
-S

ta
tis

tic
s

I
75

%
1.

84
2.

78
3.

67
4.

69
5.

65
6.

10
0

EC
O

N
fa

cu
lty

\v
ill

de
ve

lo
p

a
m

an
da

to
ry

de
pa

rtm
en

ts
yl

la
bu

s
\v

ith
 

m
in

im
um

co
ur

se
co

ve
ra

ge
.

Th
e

fa
cu

lty
\v

ill
us

e
a

re
qu

ire
d 

de
pa

rtm
en

ta
le

xa
m

to
ac

ce
ss

al
l 

co
ur

se
SL

O
's

.
Fa

cu
lty

·v
ill

 
ex

pe
rim

en
t

\v
ith

va
rio

us
de

liv
er

y 
m

et
ho

ds
:

fo
re

xa
m

pl
e,

th
eu

se
of

A
pl

ia
,(

th
e 

ub
lis

he
r'

s
co

ur
se

m
an

ag
em

en
ts

ys
te

m
),

pr
et

es
ts

an
d

65



    
 

da
ta

.
3.

St
ud

en
ts

ar
e

te
st

ed
on

si
m

pl
e

pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
an

d
pr

ob
ab

ili
ty

di
st

rib
ut

io
n

us
in

g 
a

va
rie

ty
of

te
st

 
qu

es
tio

ns
4.

St
ud

en
ts

ar
e

te
st

ed
on

va
rio

us
di

sc
re

te
an

d
co

nt
in

uo
us

di
st

ri
bu

tio
n

a
se

ri
es

of
pr

ob
le

m
s

an
d

m
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

ns
5.

St
ud

en
ts

so
lv

e
pr

ob
le

m
s

in
a

tes
t

en
vi

ro
nm

en
to

n
es

tim
at

io
n

an
d

hy
po

th
es

i;
te

st
in

g 
as

w
el

l
as

m
ul

tip
le

 
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
ns

6.
  

C
ou

rs
es

ar
e

ta
ug

ht
in

a
co

m
pu

te
riz

ed
cl

as
sr

oo
m

an
d

st
ud

en
ts

le
ar

n 
to

us
e

ex
ce

lt
o

ge
ne

ra
te

 
de

sc
ri

pt
iv

e
st

at
is

tic
an

d 
hy

po
th

es
is

te
st

in
g.

 
 

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

na
lh

an
do

ut
s.

W
e

pl
an

to
as

se
ss

th
is

ou
tc

om
e

ne
xt

in
:S

pr
in

g 
20

16

66



 

Pr
og

ra
m

Le
ar

ni
ng

O
ut

co
m

e
(P

L
O

):
4.

D
em

on
st

ra
te

an
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g

of
an

d
di

sc
us

s
th

e
ro

le
bu

si
ne

ss
ha

s
hi

sto
ric

al
ly

ta
ke

n
in

di
ff

er
en

ts
oc

ie
ta

la
nd

ec
on

om
ic

sy
st

em
s.

S
em

es
te

r(
s)

da
ta

w
as

/
w

ill
be

 
co

Ue
ct

ed

D
ir

ec
tI

In
di

re
ct

 
(c

he
ck

 
bo

x- m
us

t
in

cl
ud

e
m

ul
tip

le
di

re
ct

m
ea

s u
re

s)

So
ur

ce
of

E
vi

de
nc

eI
Ty

pe
of

A
ss

ig
nm

en
t

(c
ou

rs
e-

le
ve

l
ev

id
en

ce
sh

ou
ld

 c
lea

rl
y

al
ig

n
\v

ith
PL

O
la

ng
ua

g
e
-

us
e

ke
y

w
or

ds
)

Po
pu

la
tio

n
(w

ho
wi

ll
be

as
se

ss
ed

)

B
en

ch
m

ar
k

R
es

ul
ts

(n
um

be
r

of
st

ud
en

ts
ac

tu
al

ly
  a

ss
es

se
d

an
d 

wh
at

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
m

et
th

e
be

nc
hm

ar
k)

A
ct

io
n

Pl
an

(sh
ou

ld
al

ig
n

w
ith

/b
ri

ef
ly

su
m

m
ar

iz
e

T
ea

ch
in

g
&

Le
ar

ni
ng

D
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n)

Fa
ll

20
11

18
1D

ire
ct

D
ln

di
re

ct
1.

3
m

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
n

2.
3

m
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

n
3.

3
m

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
n

4.
3

m
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

n
5.

3
m

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
n

6.
3

m
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

n
7.

3
m

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
n

M
N

G
T

12
1

-
Pr

in
ci

pl
es

of
M

an
ag

em
en

t

75
%

1.
78

2.
87

3.
74

4.
59

5.
63

6.
86

7.
90

M
ar

ke
tin

g
an

d
M

an
ag

em
en

t
 St

ud
en

tp
er

fo
rm

an
ce

m
ee

ts
or

ex
ce

ed
s

be
nc

hm
ar

k
on

al
lo

f
th

e 
SL

O
se

xc
ep

tS
LO

s
#3

,#
4

an
d

#5
. 

T
he

 M
ar

ke
tin

g
an

d
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

tf
ul

la
nd

pa
rt

tim
e

fa
cu

lty
m

em
be

rs
ar

e
co

or
di

na
tin

g
th

ei
r 

ef
fo

rts
to

ad
dr

es
si

ss
ue

s
re

la
te

d
to

th
es

e
lo

w
-!P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
SL

O
s

by
m

ak
in

g
in

st
ru

ct
io

n
ad

ju
st

m
en

ts
an

d 
in

co
rp

or
at

in
g

m
or

e
on

lin
e

m
at

er
ia

ls
in

th
e

cl
as

sr
oo

m
s.

Fa
ll

20
13

 
1.

M
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

n
ex

am
s

an
d

as
si

gn
ed

 
ho

m
ew

or
k

an
d 

ch
ap

ter
qu

iz
ze

s.
2.

M
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

n
ex

am
s

an
d

as
si

gn
ed

 
ho

m
ew

or
k

an
d 

ch
ap

ter
qu

iz
ze

s.

EC
O

N
18

1
-

Pr
in

ci
pl

es
of

Ec
on

om
ic

s 
(M

ac
ro

ec
on

o
m

ic
s)

75
%

1.
46

2.
37

3.
43

4.
34

5.
64

6.
61

7.
47

8.
50

Ec
on

om
ic

s 
fa

cu
lty

ha
s

de
ve

lo
pe

d
an

d
\v

ill
im

pl
em

en
t

a
m

an
da

to
ry

 
de

pa
rtm

en
ta

ls
yl

la
bu

s
\v

ith
m

in
im

um
 

c o
ur

se
co

ve
ra

ge
.F

or
th

e
fa

ll
20

15
se

m
es

te
r,

th
e

fa
cu

lty
\v

ill
im

pl
em

en
t

a
re

qu
ire

d 
de

pa
rtm

en
ta

lf
in

al
ex

am
to

as
se

ss
al

lc
ou

rs
e

SL
O

's.
Fa

cu
lty

\v
ill

als
o

ex
pe

rim
en

t 
\v

ith
va

rio
us

de
liv

er
y

m
et

ho
ds

su
ch

as
th

e
us

e
of

C
on

ne
ct

(M
cG

ra
w

-H
ill

's
co

ur
se

                                                
n

67



    
 

3.
M

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

qu
es

tio
n

ex
am

s
an

d
as

si
gn

ed
ho

m
ew

or
k

an
d 

ch
ap

te
r

qu
iz

ze
s.

4.
M

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

 
qu

es
tio

n
ex

am
s

an
d

as
si

gn
ed

ho
m

ew
or

k
an

d 
ch

ap
te

r
qu

iz
ze

s.
5.

M
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
 

qu
es

tio
n

ex
am

s
an

d
as

si
gn

ed
ho

m
ew

or
k

an
d 

ch
ap

te
r

qu
iz

ze
s.

6.
M

ul
tip

le
ch

oi
ce

 
qu

es
tio

n
ex

am
s

an
d

as
si

gn
ed

ho
m

ew
or

k
an

d 
ch

ap
te

r
qu

iz
ze

s.
7.

M
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

n
ex

am
s

an
d

as
si

gn
ed

ho
m

ew
or

k
an

d 
ch

ap
te

r
qu

iz
ze

s.
8.

M
ul

tip
le

ch
oi

ce
qu

es
tio

n
ex

am
s

an
d

as
si

gn
ed

ho
m

ew
or

k
an

d 
ch

ap
te

r
qu

iz
ze

s.

 
 

 
m

an
ag

em
en

ts
ys

te
m

).

W
e

pl
an

to
as

se
ss

th
is

ou
tc

om
e

ne
xt

in
:S

pr
in

g
20

16

68



 

A.   QVIs/335s 
There are no Business/Business Administration designated courses. However, Act 335 
evaluations are overdue for the following courses administered by the Business 
Administration Department and the Marketing and Management Department and 
included in both the Business and Business Administration Programs: 
Accounting 103, 201, and 202 (optional Directed Electives for Business Program)* 
Econ 112, 181, and 182* 
Finance 151* 
MKTG 131 
All Management courses (MNGT 111, 121, 141, 142, 262) 
RE 101 (optional Directed Elective for Business Program) 

*Accounting, Economics, and Finance Courses were completed in 2015 using 
the old form. They have not yet been completed on the new form. 

 
QVI’s for the program from 2012 through 2014 were reviewed for this audit. Between 
2012 and 2014, the Program’s quality score decreased from 3.63 to 3. This change is a 
result of increased focus on Student Learning Outcomes as sole quality indicators. The 
viability score was 2.16 in 2012, decreased to 2 in 2013, but by 2014 had increased to 
2.3.  Changes in the viability score are a result of declining enrollment, high cost, and a 
decrease in the number of degrees awarded. 

 
VI. Resources 

Accounting and Economics faculty use a variety of online homework systems provided by 
the major textbook publishers (e.g., MyAccountingLab and MyEconLab from Pearson, 
WileyPlus from Wiley, etc.). In addition, computer labs are required so that students can 
receive instruction on using the online homework system software. 

 
VII. Demand 

Locally, sixteen colleges in the area offer bachelor’s degrees in Business or Business 
Administration, seventeen offer advanced degrees, and seven offer associates. 

 
The Business Administration Program prepares graduates to transfer into bachelor’s 
programs in business, and in particular to those that are accredited by the AACSB.   Both 
Programs prepare students for transfer; possible occupations for graduates from a four year 
business program are listed below. The majority of people in these occupations have either 
a bachelor’s or graduate degree, and a small proportion have an associate’s degree or less. 
The high proportion of people in these fields with bachelor’s or graduate degrees speaks to 
the importance of efficient transfer agreements. 

 
As stated in the transfer section, of the 608 Business Administration students that 
transferred over a five year timeframe, 361 utilized the Program’s articulation agreements. 
Students mainly utilized articulation agreements with Temple (233), Drexel University (42), 
Peirce College (26), Strayer (15), and La Salle (12). Conversely, of the 298 Business students 
that transferred during the same time period, 11 students utilized the Program’s articulation 
agreements. The Business Program has no articulation agreements with the top ten 

69



 

recipient institutions for the same time period.  In addition, all institutions offering a 
business program that are part of the Pennsylvania State System of Higher Education 
(PASSHE) through the Transfer Articulation Oversight Committee (TAOC) agreement accept 
the Business Administration program in transfer. 

 

 
Table 7a: Expected Job Growth – Salary, 10 year percent change, 10 
year raw number change)Occupation (Average yearly income) 

 
Philadelphia 

 
MSA 

 
USA 

Accountant and Auditors ($76,000) 5.4% (7,515) 8.1% (29,578) 13.4% (1M) 
Budget Analysts  ($72,000) 3.7% (14) 4.1% (45) 13.8% (127,104) 
Business Operations Specialist  ($73,000) 3.5% (119) 6% (869) 13.6% (602,610) 
Financial Analysts ($76,000) 4% (58) 17% (1479) 16.6% (45,474) 
Human Resources Specialists & Labor Relations Specialists ($62,000) -1.7% (47) 4% (407) 9% (45,474) 
Management Analysts ($82,000) 3.4% (124) 8% (1088) 16.5% (101,979) 
Personal Financial Advisors $78,000) 10.4% (86) 41.7% (2359) 25.6% (52,448) 
Purchasing Managers, Buyers, and Purchasing Agents  ($64,000) -1.4% (26) .3% (21) 6.3% (18,928) 

 
Table 7 B: Educational Attainment 

 

Occupation HS Diploma or Less Some College Associate Bachelor Graduate 
Accountants and Auditors 4.20% 7.90% 9.50% 57.10% 21.30% 
Budget Analysts 7.30% 15.40% 8.80% 41.80% 26.20% 
Business Operations Specialist 14.10% 20.30% 9.60% 35.50% 20.50% 
Financial Analyst 11.50% 20.10% 7.50% 40.30% 20.50% 
Human Resource Specialist 12.30% 21.10% 9.30% 40.70% 16.60% 
Management Analysts 5.70% 12.90% 4.90% 41.30% 35.50% 
Personal Financial Advisors 3.70% 10.30% 5.20% 53.70% 28.10% 
Purchasing Managers/Agents 21.10% 27% 10.80% 31.80% 9.30% 

 
VIII. Operating Costs 

Over the past three years program operating costs have been similar to the average cost for 
the Division and the College. 

 
 
 
 
 

$4,200 
$4,000 
$3,800 
$3,600 
$3,400 
$3,200 

Cost Per FTE 

Business Business 
Administration 

Business 
Technology 

Division 

College 

 
2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 

70



 

IX. Findings and Recommendations 
1. Evaluate the integration between the Marketing and Management Department and 

the Business Administration Department 
Numerous courses required for both Programs are located in the Marketing and 
Management Department, which falls outside of the Business Administration 
Department.  Because Marketing and Management is located outside of the 
department, the Business Administration Department Head lacks the authority to affect 
the design, delivery, support for, or assessment of student learning. Additionally, during 
the audit process it became clear that the two departments do not work in tandem to 
align curriculum, track students, and perform and respond to assessment; all of these 
activities are necessary among departments that share program courses. 

Timeline: Fall 2016 
Persons Responsible: Dean and Department Heads 

 
2. Evaluate the distinction between Business Administration and Business Programs The 

Business Administration and Business Programs are two separate programs that share all 
core courses and faculty. The Programs have distinct program learning outcomes and 
curriculum maps, but commonly use the same assessment tools to assess the outcomes. 
In their current formats, the distinctions may not necessarily be clear to students and 
may cause confusion for the constituents. If further evaluation can 
quantify the distinctions, additional efforts need to be made to provide students with 
clearer materials defining the differing purposes of each program, and (possibly) 
develop distinct curricula. If further evaluation shows that the Programs should be 
merged or one should be closed, then the Programs should develop an appropriate plan 
for executing the close. 

Timeline: Fall 2016 
Persons Responsible: Dean of Business and Technology, Department Head and 
Program faculty 

 
3. Complete all outstanding 335 course evaluations 

As of writing this audit, fourteen 335s remain outstanding in courses that are required 
or directed electives for the Programs. The Business Administration Department started 
seven of the 335s using the old 335 format and the Curriculum Development Office is 
waiting for the updated 335s. Seven required or directed elective courses for the 
Programs, that fall under the Marketing and Management Department were due in 
January and remain outstanding. The Business Administration and Marketing and 
Management Departments need to complete these as soon as possible. 

Timeline: Expected completion Summer 2016 
Persons Responsible: Faculty/Department Heads 

 

 
4. Evaluate the quality and variety of assessment measures; ensure alignment between 

the Program Learning Outcomes and Student Learning Outcomes; ensure faculty 
collaboration of assessment planning and review across the departments; Examine 
the extent to which the Programs incorporate common business education trends and 
necessary skills for business graduates into their outcomes and let these education 
trends and skills inform changes to assessment 

71



 

It is unclear whether alignment exists between the Program Learning Outcomes and the 
Student Learning Outcomes. The Program should ensure that such an alignment exists 
and is made clear to faculty, students and administration.  Faculty members need to 
discuss the assessment measures to determine if they reflect the desired level of 
competence of the outcomes that consistently exceed the benchmarks or if these levels 
should be more ambitious.  The faculty should evaluate the quality and variety of direct 
and indirect measures. The assessment materials vary in quality between the five 
subject areas. The materials do not show evidence of collaboration among faculty from 
the two departments: a key component of program assessment.  Assessment activities 
may be conducted by faculty within course offerings, but the planning of those activities 
and the dissemination of results must be collaborative to ensure that students are 
meeting program outcomes and that those results are evaluated for the improvement 
of teaching and learning. 

 
While researching the future of the field of business, the Departments found that two 
trends in business education are 1) purposefully integrating business and liberal arts 
studies to better contextualize how business interacts with other societal, cultural, and 
political stakeholders, and 2) engaging students in experiential learning to support the 
conversion of classroom knowledge into real-world understanding and experience. 
Additionally, employers look for the following skills in their new business hires: 
leadership, business writing, business speaking, organizational behavior, business ethics, 
social responsibility, change management, decision making, career planning, problem 
solving, and teamwork.  The Programs should examine the extent to which these skills 
are incorporated in the Programs’ learning outcomes. 

Timeline: Fall 2016 
Persons Responsible: Department Heads and Program Faculty 

 
5. The Business and Business Administration Programs should evaluate their articulation 

agreements. 
The Business Administration Program has 29 articulation agreements, 12 of which have 
not been used during the five year time frame evaluated.  The Business Program has 
eight articulation agreements, three of which have not been used over the same time 
period.  The Programs should evaluate the relevance of their articulation agreements to 
determine if all agreements are necessary.  The Program should confirm that an 
alignment exists between the College and the articulating institution. The Department 
Heads and Program faculty should focus on creating articulation agreements that align 
with the institutions to which students commonly transfer. The Programs should 
develop and distribute internal documents that clarify transfer options for students. 

Timeline: Fall 2016 
Persons Responsible: Department Heads and Program Faculty 

 
6. Improve outcomes for students in the Business Program 

Although both Programs have a similar percentage of students placing at college level 
and students enroll in a similar curriculum, the Business program records substantially 
weaker outcomes than the Business Administration program. Faculty should evaluate 
potential explanations for these disparities and develop interventions to improve 
student outcomes. 

Timeline: Fall 2016 

72



 

Persons Responsible: Department Heads and Program Faculty 
 
 

i “Emerging Trends in Undergraduate Business Education.” Hanover Research, 2013, p. 3. 
ii Ghannadian, F. “What Employers Want, What We Teach.” BizEd, March/April 2013, p. 42. 

73



 

 
Community College of Philadelphia 

Program Audit Follow-Up Report   Photographic Imaging Curriculum  
April 2016 

 
Recommendation 1: Update management plan and communicate with students to determine reasons for 
non-completion 

1. The department now canvases students to ascertain need and interest and will add a section to retain 
those students who previously had to wait a year to take a class that was fully subscribed. 
2. The department conducted several email and online surveys. Reasons for non-completion include loss 
of (a) financial aid, (b) lack of internships, (c) inability to purchase required equipment. (d) no weekend 
classes. 
(a)The department now includes financial aid availability and scholarship opportunities during our 
student enrollment advising. (b) The Photographic Imaging Advisory Board has been updated and 
enlarged and has been successfully creating internship opportunities. (c) The department has acquired, 
through recent Perkins grants, sufficient professional equipment to supply to the students equipment as 
needed for assignments. (d) The college resumed Saturday classes in Spring 2015 and we now run three 
popular 6 hour lec/lab weekend classes. 
 

Recommendation 2: Create cost efficiencies  
1. Perkins supplied additional computers have allowed class sizes for all digital classes to be expanded 
by 14% and a lecture room to be turned into a lecture/ lab space. 
2. A new printer acquired through a grant has reduced ink purchases. 
3. Redbeam computer inventory tracking system will allow for reduced dept. supported student worker 
hours and fewer staff hours tracking equipment. (Fall 2016/Perkins) 
4. Obsolete equipment has been sold. A second sale is planned for summer 2016. 
 

Recommendation 3: Submit Assessment of Student Learning Outcomes 
1. The department now has a designated faculty member for assessment compliance. The department is 
up to date with all assessment documents and is following a continuing assessment plan developed by 
the Office of Assessment. 
2. Student Learning Outcomes and Program Learning Outcomes have been revised and realigned for all 
courses that did not meet the standard. 

 
Recommendation 4: Promotion of Digital Imaging Proficiency Certificate 

1. The department promotes the Proficiency Certificate at the Open House events, Majors Fair, during 
the first week of classes and on social media. It has become an attractive draw for new students and is 
also a popular stacking credential. Over 50 students have added the DIPC , up from 6 in 2013,   
2. Will do a summer 2016 mailing to students who are one course short of the certificate to let them 
know it is attainable. 
 

Recommendation 5: Revising the program to better serve students 
1. Using both student surveys regarding career expectations and Advisory Board input, the department 
recognizes the importance of adding business skills at every level of the program. Course revisions have 
been assigned to faculty for Fall 2016. 
2. A new Proficiency Certificate will be proposed in Fall 2016 to offer only advanced level classes which 
will attract returning students and professionals with extensive but out-of-date photo imaging skills. 
3. By survey the current and former students in the department overwhelmingly favor retaining the 
A.A.S. degree as the 2-year goal. 
4. A new course, PHOT105 Digital Basic Photography, will create an alternate path into the major and 
eliminate PHOT100, a popular but dead-end digital course that does not generate majors. The course is 
being developed for Fall 2017 implementation. 
5. Rescheduled all of the lab spaces to double the number of open lab hours to 12 for students which has 
led to higher retention rates in 200 level classes. 
6. Proposal to join forces in Fall 2016 with the Music department for high school recruitment.  

74



 

 

:ollege  Policies & Procedures on-line  http://path.ccp.edu/vpfm-pl/policies/ I05.HTM
 
 
 

·····································-·· -- ·-···--- ---
 
 

COLLEGE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES 

MEMORANDUM NO. 105
 
 
 

ROBERT S. KING SCHOLARSHIP 
FOR HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS

 

 
 
 

Revised: December 13,2013
 

Original Number: 127
Original Date ofissue: April 30, 1985
Reissued: 127A - September 9, 1986

 
This memorandum supersedes College Policies and Procedures Memorandum No. 127 of April30, 1985
resulting from Board of Trustees action of April4, 1985. The April1985 session revised original Board 
action of November 1, 1984.

 
The Board of Trustees of Community College of Philadelphia will make available a two-year 
scholarship to a maximum of 20 outstanding graduates, selected through an application process, from 
public or non-public, registered or licensed, diploma-granting high schools in the City of Philadelphia. 
These scholarships will come in the form of free tuition, at the Philadelphia rate, and fees at the College 
for students who plan to emoll as full-time students in programs leading to the Associate Degree. 

 
The Scholarship will be awarded on an annual basis by July 1, and a special ceremony will be held at
Community College of Philadelphia in September to recognize the students.

 
 
 
 
 

Return to Polices and Procedures home page 
 
 
 
 

75



 
 

 
 

 
Se

pt
em

be
r 1

, 2
01

6 

Da
sh

bo
ar

d 
 

1.
0 

St
ud

en
t S

uc
ce

ss
 

Im
pl

em
en

t G
ui

de
d 

Pa
th

w
ay

s 
M

od
el

 
Es

ta
bl

is
h 

C
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 A

dv
is

in
g 

Sy
st

em
 

In
st

itu
te

 P
re

di
ct

iv
e 

D
at

a 
An

al
yt

ic
s 

In
di

ca
to

r o
f S

uc
ce

ss

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

Pe
er

C
C

P
 T

re
nd

C
C

P 
C

om
pa

ris
on

 
to

 P
ee

r
5-

Ye
ar

 G
oa

l 
20

20

In
cr

ea
se

 E
nr

ol
lm

en
t

 
+3

 to
 5

%
pt

s

1.
1

N
ew

 F
ul

l-t
im

e 
St

ud
en

ts
 (F

al
l A

dm
is

si
on

)
1,

57
4

1,
87

4

1.
2

N
ew

 P
ar

t-t
im

e 
St

ud
en

ts
 (F

al
l A

dm
is

si
on

)
3,

70
0

3,
59

9

1.
3

To
ta

l F
al

l C
re

di
t H

ou
rs

15
8,

47
1

16
0,

97
2

In
cr

ea
se

 P
er

si
st

en
ce

+5
 to

 7
%

 p
ts

1.
4

Fa
ll 

to
 F

al
l N

ew
 F

ul
l-t

im
e 

St
ud

en
ts

53
.5

%
TB

D
1

58
.0

%

1.
5

Fa
ll 

to
 F

al
l N

ew
 P

ar
t-t

im
e 

St
ud

en
ts

40
.8

%
TB

D
2

46
.0

%

1.
6

Fa
ll 

to
 S

pr
in

g 
(A

ll 
fir

st
-ti

m
e)

 S
tu

de
nt

s
70

.6
%

72
.0

%
71

.7
%

 
1  A

va
ila

bl
e 

w
ee

k 
of

 9
/2

6/
20

16
 

2  A
va

ila
bl

e 
w

ee
k 

of
 9

/2
6/

20
16

 

76



 
 

 
 

 
Se

pt
em

be
r 1

, 2
01

6 

 
20

11
 

C
oh

or
t 

20
14

20
12

 
C

oh
or

t 

20
15

20
13

 
C

oh
or

t 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
20

16

Pe
er

C
C

P
 T

re
nd

C
C

C
 C

om
pa

ris
on

 
to

 P
ee

r
5-

Ye
ar

 G
oa

l 
20

20

In
cr

ea
se

 3
-Y

ea
r C

C
P 

C
om

pl
et

io
n

+7
 to

 1
0%

 p
ts

1.
7

3-
Yr

 IP
E

D
S

 C
oh

or
t, 

Fu
ll-

tim
e,

 F
irs

t-t
im

e 
C

ol
le

ge
 

A
ss

oc
ia

te
 D

eg
re

e/
C

er
tif

ic
at

e 
A

w
ar

ds
10

.4
%

11
.6

%
12

.3
%

3
21

.5
%

1.
8

N
ew

 F
ul

l-t
im

e 
St

ud
en

ts
 W

ho
 L

ef
t t

he
 C

ol
le

ge
 P

rio
r 

to
 E

ar
ni

ng
 a

 D
eg

re
e 

an
d 

Tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

w
ith

in
 3

 y
ea

rs
27

.3
%

24
.9

%
TB

D
14

.7
%

1.
9

To
ta

l p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 s

at
is

fa
ct

or
y 

st
ud

en
t o

ut
co

m
es

37
.7

%
36

.5
%

TB
D

36
.2

%

20
08

 
C

oh
or

t 
R

ep
or

te
d 

20
14

20
09

 
C

oh
or

t 
R

ep
or

te
d 

20
15

20
10

 
C

oh
or

t 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n 
20

16
4

Pe
er

C
C

P
 T

re
nd

C
C

P 
C

om
pa

ris
on

 
to

 P
ee

r
5-

Ye
ar

 G
oa

l 
20

20

In
cr

ea
se

 6
-Y

ea
r C

C
P 

C
om

pl
et

io
n

 
 

+7
 to

 1
0%

 p
ts

1.
10

6-
Yr

 IP
E

D
S

 C
oh

or
t, 

Fu
ll-

tim
e,

 F
irs

t-t
im

e
C

ol
le

ge
 

A
ss

oc
ia

te
 D

eg
re

e/
C

er
tif

ic
at

e 
A

w
ar

ds
20

.0
%

18
.5

%
21

.8
%

27
.9

%

1.
11

N
ew

 F
ul

l-t
im

e 
St

ud
en

ts
 W

ho
 L

ef
t t

he
 C

ol
le

ge
 P

rio
r 

to
 E

ar
ni

ng
 a

 D
eg

re
e 

an
d 

Tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

w
ith

in
 6

 y
ea

rs
31

.6
%

31
.4

%
TB

D
18

.8
%

1.
12

To
ta

l p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 s

at
is

fa
ct

or
y 

st
ud

en
t o

ut
co

m
es

51
.6

%
50

.0
%

TB
D

46
.7

%

In
cr

ea
se

 C
om

pl
et

io
n

G
ra

d 
Ye

ar
 

20
14

G
ra

d 
Ye

ar
 

20
15

G
ra

d 
Ye

ar
 

20
16

 
(P

ro
je

ct
ed

)
C

C
P

 T
re

nd

1.
13

U
nd

up
lic

at
ed

 N
um

be
r o

f C
om

pl
et

er
s 

by
 G

ra
du

at
io

n 
Y

ea
r5

1,
99

6
2,

10
3

2,
04

56

 
3  P

ro
je

ct
io

n;
 n

ot
 fi

na
liz

ed
 u

nt
il 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

6 
4  N

ot
 y

et
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

5  G
ra

d 
ye

ar
 re

fle
ct

s g
ra

du
at

es
 A

ug
us

t t
hr

ou
gh

 Ju
ly

 2
01

6 
- n

ot
 y

et
 fi

na
liz

ed
; p

ro
je

ct
io

n 
= 

2,
03

9 
6  N

um
be

r o
f c

om
pl

et
er

s f
or

 G
ra

d 
Ye

ar
 2

01
6 

is 
a 

pr
oj

ec
te

d 
va

lu
e 

77



 
 

 
 

 
Se

pt
em

be
r 1

, 2
01

6 

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

Pe
er

C
C

P
 T

re
nd

C
C

P 
C

om
pa

ris
on

 
to

 P
ee

r
5-

Ye
ar

 G
oa

l 
20

20

Im
pr

ov
e 

Su
cc

es
s 

R
at

es
 o

f S
tu

de
nt

s 
in

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

ta
l E

ng
lis

h
+7

%
 p

ts

1.
14

P
la

ce
d 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

ta
l E

ng
lis

h 
(D

ec
re

as
e 

an
nu

al
ly

)
54

.9
%

46
.6

%

1.
15

Fi
rs

t-Y
ea

r S
uc

ce
ss

 in
 E

N
G

L 
09

8 
(In

cr
ea

se
 a

nn
ua

lly
)

63
.8

%
63

.5
%

1.
16

C
om

pl
et

ed
 E

N
G

L 
10

1 
w

ith
in

 tw
o 

ye
ar

s 
(Im

pr
ov

e 
an

nu
al

ly
)

44
.0

%
TB

D

Im
pr

ov
e 

Su
cc

es
s 

R
at

es
 o

f S
tu

de
nt

s 
in

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

ta
l M

at
h

+7
%

 p
ts

1.
17

P
la

ce
d 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

ta
l M

at
h 

(D
ec

re
as

e 
an

nu
al

ly
)

46
.4

%
44

.0
%

1.
18

S
uc

ce
ss

 in
 F

ou
nd

at
io

na
l M

AT
H

 0
17

 (I
nc

re
as

e 
an

nu
al

ly
)

32
.6

%
35

.6
%

1.
19

C
om

pl
et

ed
 M

AT
H

 1
18

 w
ith

in
 tw

o 
ye

ar
s 

(Im
pr

ov
e 

an
nu

al
ly

)
17

.0
%

TB
D

Im
pr

ov
e 

A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

t G
ap

 in
 F

irs
t Y

ea
r S

uc
ce

ss
 in

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
ta

l E
ng

lis
h

+5
%

pt
s

1.
20

Al
l F

irs
t-t

im
e

63
.8

%
63

.5
%

1.
21

Bl
ac

k
59

.7
%

58
.1

%

1.
22

H
is

pa
ni

c
65

.4
%

64
.4

%

1.
23

W
hi

te
73

.2
%

76
.3

%

78



 
 

 
 

 
Se

pt
em

be
r 1

, 2
01

6 

Im
pr

ov
e 

C
ar

ee
r P

re
pa

ra
tio

n 
an

d 
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t
20

14
-1

5
20

15
-1

6

1.
24

C
ar

ee
r P

ro
gr

am
 J

ob
 P

la
ce

m
en

t R
at

es
83

.6
%

TB
D

1.
25

C
ar

ee
r P

ro
gr

am
 G

ra
du

at
es

’ W
ag

es
 a

nd
 W

ag
e 

G
ro

w
th

$4
1,

92
6

TB
D

1.
26

Li
ce

ns
ur

e 
E

xa
m

 P
as

s 
R

at
es

C
lin

ic
al

 L
ab

or
at

or
y 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
10

0%
86

%

D
en

ta
l H

yg
ie

ne
10

0%
10

0%

D
ia

gn
os

tic
 M

ed
ic

al
 Im

ag
in

g
10

0%
10

0%

N
ur

si
ng

67
.1

%
83

.2
%

R
es

pi
ra

to
ry

 C
ar

e 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

10
0%

10
0%

2.
0

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s
U

pd
at

es
Ta

rg
et

 C
om

pl
et

io
n

Pr
og

re
ss

Pr
oj

ec
ts

2.
0

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
M

as
te

r P
la

n
D

ra
ft 

M
as

te
r P

la
n 

by
 F

al
l 2

01
6

S
pr

in
g

20
17

60
%

2.
1

Th
e 

H
am

ilt
on

 
N

eg
ot

ia
tin

g 
Le

tte
r o

f I
nt

en
t

Au
gu

st
 2

01
8

5%

2.
2

E
xp

an
si

on
 o

f W
es

t R
eg

io
na

l C
en

te
r

Im
pa

ss
e

1%

3.
0

Fi
na

nc
e

Q
ua

rte
rly

 R
ep

or
t 

S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

01
6

(In
 M

ill
io

ns
)

Q
ua

rte
rly

 R
ep

or
t 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

6
(In

 M
ill

io
n)

Q
ua

rte
rly

 R
ep

or
t 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
7

(In
 M

ill
io

ns
)

Q
ua

rte
rly

 R
ep

or
t 

Ju
ne

 2
01

7
(In

 M
ill

io
ns

)
C

C
P

 T
re

nd

3.
1

O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Bu

dg
et

 S
ta

tu
s 

20
15

-2
01

6
R

ea
lig

n 
bu

dg
et

 
ba

se
d 

on
 e

nr
ol

lm
en

t
3.

2
O

pe
ra

tin
g 

C
as

h 
Fl

ow
 P

os
iti

on
 2

01
5-

20
16

$1
5.

0

3.
3

Lo
ng

 T
er

m
 C

as
h 

In
ve

st
m

en
ts

 2
01

5-
20

16
P

ro
je

ct
ed

 $
22

.0

79



 
 

 
 

 
Se

pt
em

be
r 1

, 2
01

6 

4.
0

W
or

kf
or

ce
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t –

U
nd

er
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t

4.
1

An
nu

al
 E

nr
ol

lm
en

ts

4.
2

R
ev

en
ue

4.
3

N
um

be
r o

f C
lie

nt
s 

S
er

vi
ce

d

5.
0

C
om

m
un

ity
 R

el
at

io
ns

hi
ps
–

U
nd

er
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t

5.
1

N
um

be
r o

f C
ol

le
ge

-c
om

m
un

ity
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s

5.
2

N
um

be
r o

f s
tu

de
nt

 v
ol

un
te

er
 h

ou
rs

5.
3

M
on

et
ar

y 
va

lu
e 

of
 fa

cu
lty

/s
ta

ff 
vo

lu
nt

ee
r h

ou
rs

5.
4

N
um

be
r o

f v
is

ito
rs

fo
r e

ve
nt

s 
op

en
 to

 th
e 

pu
bl

ic

80



PHONE MEETING OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 
OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Community College of Philadelphia  
Wednesday, September 21, 2016 - 9:30 A.M. 

Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 
 

Teleconference: Mr. Jeremiah J. White, Jr., presiding; Ms. Suzanne Biemiller, Ms. Lydia 
Hernandez Velez, Dr. Donald Generals, Mr. Jacob Eapen, Mr. Todd E. Murphy, 
Mr. James P. Spiewak and Victoria Zellers, Esq.  

 
AGENDA – PUBLIC SESSION 

 
(1) Bid Results for Biology Lab Renovations (Action Item): 

Discussion:  Mr. Eapen stated that as a result of a multi-year collaborative study, involving 
specialized laboratory consultants, Biology faculty and staff, a comprehensive redesign of Biology 
Laboratory space on the 3rd floor of the West Building had been created.  The space redesign 
addressed new strategies in pedagogy and included adding two new laboratories, enlarging and 
renovating five existing laboratory spaces (upon completion, the lab total will be 6 instructional 
labs and a Biology Tutoring/Open Lab), creating a faculty suite of supporting offices, student 
seminar and study areas, a dedicated Biology training classroom, prep area and specimen 
storages space.  Specifications and drawings were created by Spiezle Architectural Group and 
divided into seven prime contract packages: General Trades; Mechanical; Electrical; Plumbing; 
Demolition; Painting; and Flooring.  Using PennBid, a request for proposals was posted (RFP 
9869) for the College to receive bid responses on September 6, 2016.  

 
Mr. Eapen described the bid process utilized by the College including the thorough efforts 

undertaken to notify minority contractors about the project.  He stated that a notice on the bid 
was sent to ten minority support groups requesting that they disseminate the College’s bid 
information.  Additionally, seven individual invitations were sent to the heads of those support 
groups asking that they attend the pre-bid meeting.  The City of Philadelphia sent its contact list, 
and an additional 49 invitations to bid were sent to minority and women-owned contractors.  
These outreach efforts are in addition to the Legal Notices advertised with two MBE publishers, 
Al Dia Newspaper and the Philadelphia Sun. 

 
The PennBid program utilized by the College uses a combination of DGS (Department of 

General Services) codes and the Pennsylvania DGS Website to invite all Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprises (DBEs) in those categories listed with the State of Pennsylvania.   

 
A mandatory pre-bid conference was held on August 11, 2016 with 41 contractors in 

attendance, of which there 6 MBEs, 11 WBEs, and 2 MWBEs.  College staff also attended an open 
house at The Enterprise Center on August 15, 2016 to promote minority and women-owned 
businesses to bid for College projects.   

 
On September 9th and on September 12th, 2016, a post-bid scope conference was 

conducted with each of the low-bid respondents, where their scope of work was reviewed and 
confirmed.  Subsequent to the above, the staff recommends awarding the contracts to the low 
bid respondents highlighted as follows: 

 
General Trades to be awarded to Smith Construction in the amount of $2,290,000; 
Painting to be awarded to AP Construction in the amount of $58,000; 

81



Demolition to be awarded to Geppert Brothers in the amount of $214,110; 
Electrical to be awarded to Mulhern in the amount of $838,926; 
Plumbing to be awarded to Dolan Mechanical in the amount of $782,000; and 
Mechanical to be awarded to Devine Brothers in the amount of $873,000. 
 

Bids 
Rec’d 

Contract Company Status Amount 

2 General Trades Smith Construction WDBE $2,290,000 
  AP Construction  $2,342,000 
     

1 Painting AP Construction  $58,000 
     

3 Demolition Geppert Brothers  $214,110 
  Delta Bids  $248,900 
  AP Construction  $482,274 
     

3 Electrical Mulhern  $838,926 
  McGoldrick Electric  $879,799 
  Carr & Duff   $920,000 
     

1 Plumbing Dolan Mechanical  $782,000 
     

3 Mechanical Devine Brothers  $873,000 
  Allstates Mechanical  $909,000 
  Edward J. Meloney  $1,248,000 
     
1 Flooring – Non-responsive/non-compliant bid submitted – Rejected. 

 
In response to a funding question, Mr. Spiewak noted that at the time the College 

refinanced its 2008 bond issue, it borrowed $5.9 million for the project and that the State is 
funding 50% of the debt service.  Mr. Jeremiah White suggested that Dr. Generals communicate 
to Mr. Harold Epps concerning the College’s minority contractor outreach efforts. 
 

Action:  Ms. Lydia Hernandez Velez moved and Ms. Suzanne Biemiller seconded the motion 
that the Business Affairs Committee recommend to the Executive Committee of the Board of 
Trustees that the bid results for the Biology Lab Renovation Project be awarded to the following 
contractors; and that the bid results be ratified by the full Board at the October 13, 2016 Board 
of Trustees meeting: 
 

Smith Construction – General Trades:  $2,290,000; 
AP Construction – Painting:  $58,000; 
Geppert Brothers – Demolition:  $214,110; 
Mulhern – Electrical:  $838,926;  
Dolan Mechanical – Plumbing:  $782,000; and 
Devine Brothers – Mechanical:  $873,000 
 
The motion passed unanimously. 

  

82



 
(2) Biology Lab Fume Hoods (Action Item): 

Discussion:  Mr. Eapen explained that as a result of the phasing efforts (based on 
maintaining maximum course offerings) of the Biology Renovation project, it is necessary to pre-
order long-lead laboratory hoods prior to the start of contractor services. Delivery of these items 
is critical to the success of the project.   

 
Using PennBid, a request for proposals to furnish Laboratory Hoods was posted (RFP 

9949) for the College to receive bid responses on August 18, 2016.  Two bids were received, both 
offering the same product from the same manufacturer.  The low-bid respondent was contacted 
and the scope of work was discussed in detail with the College and architect team. 

 
Subsequent to the above, the staff recommends awarding the contract to Northeast 

Interior Systems, Inc. for the amount of $164,500. 
 

Northeast Interior Systems, 
Inc.: 

$164,500 

VWR International: $195,714 
 
Action:  Ms. Suzanne Biemiller moved and Ms. Lydia Hernandez Velez seconded the motion 

that the Business Affairs Committee recommend to the Executive Committee of the Board of 
Trustees that the contract for the Biology Lab Fume Hoods be awarded to Northeast Interior 
Systems, Inc. in the amount of $164,500; and that the Biology Lab Fume Hoods award be ratified 
by the full Board at the October 13, 2016 Board of Trustees meeting.  The motion passed 
unanimously.   
 
(3) Contract with Olaya Studio (Action Item): 
 

Discussion:  Mr. Eapen stated that the College has been using the services of Olaya 
Studios, a MBE firm located in the City of Philadelphia, on an “On-Demand” basis. They have 
been responsive and a resource to the College several times.  The College desires to utilize their 
services again, but doing so brings the total of all their efforts to a value greater than $100,000. 
The staff recommends the continued use of Olaya Studios services with the six (6) month service 
value as listed below: 

 
Purchase 
Order 

Purpose Amount 

P0018963 Permit drawings for building modifications in 
the Annex 

$1,635 

P0019494 Full design documentation for Office 
relocations plans in Library 

$51,535 

P0019495 W1-1 Office and space planning $17,610 
Pending 
Approval 

Full documentation for renovation to the 
Great Hall $59,680 

 Six Month Total $130,460 
 

Action:  Ms. Lydia Hernandez Velez moved and Ms. Suzanne Biemiller seconded the motion 
that the Business Affairs Committee recommend to the Executive Committee of the Board of the 
Trustees the continued use of Olaya Studio services for a six month service value of $130,460; 

83



and that the continued use of Olaya Studio services be ratified by the full Board at the October 
13, 2016 Board of Trustees meeting.  The motion passed unanimously.   

 
(4) 2015-16 Budget Results (Information Item): 

 
Mr. Eapen and Mr. Spiewak provided an overview of the College’s budget results for fiscal 

year 2015-16.  The College began the 2015 – 2016 fiscal year with a balanced budget.  The year 
ended with operating revenues exceeding operating expenses by $2,160,223.   

 
Student credit hours exceeded budget for the summer and fall 2015 semesters but spring 

and summer 2016 semesters were below budget as outlined in Attachment A.  Overall total credit 
hours were 2% below budget resulting in approximately $2 million less student tuition and fees 
than budgeted. State funds were budgeted at an increased amount of $1.98 million, as originally 
proposed by Governor Wolf, but as a result of state budget negotiations were only increased by 
$1.64 million.  More of the City appropriation was able to be allocated to the operating budget 
because the State began funding 50% of the debt service of the 2013 loan that financed 
improvements to the West Building.  Both investment income and income from miscellaneous 
sources were above budget.   

 
Total operating expenditures ended the year $4 million less than budgeted.  Positions that 

were vacant for all or part of the year resulted in spending $1.8 million less on full-time salaries 
than originally budgeted.  Overall, total salaries were $1,939,000 lower than budgeted.  This had 
the impacted of reducing FICA costs which ended the year $132,000 lower than budgeted.  The 
fringe benefit budget was positively affected by a favorable year for the medical self-funded 
program.  Final expenses associated with healthcare were almost $600,000 below budget.  
Administration took advantage of the savings from the salary and fringe benefit lines and other 
expense lines to pay-off existing longer-term leases in the amount of $1.577 million.  This strategy 
provides flexibility in the College’s operating budget for future years.  Attachment A provides 
detail on the revenue and expenses variances.  As presented in the FY 2016-17 budget that was 
approved by the Board on June 30, 2016, $915,800 of the excess revenues from FY 2015-16 is 
required as a revenue source for FY 2016-17.  Due to the lower-than-budgeted enrollments 
experienced thus far in FY 2016-17, additional amounts of the FY 2015-16 excess revenues may 
be required as a revenue source for FY 2016-17.  The remaining excess revenues may be utilized 
to establish reserve funds for deferred maintenance and technology refresh needs. 

 
Ms. Suzanne Biemiller congratulated the President and staff on their management of the 

operating budget given the difficult circumstances to balance the budget. 
 

(5) Next Meeting: 
 
The next meeting date of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday, October 19, 

2016 at 10:00 A.M. in the College’s Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1.   
 

 
AGENDA – EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
Discussion of legal matters. 

 
 
JE/lm 
Attachments 
BAC\0921MINUTES.DOC

84



ATTACHMENT A 

2015-16 BUDGET RESULTS  

85



 A
ct

ua
l F

TE
s 

 
FY

 1
4-

15
 

 A
ct

ua
l C

re
di

t 
H

ou
rs

   
   

 
FY

 1
4-

15
 

 B
ud

ge
te

d 
FT

Es
   

   
  

FY
 1

5-
16

 

 B
ud

ge
te

d 
C

re
di

t H
ou

rs
  

FY
 1

5-
16

 
 A

ct
ua

l F
TE

s 
 

FY
 1

5-
16

 

 A
ct

ua
l C

re
di

t 
H

ou
rs

   
   

  
FY

 1
5-

16
 

 C
re

di
t H

ou
r 

Va
ria

nc
e 

- 
B

ud
ge

te
d 

vs
. 

A
ct

ua
l 

%
 V

ar
ia

nc
e

C
R

ED
IT

 

Su
m

m
er

 2
1,

71
6

   
   

   
   

  
20

,5
91

1,
71

7
20

,6
09

1,
73

0
20

,7
60

15
1

0.
7%

Fa
ll

12
,8

59
   

   
   

   
15

8,
47

1
12

,9
76

15
9,

62
5

12
,9

63
16

0,
20

0
57

5
0.

4%
W

in
te

r
46

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
54

6
50

60
0

47
55

8
(4

2)
-7

.0
%

Sp
rin

g
12

,5
87

   
   

   
   

15
5,

23
1

12
,8

01
15

7,
20

9
12

,0
56

14
9,

18
5

(8
,0

24
)

-5
.1

%
Su

m
m

er
 1

2,
49

4
   

   
   

   
  

29
,9

26
2,

55
0

30
,6

00
2,

21
6

26
,5

95
(4

,0
05

)
-1

3.
1%

C
re

di
t Y

ea
r-

to
-

da
te

 T
ot

al
s 

- 
A

nn
ua

l F
TE

s
14

,8
51

36
4,

76
5

15
,0

47
36

8,
64

3
14

,5
06

35
7,

29
8

(1
1,

34
5)

-3
.1

%

N
O

N
C

R
ED

IT

Su
m

m
er

 2
54

95
64

Fa
ll

50
1

65
8

38
4

Sp
rin

g
34

4
61

5
34

5
Su

m
m

er
 1

11
5

23
6

11
1

N
on

cr
ed

it 
Ye

ar
-

to
-d

at
e 

To
ta

ls
 - 

A
nn

ua
l F

TE
s

50
7

80
2

45
2

C
om

m
un

ity
 C

ol
le

ge
 o

f P
hi

la
de

lp
hi

a
En

ro
llm

en
t I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

(F
TE

s 
an

d 
C

re
di

t H
ou

rs
) 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

01
5-

16

86



O
rig

in
al

 B
ud

ge
t

Fi
na

l a
t  

   
   

   
Ju

ne
 3

0,
 2

01
6

R
EV

EN
U

ES

St
ud

en
t T

ui
tio

n 
an

d 
Fe

es
$7

6,
69

1,
24

5
$7

4,
64

7,
88

2
Co

m
m

on
w

ea
lth

 o
f P

en
ns

yl
va

ni
a

30
,6

21
,8

05
30

,1
28

,3
42

Ci
ty

 o
f P

hi
la

de
lp

hi
a

23
,2

47
,3

63
23

,3
67

,4
07

O
th

er
 In

co
m

e
1,

72
8,

72
0

2,
29

6,
95

3

TO
TA

L 
R

EV
EN

U
ES

$1
32

,2
89

,1
33

$1
30

,4
40

,5
84

EX
PE

N
SE

S 
*

Sa
la

rie
s,

 N
et

 o
f L

ap
se

d 
Fu

nd
s

$7
5,

64
2,

29
0

$7
3,

70
3,

01
2

Fr
in

ge
 B

en
ef

its
34

,1
24

,0
00

33
,1

50
,2

62
O

th
er

 E
xp

en
se

s
22

,3
22

,8
43

21
,3

54
,7

84
St

ud
en

t F
in

an
ci

al
 A

id
20

0,
00

0
72

,3
03

TO
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

SE
S

$1
32

,2
89

,1
33

$1
28

,2
80

,3
61

EX
C

ES
S 

R
EV

EN
U

ES
 (E

XP
EN

SE
S)

($
0)

$2
,1

60
,2

23

* 
Pr

io
r t

o 
im

pa
ct

 o
f G

AS
B 

45
 a

nd
 6

8 
ac

cr
ua

lsC
om

m
un

ity
 C

ol
le

ge
 o

f P
hi

la
de

lp
hi

a
 O

pe
ra

tin
g 

B
ud

ge
t P

ro
je

ct
io

ns
Fi

sc
al

 Y
ea

r 2
01

5-
16 87



O
rig

in
al

 B
ud

ge
t

Fi
na

l a
t  

   
   

   
 

Ju
ne

 3
0,

 2
01

6
Co

m
m

en
t

O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

 R
EV

EN
U

ES

St
at

e 
Fu

nd
in

g
$3

0,
47

9,
41

5
$2

9,
96

3,
72

6
 A

s a
 re

su
lt 

of
 st

at
e 

bu
dg

et
 n

eg
ot

ia
tio

ns
, a

 le
ss

or
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 
st

at
e 

fu
nd

in
g 

w
as

 re
ce

iv
ed

 th
an

 o
rig

in
al

ly
 b

ud
ge

te
d.

 
S

ta
te

 L
ea

se
 fu

nd
in

g
14

2,
39

0
16

4,
61

6

   
  T

ot
al

 S
ta

te
 R

ev
en

ue
s

30
,6

21
,8

05
30

,1
28

,3
42

Tu
iti

on
 - 

Cr
ed

it 
St

ud
en

ts
 , 

ne
t o

f w
rit

e-
of

fs
, 

di
sc

ou
nt

s a
nd

 o
th

er
 o

ffs
et

s
60

,7
84

,2
00

58
,9

09
,2

56

 S
um

m
er

 a
nd

 F
al

l, 
20

15
 se

m
es

te
r e

nr
ol

lm
en

ts
 sl

ig
ht

ly
 

ex
ce

ed
ed

 b
ud

ge
t b

ut
 S

pr
in

g 
an

d 
Su

m
m

er
, 2

01
6 

en
ro

llm
en

ts
 

w
er

e 
be

lo
w

 b
ud

ge
t. 

 F
or

 th
e 

ye
ar

, t
ot

al
 c

re
di

t h
ou

rs
 w

er
e 

3.
1%

 
be

lo
w

 b
ud

ge
t r

es
ul

tin
g 

in
 le

ss
 th

an
 b

ud
ge

te
d 

tu
iti

on
. 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
 F

ee
10

,6
31

,7
00

10
,3

28
,0

94
 F

or
 th

e 
ye

ar
, t

ot
al

 c
re

di
t h

ou
rs

 w
er

e 
3.

1%
 b

el
ow

 b
ud

ge
t 

re
su

lti
ng

 in
 le

ss
 th

an
 b

ud
ge

te
d 

te
ch

no
lo

gy
 fe

es
. 

Co
ur

se
 F

ee
s

3,
59

1,
49

0
3,

66
8,

65
2

N
et

 C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
fr

om
:  

Co
nt

ra
ct

ed
 N

on
cr

ed
it 

In
st

ru
ct

io
n;

 O
th

er
 N

on
cr

ed
it 

In
st

ru
ct

io
n;

 A
du

lt 
Co

m
m

un
ity

 N
on

cr
ed

it 
In

st
ru

ct
io

n
50

6,
50

0
45

3,
95

7
St

ud
en

t R
eg

ul
at

or
y 

Fe
es

1,
17

7,
35

5
1,

28
7,

92
3

   
  T

ot
al

 S
tu

de
nt

 T
ui

tio
n 

&
 F

ee
s

76
,6

91
,2

45
74

,6
47

,8
82

C
ity

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Fu

nd
s

23
,2

47
,3

63
23

,3
67

,4
07

In
ve

st
m

en
t I

nc
om

e
50

0,
00

0
81

4,
97

0

 In
 a

dd
iti

on
 to

 in
te

re
st

 e
ar

ni
ng

s o
f $

44
5,

00
0,

 th
e 

Co
lle

ge
 a

lso
 

ha
d 

a 
ga

in
 o

n 
lo

ng
-t

er
m

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

 in
 th

e 
am

ou
nt

 o
f 

$3
70

,0
00

. 
Vo

ca
tio

na
l E

du
ca

tio
n 

Fu
nd

in
g

20
0,

00
0

26
7,

58
8

In
di

re
ct

 C
os

ts
, A

dm
in

ist
ra

tiv
e 

Al
lo

w
an

ce
s

30
0,

00
0

36
8,

57
9

Pa
rk

in
g 

Pr
oc

ee
ds

 &
 M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s I

nc
om

e
72

8,
72

0
84

5,
81

6

   
  T

ot
al

 O
th

er
 In

co
m

e
1,

72
8,

72
0

2,
29

6,
95

3

TO
TA

L 
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
 R

EV
EN

U
ES

$1
32

,2
89

,1
33

$1
30

,4
40

,5
84

CC
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

C
o

lle
g

e 
o

f 
P

h
ila

d
el

p
h

ia
  O

p
er

at
in

g
 B

u
d

g
et

 P
ro

je
ct

io
n

FF
is

ca
l Y

ea
r 

20
15

-1
6

88



O
rig

in
al

 B
ud

ge
t

Fi
na

l a
t  

   
   

   
 

Ju
ne

 3
0,

 2
01

6
Co

m
m

en
t

CC
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

C
o

lle
g

e 
o

f 
P

h
ila

d
el

p
h

ia
  O

p
er

at
in

g
 B

u
d

g
et

 P
ro

je
ct

io
n

FF
is

ca
l Y

ea
r 

20
15

-1
6

O
PE

R
AT

IN
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S 
*

S
al

ar
ie

s
Fu

ll-
Ti

m
e 

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
Sa

la
rie

s
17

,1
37

,3
00

   
   

   
   

Le
ss

:  
Pr

oj
ec

te
d 

La
ps

ed
 S

al
ar

ie
s

(9
00

,0
00

)

N
et

 F
ul

l-T
im

e 
Ad

m
in

ist
ra

tiv
e 

Sa
la

rie
s

16
,2

37
,3

00
15

,4
70

,1
40

 H
ig

he
r t

ha
n 

an
tic

ip
at

ed
 n

um
be

r o
f u

nf
ill

ed
 a

dm
in

ist
ra

tiv
e 

po
sit

io
ns

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

. 

Fu
ll-

Ti
m

e 
Fa

cu
lty

 S
al

ar
ie

s
29

,0
86

,9
04

Le
ss

:  
Pr

oj
ec

te
d 

La
ps

ed
 S

al
ar

ie
s

(1
50

,0
00

)
N

et
 F

ul
l-T

im
e 

Fa
cu

lty
 S

al
ar

ie
s

28
,9

36
,9

04
28

,3
59

,0
69

M
or

e 
la

sp
ed

 fu
nd

s t
ha

n 
or

ig
in

al
ly

 b
ud

ge
te

d.

Fu
ll-

Ti
m

e 
Cl

as
sif

ie
d 

Sa
la

rie
s

11
,0

52
,9

34
Le

ss
:  

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
La

ps
ed

 S
al

ar
ie

s
(4

50
,0

00
)

N
et

 F
ul

l-T
im

e 
Cl

as
sif

ie
d 

Sa
la

rie
s

10
,6

02
,9

34
10

,1
37

,0
68

 H
ig

he
r t

ha
n 

an
tic

ip
at

ed
 n

um
be

r o
f u

nf
ill

ed
 c

la
ss

ifi
ed

 a
nd

 
co

nf
id

en
tia

l p
os

iti
on

s d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

. 

   
Su

bt
ot

al
 - 

Fu
ll-

Ti
m

e 
Sa

la
rie

s
55

,7
77

,1
38

53
,9

66
,2

77

Pa
rt

-T
im

e 
&

 O
ve

rlo
ad

 C
re

di
t S

al
ar

ie
s

10
,9

85
,3

89
10

,9
75

,7
63

Su
m

m
er

 C
re

di
t I

ns
tr

uc
tio

n
4,

06
4,

93
8

3,
95

4,
46

4
N

on
cr

ed
it 

In
st

ru
ct

io
na

l S
al

ar
ie

s
42

4,
31

0
39

8,
05

6
Al

l O
th

er
 S

al
ar

ie
s

3,
94

0,
51

5
4,

13
8,

80
0

Ea
rly

 R
et

ire
m

en
t I

nc
en

tiv
e 

Pa
ym

en
ts

45
0,

00
0

26
9,

65
2

   
Su

bt
ot

al
 - 

O
th

er
 th

an
 F

ul
l-T

im
e 

Sa
la

rie
s

19
,8

65
,1

52
19

,7
36

,7
35

To
ta

l S
al

ar
ie

s
75

,6
42

,2
90

73
,7

03
,0

12

89



O
rig

in
al

 B
ud

ge
t

Fi
na

l a
t  

   
   

   
 

Ju
ne

 3
0,

 2
01

6
Co

m
m

en
t

CC
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

C
o

lle
g

e 
o

f 
P

h
ila

d
el

p
h

ia
  O

p
er

at
in

g
 B

u
d

g
et

 P
ro

je
ct

io
n

FF
is

ca
l Y

ea
r 

20
15

-1
6

Fr
in

ge
 B

en
ef

its
M

ed
ic

al
 P

ro
gr

am
22

,8
53

,7
00

22
,2

57
,5

01
 A

ct
ua

l c
la

im
s w

er
e 

lo
w

er
 th

an
 o

rig
in

al
ly

 p
ro

je
ct

ed
. 

Re
tir

em
en

t C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
5,

89
3,

50
0

5,
84

2,
25

9

FI
CA

3,
10

8,
70

0
2,

97
6,

41
3

 L
ow

er
 th

an
 b

ud
ge

te
d 

sa
la

ry
 e

xp
en

se
s r

es
ul

te
d 

in
 a

 lo
w

er
 th

an
 

bu
dg

et
ed

 F
IC

A 
ex

pe
ns

e.
 

Tu
iti

on
 R

em
iss

io
n

65
0,

00
0

55
5,

64
4

Gr
ou

p 
Li

fe
 In

su
ra

nc
e

48
2,

20
0

46
6,

12
5

U
ne

m
pl

oy
m

en
t C

om
pe

ns
at

io
n

20
0,

00
0

23
2,

95
4

W
or

ke
rs

' C
om

pe
ns

at
io

n 
In

su
ra

nc
e

34
6,

70
0

28
1,

69
1

 L
ow

er
 th

an
 b

ud
ge

te
d 

pr
em

iu
m

s f
or

 w
or

ke
rs

' c
om

pe
ns

at
io

n 
in

su
ra

nc
e.

 
U

nu
se

d 
Va

ca
tio

n
10

0,
00

0
93

,7
51

Di
sa

bi
lit

y 
In

su
ra

nc
e

30
4,

20
0

29
8,

78
5

Fo
rg

iv
ab

le
 E

du
ca

tio
n 

Lo
an

18
5,

00
0

14
5,

13
9

To
ta

l F
rin

ge
 B

en
ef

its
34

,1
24

,0
00

33
,1

50
,2

62

Fa
ci

lit
y 

E
xp

en
se

s
U

til
iti

es
2,

00
4,

34
1

1,
81

6,
25

1
C

on
tra

ct
ed

 S
ec

ur
ity

1,
70

0,
00

0
1,

72
0,

23
2

C
on

tra
ct

ed
 C

le
an

in
g

1,
17

8,
76

0
1,

20
5,

36
3

A
ll 

O
th

er
 F

ac
ili

ty
 E

xp
en

se
s

2,
33

3,
71

7
2,

29
1,

16
7

To
ta

l F
ac

ili
ty

 E
xp

en
se

s
7,

21
6,

81
8

7,
03

3,
01

3

90



O
rig

in
al

 B
ud

ge
t

Fi
na

l a
t  

   
   

   
 

Ju
ne

 3
0,

 2
01

6
Co

m
m

en
t

CC
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

C
o

lle
g

e 
o

f 
P

h
ila

d
el

p
h

ia
  O

p
er

at
in

g
 B

u
d

g
et

 P
ro

je
ct

io
n

FF
is

ca
l Y

ea
r 

20
15

-1
6

A
ll 

O
th

er
 E

xp
en

se
s

Le
as

ed
 E

qu
ip

m
en

t &
 S

of
tw

ar
e

5,
42

5,
65

9
4,

98
1,

90
4

+

C
at

al
og

s 
an

d 
A

dv
er

tis
in

g
1,

41
8,

85
6

1,
55

5,
48

2
 A

dd
iti

on
al

 c
os

ts
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
w

ith
 5

0t
h 

An
ni

ve
rs

ar
y 

Ev
en

ts
 a

nd
 

Sp
rin

g 
20

16
 E

nr
ol

lm
en

t a
dv

er
tis

in
g 

S
up

pl
ie

s-
P

oo
l

1,
39

5,
71

8
1,

31
5,

27
3

C
on

tra
ct

ed
 S

er
vi

ce
s

1,
80

5,
17

5
1,

82
0,

06
5

C
on

su
lti

ng
53

8,
30

0
83

6,
33

1

 A
dd

iti
on

al
 c

os
ts

 fo
r: 

 F
ac

ili
ty

 M
as

te
r P

la
n,

 M
ar

go
lis

-H
ea

ly
 

Se
cu

rit
y 

Re
vi

ew
, E

co
no

m
ic

 Im
pa

ct
 S

tu
dy

, P
ub

lic
-P

riv
at

e 
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
RF

P,
 H

an
ov

er
 R

es
ea

rc
h 

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 &
 R

ep
ai

rs
57

6,
00

6
43

6,
94

8
P

os
ta

ge
31

5,
20

0
25

7,
34

8
In

su
ra

nc
e

66
2,

00
0

62
2,

19
0

Le
ga

l F
ee

s
32

2,
00

0
80

8,
54

3
 A

dd
iti

on
al

 c
os

ts
 fo

r B
ur

t H
ill

 c
la

im
, r

ea
l e

st
at

e 
fir

m
, 

ar
bi

tr
at

io
ns

, a
nd

 n
eg

ot
ia

tio
ns

. 

O
th

er
 E

xp
en

se
s

2,
64

7,
11

1
1,

68
7,

68
9

 R
ef

le
ct

s v
al

ue
 o

f u
ns

pe
nt

 c
on

tin
ge

nc
y 

fu
nd

s a
nd

 v
ar

io
us

 o
th

er
 

bu
dg

et
 li

ne
s.

 

To
ta

l A
ll 

O
th

er
 E

xp
en

se
s

15
,1

06
,0

25
14

,3
21

,7
72

St
ud

en
t S

ch
ol

ar
sh

ip
s

20
0,

00
0

72
,3

03

TO
TA

L 
O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
 E

XP
EN

SE
S

$1
32

,2
89

,1
33

$1
28

,2
80

,3
61

Ex
ce

ss
 R

ev
en

ue
s 

(E
xp

en
se

s)
($

0)
$2

,1
60

,2
23

* 
Pr

io
r t

o 
im

pa
ct

 o
f G

AS
B 

45
 a

nd
 6

8 
ac

cr
ua

ls
 +

 In
cl

ud
es

 th
e 

co
st

 o
f p

ay
m

en
ts

 m
ad

e 
to

 p
ay

 o
ff 

ce
rta

in
 lo

ng
-te

rm
 le

as
es

.

91



MEETING OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
Community College of Philadelphia 

Thursday, September 29, 2016 – 12:00 Noon
Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

Present: Mr. Anthony J. Simonetta, Mr. Matthew Bergheiser (via telephone), Mr. Jeremiah 
White (via telephone), Donald Generals, Ed.D., Mr. Jacob Eapen, Mr. Todd E. 
Murphy, Mr. James P. Spiewak, Mr. Robert Lucas, Victoria Zellers Esq. and 
representing Grant Thornton:  Mr. Brian Page and Ms. Angelica Roiz  

Not Present:  Representing the Meridian Group:  Mr. Anthony B. Scott
  

AGENDA – PUBLIC SESSION

(1) Approve Minutes of Audit Committee Meeting on June 6, 2016 (Action Item):

Action:  Mr. Simonetta asked for a motion to recommend acceptance of the June 
6, 2016 Audit Committee meeting minutes.  Mr. Bergheiser made the motion.  Mr. 
Simonetta seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.

 (2) 2015-16 Fiscal Year Audit Report (Action Item): 

Attachment A contains the presentation made by Mr. Brian Page, Engagement 
Partner, and Ms. Angelica Roiz, Senior Manager, from Grant Thornton and Attachment B 
contains audit results for the 2015-2016 fiscal year.  Mr. Page began the discussion by 
reviewing the required communications, roles and responsibilities for the financial 
statements including the auditors, the Board and Audit Committee. Mr. Page pointed out 
that they discussed the specific areas where they were going to spend their time during 
the audit at the June 2016 meeting.  There were no material changes to their audit 
approach presented at that time.  Mr. Page also noted that he has reviewed agreements 
dealing with the College’s public private partnership (P3) to ensure there are no 
accounting issues or impact on the College’s financial statements.  

Ms. Roiz then discussed the audit timeline and areas of focus of Grant Thornton’s 
audit.  Specifically, she mentioned reasonableness tests regarding tuition, deferrals, 
receivables and management’s allowance for doubtful account calculation as compared to 
the enrollment population, as well as State and City appropriations and investment 
earnings, recorded pension liabilities and the new accounting pronouncement 
implementation of GASB 72 Fair Value Measurements and Application.   Under this new 
accounting standard, the College is required to use appropriate measurement techniques 
to measure the fair value of its assets.  In addition, the College is required to include 
additional disclosures in its financial statements on the leveling of those assets (Level 1, 
2 or 3). Ms. Roiz noted that all the necessary disclosures included in this year’s financial 
statements where correct and in accordance with the new pronouncement.  

92



Ms. Roiz then discussed the Information Technology portion of the audit.  The 
auditors review procedures did not result in any internal control findings.  However, the 
auditors did identify certain best practices for the College’s consideration.  

Ms. Roiz then walked through the summary of audit adjustments. There were no 
significant audit adjustments; however, there were two passed audit adjustments that 
related to current and non-current vacation accruals and current and non-current security 
deposits outlined in the presentation.  These adjustments were considered balance sheet 
re-classes and are considered immaterial to the College’s financial statements. 

She then stated that there had been no disagreements with management in the 
preparation of the financial statements, and there had been no difficulties encountered in 
performing the audit. The audit team was in fact very pleased with how quickly 
management responded to their questions and points of inquiry.  It should be noted that 
there were no material weaknesses or significant deficiencies identified in the 2015-2016
financial statements.  

Mr. Brian Page then walked through some key highlights of this year’s financial 
statements.  Specifically, he discussed the audit opinion that would be issued as 
unmodified, which will be presented to the City of Philadelphia.  

Mr. Simonetta asked if the Committee was recommending the audit report to the 
Board and issued to the City before the Board accepts it. Mr. Murphy stated that this is 
due to the annual City deadline of September 30th but will get presented at the October 
13, 2016 Board Meeting.

Some of the other highlights Mr. Page focused on were the changes on the balance 
sheet due to the impact of the refinancing of the College’s 2008 Bonds; the increase in 
Deferred Inflows/Outflows will be amortized over time into interest expense with the life 
period of the Bond; bond proceeds increased to $7.4 million; and, bond premiums 
increased to $6.6 million, which was all related to the refinancing. He also discussed the 
new note disclosures in Note B of the financial statements as a result of the new GASB 72 
Fair Value Measurement & Leveling of Investments implementation.

Several technical updates, projects, regulatory issues and upcoming accounting 
pronouncements were pointed out to the Committee, which are outlined in the 
presentation. Specifically, the new accounting pronouncements listed in Attachment A 
were discussed focusing on GASB 72, 75 & 80.  Under GASB 72, the College was required 
to include more disclosures with respect to investments.  Depending upon the method 
used to determine their fair value, investments are now separated into three categories.  
Under GASB 75, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2017, the 
College will be required to record the full value of other post-employee benefit liabilities 
in their entirety.  Currently, the College is phasing this in over a thirty year amortization 
period.  Consequently, the College will have a large decrease in its net assets going 
forward. Under GASB 80, the College will need to re-evaluate the current presentation of 
the Component Unit Foundation to determine whether it should be blended into the 
College’s financial statements for reporting purposes or continue to be presented 
separately. 

93



Mr. Simonetta commented that the City would be going through the GASB 75 
change as well and it may be worthwhile for staff to have some conversations with them 
regarding any new supplemental schedules they may require. Mr. Murphy pointed out that 
there are certain schedules now that the City requires reformatting, which are added in 
the back of the College’s Financial Statements.  Mr. Page stated that more than likely the 
City will include them in their required reporting package to the College.

Mr. Page then highlighted some industry updates regarding Moody’s outlook on 
community colleges.  Specifically, he mentioned that there is a stable outlook for the next 
18 to 24 months.  They expect modest revenue growth of about 3%; however, about 20 
to 30% of institutions are expected to struggle with any revenue growth. An increase in 
technology investments is expected to outpace the rate of inflation.  In addition, good 
expense discipline has been observed with improving cash margins.  However, they do 
expect a cut of 15-20% in cost in order to manage some of the enrollment challenges 
institutions are facing.  More mergers of smaller schools to achieve economies of scale
are expected. Finally, they believe cash and liquidity reserves will remain fairly stable in 
the next 18 to 24 months.

Mr. Simonetta commented that there have been some announcements locally 
about institutions like La Salle and Rosemont College cutting their tuition significantly.  He 
asked Mr. Page if this is the trend Grant Thornton is seeing across the country.  Mr. Page 
stated that cutting tuition is viewed as an enrollment management strategy. However, he 
stated that probably less than 10% of colleges and universities are doing so.  

Mr. Page then pointed out that the Moody’s report on community colleges survey 
for FY 2015 was the first year in 5 years of reporting that revenue growth outpaced 
expense growth industry wide.  However, 90% of all community colleges have 
experienced enrollment declines since 2011. 

Mr. Page concluded his presentation with a brief discussion of how leadership 
among institutions is responding to changing conditions, which is outlined in Attachment 
A. 
  
Action: Mr. Simonetta made a motion to recommend acceptance of the 2015-2016 
Financial Statement Audit to the Board of Directors.  Mr. Bergheiser seconded.  The motion 
passed unanimously. 

(3) 2015-16 Final Budget Results (Information Item):

Mr. Eapen provided an overview of the College’s budget results for fiscal year 
2015-16. The College began the 2015–2016 fiscal year with a balanced budget.  The year 
ended with operating revenues exceeding operating expenses by $2,160,223.  

Student credit hours exceeded budget for the summer and fall 2015 semesters but 
spring and summer 2016 semesters were below budget as outlined in Attachment C.  
Overall total credit hours were 2% below budget resulting in approximately $2 million less 
student tuition and fees than budgeted. State funds were budgeted at an increased 
amount of $1.98 million, as originally proposed by Governor Wolf, but as a result of state 
budget negotiations were only increased by $1.64 million.  More of the City’s appropriation 
was able to be allocated to the operating budget because the State began funding 50% 

94



of the debt service of the 2013 loan that financed improvements to the West Building.  
Both investment income and income from miscellaneous sources were above budget.

   
Total operating expenditures ended the year $4 million less than budgeted.  

Positions that were vacant for all or part of the year resulted in spending $1.8 million less 
on full-time salaries than originally budgeted.  Overall, total salaries were $1,939,000 
lower than budgeted.  This had the impacted of reducing FICA costs which ended the year 
$132,000 lower than budgeted.  The fringe benefit budget was positively affected by a 
favorable year for the medical self-funded program.  Final expenses associated with 
healthcare were almost $600,000 below budget.  Administration took advantage of the 
savings from the salary and fringe benefit lines and other expense lines to pay-off existing 
longer-term leases in the amount of $1.57 million.  This strategy provides flexibility in the 
College’s operating budget for future years.  Attachment C provides detail on the revenue 
and expenses variances.  As presented in the FY 2016-17 budget that was approved by 
the Board on June 30, 2016, $915,800 of the excess revenues from FY 2015-16 is required 
as a revenue source for FY 2016-17.  Due to the lower-than-budgeted enrollments 
experienced thus far in FY 2016-17, additional amounts of the FY 2015-16 excess 
revenues may be required as a revenue source for FY 2016-17.  The remaining excess 
revenues may be utilized to establish reserve funds for deferred maintenance and 
technology refresh needs.

Mr. Eapen noted that some of the steps that were taken to deal with the challenges 
of the 2016-2017 budget were: a freeze on all positions except faculty and reduced 
expenses on all budgets across the institution.

 (4) Internal Audit Plan 2014-2016 Year Update (Information Item):

Mr. Lucas provided a final update on the 2014-2016 Internal Audit Plan
(Attachment D).  He provided a copy of a summary report of activities since the last Audit 
Committee meeting as well as a copy of the audit plan for the two-year period ending 
June 2016 to the Committee members.  Mr. Lucas stated that, since the last meeting, he 
had issued one finalized audit report to management and completed three audits with 
draft audit reports issued to management, including one requested by management after 
the last Audit Committee meeting.  One 2016 internal audit is in progress and the draft 
audit report is expected to be issued by October 7, 2016. 

Mr. Lucas also provided a copy of the 2016-2018 Internal Audit Plan approved by 
management to the Audit Committee members.  He noted that the plan is the same one 
provided as the proposed plan at the last Audit Committee meeting with the addition of 
one audit, Royalty Payments from Publishers, requested by management for which the 
draft report has already been issued to management.  Work has begun on several other 
audits as indicated on the audit plan.

The audit of the Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP) was scheduled to begin in October.  
Management has requested this audit be deferred until December due to ITS’ work on 
this subject and several other high priority projects.  Mr. Lucas stated that the audit plan 
is designed to be flexible for such requests and that he will work on other audits and circle 
back to the DRP audit toward the end of the year.

95



Mr. Lucas also noted that he continues to work with management to obtain the 
statuses of previously issued audit comments.  He provided an updated version of the 
Internal Audit Follow-Up Matrix to the Committee which includes all audit report 
recommendations for which management’s action plan are not yet complete.  Mr. Lucas 
noted that a number of the action plans are long term as they include construction, new 
software or new equipment, each of which have significant time and expense 
considerations.  The budget constraints in 2016-2017 may further extend the timeline of 
some action plans.

(5) February 2016 Meeting Date (Information Item): 

  The next meeting of the Audit Committee will be scheduled in February 2017.  At 
that time, the Committee will discuss the 2015-2016 A-133 audit report.

EXECUTIVE SESSION

During any Audit Committee meeting; Management, The Independent Auditors or 
the Internal Auditor may request an Executive Session to meet privately with the Audit 
Committee.  The Committee met with both the Internal and Independent Auditors in 
Executive Session.

TEM/lh
Attachments

cc:   Dr. Donald Generals, Jr. 
Mr. Jacob Eapen

 Mr. Robert Lucas 
Mr. Jim Spiewak
Victoria Zellers, Esq.

 Representing Grant Thornton:  Mr. Brian Page 
 Representing the Meridian Group:  Mr. Anthony B. Scott 

96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171


